
 
 
 

  

 

  

  
Media release 
24 August 2023 
  

Araraurangi Air New Zealand’s result sets the airline up for a strong future, 
special dividend for shareholders announced 

  

2023 Summary 

• Earnings before other significant items and taxation1 of $585 million 
• Statutory earnings before taxation of $574 million 
• Operating revenue of $6.3 billion 
• Domestic capacity at 94% of pre-Covid levels and International capacity at 71%  
• Fully imputed special dividend of 6.0 cents per share declared for the 2023 financial year2  
• 2023 Sustainability Report released 

 

Demand for air travel that exceeded expectations has led to a rapid recovery for Air New Zealand, 
which today announced a profit that will help fund aircraft, digital investments and facilities, building 
a stronger airline for New Zealand.  

The financial year began as borders were still reopening and aircraft were stored in the desert, and 
ended with the airline at 94 percent of pre-Covid domestic capacity. Having restored its 
international network, the airline carried out the biggest recruitment drive in its history and returned 
all aircraft to the skies. 

In line with market guidance provided in June 2023, Air New Zealand’s earnings before other 
significant items and taxation were $585 million for the 2023 financial year. Statutory earnings 
before taxation were $574 million, compared with a previous year loss of $810 million.  

In addition to introducing new aircraft, making digital enhancements for customers and staff, 
increasing wages for front line staff and starting work on a new engineering hangar, the airline will 
provide shareholders with a one-off, fully imputed special dividend of 6.0 cents per share2. The 
special nature of this dividend reflects the extraordinary 2023 operating environment, with strong 
pent-up levels of demand combined with industry-wide capacity constraints.  

The Board has also reviewed the airline’s capital management settings and has today announced 
a revised capital management framework, effective from the 2024 financial year.  

Air New Zealand Chair Dame Therese Walsh says the result is an important one given the critical 
role the airline plays in New Zealand both socially and economically. 

 
1 Earnings before other significant items and taxation represents earnings stated in compliance with NZ IFRS (Statutory Earnings) after excluding 
items which due to their size or nature warrant separate disclosure to assist with understanding the underlying financial performance of the Group. 
Other significant items is reported within Note 3 of the 2023 Group financial statements. 
2 The airline does not expect to have imputation credits to attach to any future dividends declared until such time as the Group absorbs cumulative 
tax losses and begins paying cash tax. 



 
 
 

  

“We are proud of the result Air New Zealand has delivered this financial year, and of the value 
we have created for our shareholders. 

“This result would not have been possible without our remarkable team of Air New Zealanders. 
Their grit, determination and commitment to deliver exceptional service for our customers is second 
to none.”  

Chief Executive Officer Greg Foran said the result follows a year in which the airline balanced 
customer, staff, community, and shareholder needs, while making investments for the years ahead.   

“A strong Air New Zealand is good for New Zealand. We have rehired and trained in a tight labour 
market, lifted the starting wage for the airport teams to $30 an hour and improved the way we work 
with digital systems on the ground and in the air.  

“Restoring services to 500 flights a day is not only good for Kiwis who’ve been able to take that 
long planned holiday, but it has also brought tourist dollars back to the regions and supports 
exporters who rely on regular air freight.  

“We know increased costs and high demand have made flying more expensive. In the past year 
we put more aircraft and seats in the air, so there are more choices for customers which helps 
alleviate the cost of flying. At the same time, our own costs continue to rise and the reality is that 
airfares are unlikely to return to pre-pandemic levels.  

“After several volatile years it’s great to be back in the black and standing on our own two feet 
especially given we have more than $3.5 billion in aircraft investment coming over the next five 
years.  

“Today we also announced an order for two new ATR turboprop aircraft for regional routes, as well 
as two new Airbus A321neos for our international short-haul network. That’s in addition to the 
existing domestic Airbus A321neo orders, and the eight new Boeing 787 Dreamliners we have 
coming into the fleet as we retire our Boeing 777-300s over time. And we’re retrofitting our 14 787’s 
with the new Business Premier LuxeTM and refreshed cabin product.  

“We’re making progress on the things that matter to customers. Contact centre wait times have, on 
average, reduced by 75 percent since December, we’ve introduced an enhanced app, and we’ve 
had a step change in on time performance and more importantly, a reduction in cancellations. This 
June we were one of the best airlines in the Asia Pacific region at arriving on time, so we have 
momentum. 

“We want all our customers to have a great experience and we know that over the past year we 
haven’t got that right every time. We were tested during the Auckland floods and Cyclone Gabrielle, 
but pleased to be able to help the Napier and Gisborne communities with direct flights when roads 
linking the cities were washed away.  

“Air New Zealand has also released its annual Sustainability Report today, which highlights how 
important and challenging the work we’re doing in this area is. This is a key focus for the business, 
with work underway to select a flight route for the airline’s first next generation aircraft and the 
announcement of a sustainable aviation fuel feasibility study alongside the New Zealand 
Government.  

“Our entire whānau would like to thank our customers who have been patient and loyal while we 
emerged from the global pandemic. We’ve made significant progress in the past year, emerging 
as a strong Air New Zealand, which is good for the country.”  

https://p-airnz.com/cms/assets/PDFs/2023-air-new-zealand-sustainability-report.pdf


 
 
 

  

Revised capital management framework 

The Board has also reviewed the airline’s capital management settings, with a particular focus on 
the appropriate liquidity and leverage targets that would enable the airline to maintain investment 
grade credit rating metrics, as well as consideration of future shareholder distribution parameters. 
The revised capital management framework is effective from the 2024 financial year and further 
information can be found here. 

Outlook 

The airline notes that the 2023 financial year was particularly unique with significant customer 
demand, constrained market capacity and lower fuel prices in the second half, and as such, we 
believe the 2024 financial year will be more reflective of future financial performance. 

Looking ahead to the first half of the 2024 financial year, customer demand remains strong across 
our markets. We are mindful of the uncertain economic environment however and acknowledge a 
number of factors that may impact future customer demand and profitability. These factors include 
increased international competition, volatile fuel prices, a weaker New Zealand dollar, ongoing 
wage inflation and increased airport charges. 

Given the uncertainty and volatility of some of these macroeconomic factors, the airline will not be 
providing guidance at this time.  

 

Supplementary table – Summary data from the 2023 audited financial statements  

  2023 
$M 

2022 
$M 

%  
Movement 

Operating revenue 6,330 2,734 132% 

Earnings/(loss) before other 
significant items and taxation  585 (725) 181% 

Statutory earnings/(loss) 
before taxation 574 (810) 171% 

Net profit/(loss) after taxation 412 (591) 170% 
    

Ends 
Authorised for release to the NZX and ASX by: 
Jennifer Page 
General Counsel & Company Secretary 
Email: jennifer.page@airnz.co.nz 
Phone: +64 27 9090 691 

For investor relations queries please contact:   For media enquiries, please contact: 

Kim Cootes       Air New Zealand Communications  
Head of Investor Relations     Email: media@airnz.co.nz   
kim.cootes@airnz.co.nz      Phone: +64 21 747 320  
+64 27 297 0244       
 

https://p-airnz.com/cms/assets/PDFs/2023-air-new-zealand-capital-management-framework.pdf
mailto:media@airnz.co.nz
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This presentation is given on behalf of Air New Zealand Limited (NZX: AIR 
and AIR030; ASX: AIZ). The information in this presentation:
• is provided for general purposes only and is not an offer or invitation

for subscription, purchase, or a recommendation of securities in
Air New Zealand

• should be read in conjunction with, and is subject to, Air New Zealand’s 
annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023, prior 
annual and interim reports and Air New Zealand’s market releases on 
the NZX and ASX  

• is current at the date of this presentation, unless otherwise stated. 
Air New Zealand is not under any obligation to update this presentation 
after its release, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise

• may contain information from third-parties. No representations or 
warranties are made as to the accuracy or completeness of such 
information 

• refers to the year ended 30 June 2023 unless otherwise stated
• contains forward-looking statements of future operating or financial 

performance. The forward-looking statements are based on 
management's and directors’ current expectations and assumptions 
regarding Air New Zealand’s businesses and performance, the 
economy and other future conditions, circumstances and results.
These statements are susceptible to uncertainty and changes in 
circumstances. Air New Zealand’s actual future results may vary 
materially from those expressed or implied in its forward-looking 

statements and undue reliance should not be placed on any forward-
looking statements

• contains statements relating to past performance which are provided for 
illustrative purposes only and should not be relied upon as a reliable 
indicator of future performance

• is expressed in New Zealand dollars unless otherwise stated and 
figures, including percentage movements, are subject to rounding

The Company, its directors, employees and/or shareholders shall have no 
liability whatsoever to any person for any loss arising from this 
presentation or any information supplied in connection with it. Nothing in 
this presentation constitutes financial, legal, regulatory, tax or other advice. 

Non-GAAP financial information
The following non-GAAP measures are not audited: CASK, Gearing, Net 
Debt, Gross Debt, EBITDA, free cash flow and RASK. Amounts used 
within the calculations are derived from the audited Group annual financial 
statements and Five-Year Statistical Review contained in the 2023 Annual 
Report. The non-GAAP measures are used by management and the Board 
of Directors to assess the underlying financial performance of the Group in 
order to make decisions around the allocation of resources. 
Refer to slide 36 for a glossary of the key terms used in this presentation.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND DISCLAIMER
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GREG FORAN
C H I E F  E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R

BUSINESS 
UPDATE
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1    Visiting friends and relatives.
2 Refer to slide 27 for further details on Other Significant Items of $11 million.

A STRONG 2023 RESULT

4

Delivering
Brilliant Basics

• Restoring our network, flying nearly 
16 million passengers

• Customer satisfaction metrics back 
at pre-Covid levels

• Returning towards pre-Covid levels 
of operational reliability with OTP at 
77% (vs 80% in 2019)

• Increasing employees in key areas 
to maintain operational resilience and 
ease pain points 

• Self service capabilities enabled, 
removing more than 200k calls from 
the system 

Extraordinary 
operating environment

• Strong demand for international 
travel following re-opening of borders

• Strong leisure and VFR1 demand 
across all markets

• Industry-wide supply constraints 
driving a high-yield environment

• Global aviation ecosystem remains 
under pressure from a labour and 
productivity perspective

Restoring
financial metrics

• Restored profitability, recording the 
second highest earnings before 
other significant items and taxation in 
our history of $585 million2

• Earnings before taxation of $574 
million

• Almost $1 billion reduction in net 
debt across FY23

• Continue to maintain investment 
grade credit rating

• Providing shareholders with a return 
earlier than anticipated, with a special 
dividend of ~$200 million

D E L I V E R E D  I N  T H E  C O N T E X T  O F  A N  E X T R A O R D I N A R Y O P E R AT I N G  E N V I R O N M E N T

A I R  N E W  Z E A L A N D  2 0 2 3  A N N U A L  R E S U L T S  
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At 77% for the year despite 
floods etc

2H 2023 FOCUS HAS BEEN ON DELIVERING FOR CUSTOMERS
MULTIPLE ACTIONS TAKEN TO EASE PAIN POINTS ACROSS THE OPERATION

Customer 
satisfaction

(out of 100)

Mishandled 
bags

(per 1,000 bags)

On time 
performance

Contact Centre 
wait times

(mins)

CSAT levels now back at 
pre-Covid levels

Down over 30%, now <4 bags p/1000, 
better than industry average

OTP back near pre-Covid 
levels

Average wait time now ~6 
minutes, down 75%

77%
83

3.5

6.3
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DESPITE MACROECONOMIC CONDIT IONS
DEMAND CONTINUES TO BE RESILIENT

Domestic bookings at ~100%
of pre-Covid levels 
• Overall market capacity 

at 89%, despite Air New 
Zealand capacity up at 
94%, with higher load 
factors 

• Leisure and VFR 
customers continue to 
underpin demand

• Corporate revenue 
remains above pre-
Covid levels, with no 
current indication of 
softening demand

International bookings at 
~86% of pre-Covid levels

• North America booking 
strongly, however more 
market capacity coming 
online in FY24

• Tasman capacity back 
near pre-Covid levels

• Asia currently exceeding 
expectations, especially 
with demand out of India 

• China demand starting to 
recover following border 
opening

Domestic 
bookings

~100%
pre-Covid 

levels

International 
bookings

~86%
pre-Covid 

levels
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• Growing Domestic with 
additional A321neos

• Increasing productivity 
and utilisation to deliver  
more seats across the 
network

Optimised 
International network 

with deep alliance 
partnerships

• 22 widebody aircraft 
supporting key routes 

• Alliance partnerships 
enabling international 
connectivity to resume 
quickly at scale

Strong brand and 
service culture

• #1 Corporate Reputation
• #1 Employer in NZ
• Strong brand and service 

culture driving improved 
customer satisfaction

AirpointsTM loyalty 
programme

• Engaging with our 4.2 
million members, gaining 
valuable insights into 
customer needs

• More active Airpoints 
members in the programme 
than ever before

Modern fuel-
efficient fleet & 
infrastructure 
investments

• Fleet age of 7.9 years
• Fleet investments driving 

improved operating 
efficiency and utilisation

• Modernisation of ground 
service equipment and 
engineering facilities

SUPPORTED BY OUR CORE COMPETIT IVE ADVANTAGES

Resilient core 
Domestic 
business

FY24 FOCUS - SUSTAINING PERFORMANCE IN THE FACE OF 
HEADWINDS
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RICHARD THOMSON
C H I E F  F I N A N C I A L O F F I C E R

FINANCIAL 
UPDATE
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Earnings/(Loss) before other significant items and taxation1

($ millions)
• Operating revenue of $6.3 billion, up 9% 

compared to pre-Covid

• Cargo revenue of $628 million, down 38% on 
last year but up 61% on pre-Covid 

• Earnings before other significant items and 
taxation1 of $585 million

• Earnings before taxation of $574 million

• Liquidity of $2.6 billion2

• Free cash flow of $937 million

• Return on invested capital of 22.3%

• Net debt to EBITDA of 0.3x

• Fully imputed special dividend of 6.0 cents per 
share

2023 IS A PIVOTAL TURNING POINT IN THE RECOVERY

387

(88)

(444)

(725)

585

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Covid-19 impacted period

RETURNING TO PROFITABIL ITY AFTER THREE YEARS OF PANDEMIC-RELATED LOSSES

1 Refer to slide 27 for further details on Other Significant Items of $11 million.
2   As at 30 June 2023. Includes the $400m undrawn Crown Standby Facility.
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2

Driven by reduction in 
cargo support schemes 

of $305 million

Includes short-
term wet lease
costs of ~$32m

PROFITABILITY WATERFALL

1 For further details on fuel cost movement, refer to slide 25.
2 Full-time equivalent staff levels increased by 29% to ~11,500, which represents approximately 97% of pre-Covid levels.

FY23 price 
change

Maintenance, aircraft 
operations and passenger 
services 

~ 7%

Labour ~ 5%

Sales, marketing and other 
expenses

~ 2%

• Significant activity increases when 
comparing FY23 to FY22 due to 80% 
growth in capacity this year.

• A summary of aggregate rate increases is 
provided below for key operational cost 
areas:
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Direct Labour1 (price only)
($ millions)

2019 2023

+15%

2019 2023

+21%

2019 2023

+16%

Variable operating costs2 (price only)
($ millions)

Total cost base2 (price only)
($ millions)

INFLATION HAS PUT PRESSURE ON THE COST BASE
WITH SOME AREAS SET TO GROW FURTHER IN  FY24

1 Includes pilots, crew, airports and engineering & maintenance.
2   Excludes fuel.
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1  Excluding fuel price movement, foreign exchange, third-party maintenance and reduction in wage support subsidies. 

• Reported CASK increased 40.3% compared to pre-Covid, 
largely due to fuel price movements

• Excluding the impact of fuel price movement, foreign 
exchange, third-party maintenance and the wage support 
subsidies in the prior year, underlying CASK increased 
26.9% compared to pre-Covid. 

• Underlying CASK has increased due to:

– non-fuel price inflation of ~16% 
– the change in mix of flying due to a lower proportion of 

lower CASK long-haul and cargo flying in FY23
– diseconomies of scale from the phased resumption of 

international operations, and reduced productivity due to 
increased levels of training 

– other inefficiencies associated with ramp-up productivity

PRODUCTIV ITY IMPROVEMENTS TO SUPPORT UNIT  COST IMPROVEMENT IN  FY24  

RAMP-UP INEFFICIENCIES & INFLATION DRIVING HIGHER CASK

Reported 
CASK increase of

40.3%

Underlying1

CASK increase of

26.9%

FY19 vs FY23
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Actual and forecast aircraft capital expenditure1

Historical Forecast

• Forecast aircraft capital expenditure of $3.6 billion2 reflects: 
− 2 additional Domestic ATR aircraft for delivery in FY25

• Chart includes the forecast cost of the interior retrofit of 14 existing 
Boeing 787 aircraft from FY24
− Estimated cost phased over the next ~4 years
− First retrofit to commence early FY25

• No committed aircraft capital expenditure beyond FY28 currently

FLEET INVESTMENT UPDATE

Aircraft delivery schedule

Number in 
existing fleet

Number on 
order

Delivery Dates (financial year)

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

Owned fleet on order
Boeing 787 12 8 - 2 2 2 2

Airbus A320neo / A321neos 11 4 2 - - 2 -

ATR 72-600 29 2 - 2 - - -

Operating leased aircraft Boeing 787 2 - - - - - -

Airbus A320neo / A321neos 5 2 - 2 - - -

Boeing 777-300ER (three-year lease) 3 1 1 - - - -

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

$ 
m

illi
on

s

Forecast Boeing 787 retrofit

1  Includes progress payments on aircraft and aircraft improvements (e.g., refurbishment).                 2 Assumes NZD/USD rate of 0.61.
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Fuel hedging

• Hedging Brent Crude only; exposed to pricing 
movements in the crack spread

• Combination of call options and collar structures, with 
focus on ensuring downside participation in price 
declines

• Assuming an average jet fuel price of US$105 per 
barrel for 2024, fuel cost would be ~$1.8 billion1 

• FY24 hedges cover 54% of estimated volumes (~8.5 
million barrels)

– 1H 2024 is 74% of consumption
– 2H 2024 is 35% of consumption

Foreign exchange hedging
• US dollar is ~55% hedged for 2024 at 0.62

MITIGATING FUEL PRICE & FX VOLATILITY THROUGH HEDGING

Fuel hedge position
(as at 4 Aug 2023)

Period Hedged volume
(in barrels) % hedged

Net compensation 
from hedging 

(USD)2

1H FY24 3,140,000 74% (~$1 million)

2H FY24 1,460,000 35% ~$7 million

 1,100
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Singapore Jet (USD/barrel)

Unhedged Hedged1

2024 Fuel Cost** sensitivity 

1 Includes cost of carbon (NZU’s) and the associated hedging portfolio, in addition to SAF purchases.
2   Net compensation from fuel hedges represents the unrealised gains/losses on fuel hedges, including the cost of the hedges and is in USD.
**  Assumes NZD/USD rate of 0.61.
.
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~$200 MILLION SHAREHOLDER RETURN VIA SPECIAL DIVIDEND

• A fully imputed, one-off special dividend of 6.0 
cents per share has been declared for FY23

– Reflects the unique market dynamics that 
have contributed to the strong result

– Provides shareholders with a return earlier 
than anticipated

• From FY24, the newly announced dividend policy 
within the revised capital management 
framework applies1

– The airline does not expect to have 
imputation credits to attach to any future 
dividends declared until such time as the 
company absorbs cumulative tax losses and 
begins paying cash tax

1  See slide 16 for the revised capital management framework. 
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Invest in core operations

Maintain financial resilience and flexibility

Distributions Growth capex

Underpinned by our commitment to maintain investment grade credit rating metrics

• Target liquidity range of $1.2 billion to $1.5 billion
• Net Debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.5x to 2.5x

• Fleet and infrastructure investments above WACC through the cycle
• Investment to support the airline’s decarbonisation ambitions

• Ordinary dividend pay-out ratio of 40% to 70% of 
underlying net profit after tax (NPAT)

• Return excess capital via special dividends or 
share buybacks

• Disciplined investment in value accretive capex
• Target ROIC above pre-tax WACC

REVISED CAPITAL MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK FROM FY24
ENABLING F INANCIAL RESIL IENCE AND FLEXIBIL ITY TO DELIVER ON STRATEGY
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GREG FORAN
C H I E F  E X E C U T I V E  O F F I C E R

OUTLOOK
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WELL-POSITIONED TO FACE INTO INCREASING LEVELS OF 
COMPETITION

TASMAN

PACIFIC ISLANDS

ASIA

NORTH AMERICA

NEW ZEALAND

• Competition expected to increase in 
major markets, including China

• Strong demand from Indian market
• Deep alliance relationships in these 

markets support scale and depth

• Strong leisure demand expected to remain 
• Virgin Australia and Samoa Airways not 

currently operating - previously 33% of pre-
Covid market.

• Fiji market remains competitive

• High levels of supply expected to 
remain

• Impact of 5th freedom carriers re-
entering likely to put pressure on yields

• Significant additional capacity from major US 
carriers in FY24, particularly in coming 
Northern Winter season

• Not currently impacting pricing or demand
• Strong traffic from New Zealand to Europe via 

our US ports
• Deep alliance relationship in this market 

supports scale and depth

• Air New Zealand operating close to pre-Covid levels of capacity
• Macro-economic conditions tightening, but demand currently 

holding up
• Corporate demand strong due to higher proportion of small and 

medium enterprise (SME) customers
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WITH SUBSTANTIAL LONG-HAUL CAPACITY GROWTH IN  THE F IRST HALF 

Sector 2023 ASKs
(millions)1

1H 2024
(vs 1H 2023)

2H 2024
(vs 2H 2023)

FY24 Estimated 
Capacity2

Domestic 6,685 +0% to 5% +0% to 5% +0% to 5%

Tasman and Pacific 
Islands 10,237 +20% to 25% +15% to 20% +15% to 20%

International long-haul3 19,039 +50% to 55% +10% to 15% +40% to 45%

Group 35,961 +30% to 35% +10% to 15% +20% to 25%

1 Includes Cargo-only flights.
2    Compared to FY23 levels, including Cargo-only flights.
3   From FY23 onwards International long-haul includes Denpasar and Honolulu, which was reported under Tasman and Pacific Islands previously.

FY24 CAPACITY OUTLOOK

Equates to ~95% 
of FY19 capacity 
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2024 OUTLOOK

• The airline notes that the 2023 financial year was particularly unique with significant customer 
demand, constrained market capacity and lower fuel prices in the second half, and as such, we 
believe the 2024 financial year will be more reflective of future financial performance.

• Looking ahead to the first half of the 2024 financial year, customer demand remains strong across 
our markets. We are mindful of the uncertain economic environment however and acknowledge 
there are a number of factors that may impact future customer demand and profitability. These 
factors include increased international competition, volatile fuel prices, a weaker New Zealand dollar, 
ongoing wage inflation and increased airport charges.

• Given the uncertainty and volatility of some of these macroeconomic factors, the airline will not be 
providing guidance at this time. 
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SUPPLEMENTARY 
INFORMATION
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$ millions 30 Jun 2023 30 Jun 2022 Prior capital 
management targets

Revised capital 
management targets 
(effective from FY24)1

Gross debt (3,335) (3,568)

Cash, restricted deposits and net 
open derivatives 2,928 2,176

Net debt (407) (1,392)

Gross debt/EBITDA 2.4 n/a

Net debt/EBITDA 0.3 n/a Net Debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.5x 
to 2.5x

Gearing 16.4% 45.4% Gearing ratio of 
45% to 55% 

Return on invested capital (ROIC) 22.3% (21.2%) Pre-tax ROIC target of 
10 to 15%

Target ROIC above pre-tax 
WACC

Total liquidity 2,627 2,193 Target liquidity range of 
$700 million to $1 billion

Target liquidity range of $1.2 
billion to $1.5 billion

Liquidity (% of 2019 revenue) 45.4% 37.9%

Moody's rating Baa2
(investment grade)

Baa2
(investment grade) Baa2 (investment grade) Baa2 (investment grade)

Shareholder distributions 6 cps special dividend -
Committed to consistently 

paying a sustainable 
ordinary dividend

Ordinary dividend payout ratio of 
40% to 70% of net profit after 

taxation (NPAT)

KEY CAPITAL MANAGEMENT METRICS

1 Please see slide16 for more information on the revised capital management framework. 
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• Cargo revenue of $628 million, down 38% on last 
year but up 61% on pre-Covid levels 

• Includes $98 million in Government supported flights 
until March 2023, when the remaining scheme ended

‒ Compares to $403 million in supported flights in 
the prior year

• Excluding impact of Government supported flights, 
cargo yields declined 8% from prior year reflecting 
more passenger flying as borders reopen and 
competition resumed

• Cargo loads were 67%, compared to 82% last year, 
largely due to higher passenger demand and the 
resumption of international competition

FY23 CARGO PERFORMANCE
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F U E L  C O S T  M O V E M E N T
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Engine
maintenance

Digital
transformation

• Spend relates to overhaul 
of owned engines across 
all fleet types

• Has an enduring benefit 
of 5+ years

• Annual expenditure varies 
based on utilisation of 
aircraft

• Investments in digital 
assets linked to Kia Mau 
strategy, focused on 
ensuring resiliency and 
optimising customer and 
employee experiences

• Annual expenditure in the 
range of ~$50 million to $75 
million

Property and 
infrastructure

• Investments in buildings and 
operational facilities

• Includes expenditure on the 
new Auckland engineering 
hangar, cargo facilities and 
head office relocation

• Elevated annual expenditure 
of ~$75 million over the next 
4 years

OTHER INVESTMENTS
OTHER CAPITAL EXPENDITURE IS  GENERALLY UNCOMMITTED IN  NATURE 
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Jun 2023
$M

Jun 2022
$M

Earnings/(Loss) before taxation (per NZ IFRS) 574 (810)

Add back other significant items:

De-designation of hedges - 13

FX losses on uncovered foreign currency debt 23 43

Aircraft impairment (reversal) / expense (12) 6

Impairment of intangible asset - 24

Reorganisation cost releases - (1)

Earnings/(Loss) before other significant items and taxation 585 (725)

1  Earnings/(Loss) before other significant items and taxation represents Earnings stated in compliance with NZ IFRS (Statutory Earnings) after excluding items which due to their size or nature warrant separate disclosure to assist with 
understanding the underlying financial performance of the Group. Earnings/(Loss) before other significant items and taxation is reported within the Group’s audited annual financial statements.  Further details are contained within Note 3 of 
the Group’s 2023 annual financial statements.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) BEFORE OTHER SIGNIFICANT ITEMS & 
TAXATION1
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Jun 2023
$M

Jun 2022
$M

Movement
%

Jun 2019
$M

Variance to 
pre-Covid

Operating revenue 6,330 2,734 132% 5,785 9%

Earnings /(Loss) before other significant items 
and taxation 585 (725) 181% 387 51%

Earnings /(Loss) before taxation 574 (810) 171% 382 50%

Net Profit /(Loss) after taxation 412 (591) 170% 276 49%

Operating cash flow 1,853 574 223% 997 86%

Cash position 2,227 1,793 24% 1,055 111%

Gearing 16.4% 45.4% 29.0 pts 55.9% 39.5 pts

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
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Jun 2023 Jun 2022 Movement1 Jun 2019 Variance to 
pre-Covid1

Passengers carried (‘000s) 15,776 7,745 104% 17,738 (11%)

Available seat kilometres (ASKs, millions) 
– passenger flights 34,281 10,651 222% 46,029 (26%)

Available seat kilometres (ASKs, 
millions) –  passenger and cargo-only 
flights

35,961 20,019 80% 46,029 (22%)

Revenue passenger kilometres (RPKs, 
millions) 29,032 7,146 306% 38,573 (25%)

Load factor 84.7% 67.1% 17.6 pts 83.8% 0.9 pts

Passenger revenue per ASKs as 
reported (RASK, cents) 15.6 13.9 13% 10.8 45%

Passenger revenue per ASKs, excluding 
FX (RASK, cents) 15.5 13.9 12% 10.8 44%

1 Calculation based on numbers before rounding.

GROUP PERFORMANCE METRICS
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Jun 2023 Jun 2022 Movement1 Jun 2019 Variance to 
pre-Covid1

Passengers carried (‘000s) 10,946 6,836 60.1% 11,513 (5%)

Available seat kilometres (ASKs, 
millions) – passenger flights 6,685 4,929 36% 7,104 (6%)

Revenue passenger kilometres
(RPKs, millions) 5,679 3,452 64% 5,957 (5%)

Load factor 84.9% 70.1% 14.8 pts 83.9% 1.0 pts

Passenger revenue per ASKs as 
reported (RASK, cents) 28.7 19.5 47% 22.5 28%

Passenger revenue per ASKs,
excluding FX (RASK, cents) 28.5 19.5 46% 22.5 27%

1 Calculation based on numbers before rounding.

DOMESTIC
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Jun 2023 Jun 2022 Movement2 Jun 2019 Variance to 
pre-Covid2

Passengers carried (‘000s) 3,352 734 356% 3,880 (14%)

Available seat kilometres (ASKs, 
millions) – passenger flights 10,237 2,665 284% 12,215 (16%)

Revenue passenger kilometres
(RPKs, millions) 8,707 1,937 350% 10,043 (13%)

Load factor 85.1% 72.7% 12.4 pts 82.2% 2.9 pts

Passenger revenue per ASKs as 
reported (RASK, cents) 14.4 11.1 30% 9.9 45%

Passenger revenue per ASKs,
excluding FX (RASK, cents) 14.3 11.1 29% 9.9 44%

TASMAN AND PACIFIC ISLANDS1

1  Historically Honolulu and Denpasar were categorised within Pacific Islands. From 1 July 2022, Honolulu has been reclassified to sit within North America and Denpasar has been reclassified to Asia, both of which are reported under 
international long-haul. All historic data has been adjusted to reflect this change.

2   Calculation based on numbers before rounding.
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Jun 2023 Jun 2022 Movement1 Jun 2019 Variance to 
pre-Covid1

Passengers carried (‘000s) 1,478 175 747% 2,345 (37%)

Available seat kilometres (ASKs, 
millions) – passenger flights 17,359 3,057 468% 26,710 (35%)

Revenue passenger kilometres
(RPKs, millions) 14,646 1,757 734% 22,573 (35%)

Load factor 84.4% 57.5% 26.9 pts 84.5% (0.1 pts)

Passenger revenue per ASKs as 
reported (RASK, cents) 11.3 7.2 57% 8.0 41%

Passenger revenue per ASKs,
excluding FX (RASK, cents) 11.1 7.2 55% 8.0 39%

1 Calculation based on numbers before rounding.

INTERNATIONAL
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1 From 2021 onwards, figures exclude the Boeing 777-200ER fleet. From 2024, figures include an additional leased Boeing 777-300 aircraft for three years.

2023 2024 2025 2026

Boeing 777-300ER 7 8 8 7

Boeing 787 14 14 16 18

Airbus A320 17 17 17 17

Airbus A320/A321neo 16 18 20 20

ATR72-600 29 29 31 31

Bombardier Q300 23 23 23 23

Total Fleet 106 109 115 116

7.1 7.1 6.7
7.3

7.9
8.8

9.3
9.9

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Historical Forecast

Aircraft fleet age in years
(seat weighted)1

FLEET DELIVERY AND AGE UPDATE
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~9 years 7.9 years ~10 years

FY23 (5 types)    Total – 106 FY28 (4 types)1  Total – 111

787
(22)

A320
(35)

ATR72
(31)

Q300
(23)

777-300ER

787-9/10

A320

A321

787
(14)

777
(7)

787-9

A320
(33)

A320

A321

ATR72
(29)

Q300
(23)

ATR72-600 ATR72-600

FY11 (8 types)     Total – 102

747
(5)

767
(5)

777
(11)

A320
(14)

737
(15)

ATR72
(11)

Q300
(23)

1900D
(18)

777-300ER

777-200ER

ATR72-500

1  This represents the expected fleet at the end of the FY28 financial period.
2   Average seat-weighted fleet age. 
 

FLEET SIMPLIFICATION STRATEGY ON TRACK
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1 Finance leases are lease liabilities with purchase options. Operating leases are lease liabilities without purchase options 
2 Weighted average life of secured aircraft debt, finance leases and unsecured debt. Excludes operating leases

Debt maturity profile as at 30 Jun 2023 ($ millions)
• Gross Debt of $3.3 billion

− comprising: ~$1.9 billion secured aircraft debt and finance 
leases1, $754 million operating leases1, $102 million unsecured 
NZD bond, $578 million unsecured AUD notes

• Cash of ~$2.2 billion, restricted deposits of $732 million and net 
open derivatives of ($31) million

• Net Debt of $0.4 billion
• Undrawn Crown Standby Facility of $400 million expiring 30 

January 2026
• Weighted average debt and finance lease maturity of ~3.7 years2

Capital structure as at 30 Jun 2023

Air New Zealand’s debt structure provides flexibility 
• No financial covenants on debt
• Reduced refinancing risk
• Competitive financing costs
• Prepayment optionality

371 333
275 257

127 94 73
160 140 25

46

315

102
263

FY30FY27 FY29 FY34FY32FY24 FY25 FY26 FY28 FY31 FY33

Secured Aircraft Debt and Finance Leases1 NZ Retail Bond Australian Medium Term Notes

DEBT STRUCTURE & MATURITY PROFILE
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Available Seat Kilometres (ASKs) Number of seats operated multiplied by the distance flown (capacity)

Cost/ASK (CASK) Operating expenses divided by the total ASK for the period

Gearing Net Debt / (Net Debt + Equity)

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA) Operating earnings before depreciation and amortisation, net finance costs and taxation

Gross Debt Interest-bearing liabilities, lease liabilities and redeemable shares 

Free cash flow Total of net cash flows from operating activities and investing activities

Net Debt Interest-bearing liabilities, lease liabilities and redeemable shares less bank and short-term deposits, net open 
derivatives held in relation to interest-bearing liabilities and lease liabilities, and interest-bearing assets

Cash, restricted deposits and net open 
derivatives

Bank and short-term deposits, interest-bearing assets and net open derivatives held in relation to interest-bearing 
liabilities and lease liabilities

Liquidity Cash and cash equivalents (which excludes restricted deposits) plus the outstanding amount of any Crown standby 
facility available to be drawn

Passenger Load Factor RPKs as a percentage of ASKs

Passenger Revenue/ASK (RASK) Passenger revenue for the period divided by the total ASK on passenger flights for the period

Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPKs) Number of revenue passengers carried multiplied by the distance flown (demand)

The following non-GAAP measures are not audited: CASK, Gearing, Net Debt, Gross Debt, EBITDA, free cash flow and RASK. Amounts used within the calculations are derived from the audited Group financial statements and Five-Year 
Statistical Review contained in the 2023 Annual Report. The non-GAAP measures are used by management and the Board of Directors to assess the underlying financial performance of the Group in order to make decisions around the allocation 
of resources.

GLOSSARY OF KEY TERMS
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Resources

Contact information
Email: investor@airnz.co.nz

Share registrar: enquiries@linkmarketservices.com

Investor website: www.airnewzealand.co.nz/investor-centre

Monthly traffic updates: www.airnewzealand.co.nz/monthly-investor-updates

Corporate governance: www.airnewzealand.co.nz/corporate-governance

Sustainability: https://www.airnewzealand.co.nz/sustainability

F I N D  INFORMATION O N  A I R  N E W  Z E A L A N D

http://www.airnewzealand.co.nz/monthly-investor-updates
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This Sustainability Report (Report) has been prepared for the purpose of providing investors with information regarding our approach to sustainability issues related to our business. It has not been prepared as financial or investment advice or to provide any guidance in relation to the 
future performance of Air New Zealand.

This Report contains forward-looking statements and statements of opinion. These may include statements regarding sustainability plans and strategies, the impact of climate change and other sustainability issues, energy transition scenarios, actions of third-parties, and external 
enablers such as technology development and commercialisation (including with respect to sustainable aviation fuels), policy support, market support, and energy and carbon credit availability. Any such statements are made only as at the date of this Report. Readers are cautioned 
not to place undue reliance on such statements, particularly in light of the long-time horizon that this Report discusses and the inherent uncertainty in possible policy, market and technological developments.

No representation or warranty is made regarding the accuracy, completeness or reliability of the forward-looking statements or opinions contained in this Report, or the assumptions on which either is based. All such information is, by its nature, subject to significant uncertainties 
outside of the control of Air New Zealand, and actual results, circumstances and developments may differ materially from those expressed or implied in this Report. Except as required by applicable laws or regulations, Air New Zealand does not undertake to publicly update or review 
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or future events. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Air New Zealand and its officers do not accept any liability for any loss arising from the use of the information contained in this Report.
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The profound impact of the changing climate has been felt here in our own 

country too with the Auckland floods in January and Cyclone Gabrielle a 

few weeks later.

The future of our entire planet depends on the global transition to net zero 

by 2050. Air New Zealand has its part to play, both here in Aotearoa and as 

part of the global aviation sector. To carry on connecting New Zealanders 

with each other and the world, we must decarbonise our operations. As we 

witness this threat to the planet unfold, we have never felt more resolute 

about the work we have ahead of us.

We know the challenges are significant. Aviation is one of the hardest 

sectors to abate, there are very few levers available to us, and we don't 

control them all.

For example, while we can deliver greater operational efficiency, other 

pathways to decarbonisation, such as sustainable aviation fuel and next 

generation aircraft, will require global collaboration, enabling policy 

landscapes, and often significant advances in technology.

Our approach is not to wait for a solution to come to us. Over the past 

year, Air New Zealand has worked with both local and global stakeholders 

to advance the scaling up of high integrity and affordable sustainable 

aviation fuel production, and we have continued to partner with aircraft 

developers and innovators to give them confidence that we will be an early 

adopter of new lower emissions aircraft. We want – and need – a seat at 

the global table as all airlines grapple with the need to decarbonise and 

dramatically reduce emissions.

Last year we set an interim 2030 science-based carbon reduction target, 

validated by the Science Based Targets initiative. This year we have 

developed the roadmap to guide our progress to the end of the decade.  

We know achieving the target will be difficult.  Some of what we need to 

happen is beyond our control, and we’ll need a village to help us meet it, but 

it's important for Air New Zealand to be ambitious. There is a lot at stake.

We also have much to achieve in the circular economy space, with a need 

to refocus our efforts to increase our diversion from landfill rates. The 

detailed waste audits we carried out this year, and passionate circular 

economy champions across the airline, will be instrumental in setting and 

delivering on our new waste targets and strategy going forward.

This year we farewell Sir Jonathon Porritt from our Sustainability 

Advisory Panel. His nearly decade-long service to the airline has been 

phenomenal. He has never shied away from challenging our sustainability 

agenda, and we are richer for it.  Sam Mostyn AO takes over the reins 

as Chair.  She has been on the panel for over two years and brings vast 

sustainability, commercial and governance experience to the role.

Our sincere thanks to the Air New Zealand team for their unwavering 

dedication to making a positive difference across Aotearoa. Thank you 

also to our valued customers and stakeholders for pushing us to excel and 

holding us responsible, and to the Sustainability Advisory Panel for their 

guidance, rigour and support for us to always do better.  The year ahead is 

no doubt going to be just as challenging as the last, but we go into it with a 

good plan to help navigate such critical change.  

Letter from the 
Chair and Chief 
Executive Officer

As we pen this opening letter for our 2023 Sustainability 

Report, the world has just experienced its hottest month on 

record. The devastating impact of the climate crisis is being 

felt right across the globe, with droughts, floods, forest fires 

and intense heat impacting peoples’ lives and livelihoods. 

Greg Foran  

Air New Zealand Chief Executive Officer  

August 2023

Dame Therese Walsh  

Air New Zealand Chair 

August 2023

Greg Foran  

Air New Zealand Chief 

Executive Officer 

Dame Therese Walsh  

Air New Zealand 

Chair

C O N T E N T S
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Governance of 
sustainability at 
Air New Zealand

At Air New Zealand, governance of 

sustainability covers environmental and 

social matters. It is a broader concept 

than climate-related matters alone. 

Board of Directors 

The Air New Zealand Board 

of Directors has overarching 

responsibility for sustainability at the 

airline and has signed-off on significant 

sustainability initiatives, including the 

airline’s Sustainability Framework. 

In addition to regular reporting from 

Management to the Board, more 

detailed oversight of elements 

within the Sustainability Framework 

is exercised through the Board’s 

People, Remuneration and Diversity 

Professor of Sustainable 

Development, University 

of Surrey, Director of 

the Centre for the Understanding of 

Sustainable Prosperity

Professor Tim 
JacksonProfessor of Sustainable 

Tourism, Griffith 

University, Australia

Dr Susanne Becken

Director of Kohutapu 

Lodge & Tribal Tours

Nadine Toe Toe
Non-Executive Director 

and Sustainability Adviser.  

Incoming Chair of 

Advisory Panel

Sam Mostyn AO

Chairman and Founder of 

Sysdoc and Non-Executive 

Director of the Civil 

Aviation Authority (UK)

Katherine Corich
Founder of Forum for the 

Future, Advisory Panel 

Chair and sustainability 

thought leader

Sir Jonathon Porritt

Sustainability Advisory Panel Members

Committee, Health, Safety and 

Security Committee, and Audit and 

Risk Committee. The governance 

of Air New Zealand’s climate-

related risks and opportunities is 

detailed on page 13 of the Climate 

action section of this report. 

The Executive  

The Sustainability team reports 

to the Executive on how we are 

tracking against our Kia Mau 

strategic priorities each month, 

and our progress against our 

objectives, key results, and 

performance indicators that are set 

as part of the Quarterly Business 

Review (QBR) process.

The QBR is a recurring process 

that results in Air New Zealand-

wide alignment and transparency 

on work plans to meet the airline’s 

strategic priorities. As part of the 

airline’s QBR process, business 

priorities, including those relating 

to sustainability, are identified  

and reviewed every quarter, to 

ensure the airline is aligned to 

progress expected deliverables 

within that quarter.

In November 2022, Kiri Hannifin 

joined the Executive as the airline's 

first dedicated Chief Sustainability 

Officer. This appointment builds 

on the foundation Air New Zealand 

has already laid and signals a step 

change for sustainability at Air  

New Zealand. 

Sustainability Advisory Panel 

Our Sustainability Advisory 

Panel meets twice a year to 

independently advise us and 

challenge all aspects of our 

sustainability work programme. 

Panel members, with their wide 

range of expertise, also provide 

guidance to Air New Zealand 

in between these meetings. 

Members of Air New Zealand's 

Board and Executive also join 

the Sustainability Advisory Panel 

meetings. To find out more about 

the panel, click here. 

This year we farewell our Panel 

Chair, Sir Jonathon Porritt. Sir 

Jonathon’s contribution to the 

airline as the Panel’s Chair since 

its inception in 2014 has been 

immense. Air New Zealand has 

greatly valued his incredible 

leadership and challenge to 

our sustainability agenda. A 

globally recognised advocate 

for environmental protection, Sir 

Jonathon has been influential in 

driving the airline’s sustainability 

initiatives and setting the airline 

up to continue to take ambitious 

action. Current Panel member, Sam 

Mostyn AO has been appointed as 

the new Panel Chair. Sam’s extensive 

experience in executive and 

governance roles across business, 

sustainability, and climate change will 

ensure the Panel’s role as a critical 

advisor to the airline continues. 

Greg Foran, Air New Zealand Chief Executive Officer; Kiri Hannifin, Air New Zealand Chief Sustainability Officer; 
Laurissa Cooney, Air New Zealand Independent Non-Executive Director.

C O N T E N T S
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Our reporting 
approach

Air New Zealand’s organisational boundary for sustainability reporting 

encompasses the companies listed on page 4 of Air New Zealand’s 2023 

Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report1.

This year Air New Zealand is releasing its Sustainability Report alongside 

its Annual Report to ensure stakeholders can obtain a cohesive picture of 

the airline’s impact in 2023. 

In addition, the Sustainability Report incorporates the following:

• Climate-related Disclosures

• Workforce Profile

• Gender Pay Report 

Deloitte Limited was engaged to provide reasonable assurance over 

the scope 1 and scope 2 components of the 2023 Greenhouse Gas 

Inventory detailed in this Sustainability Report, and limited assurance 

over the relevant categories of scope 3 emissions2. Refer to Air New 

Zealand’s 2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report for Deloitte Limited's 

Independent Assurance Report on the 2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory.

Air New Zealand is committed to ongoing climate-related disclosures. 

This year, the Climate action section of the Sustainability Report has 

been structured with reference to the Aotearoa New Zealand Climate 

Standards (NZ CS). The year commencing 1 July 2023 will be the airline’s 

first year of mandatory reporting under the new standards. New Zealand’s 

External Reporting Board aimed to align the NZ CS with the International 

Sustainability Standards Board's (ISSB) draft global climate-related 

disclosures prototype, which is closely aligned with the framework 

developed by the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures 

(TCFD). 

The contents of this report have been informed by the Global Reporting 

Initiative (GRI) sustainability reporting standards and the Sustainability 

Accounting Standards Board Standards for the Airline Industry (SASB). 

The GRI and SASB content indices in the Appendices of this report, 

provide an overview of the relevant GRI and SASB standards for our 

material topics and where to find related information.

This Sustainability Report provides a comprehensive update 

on the progress the airline has made to deliver on our 

Sustainability Framework and how we are tracking against 

key targets. Data and commentary in the Report is for the 

financial year starting 1 July 2022 and ending 30 June 2023, 

unless otherwise stated.

We welcome feedback and comments – please contact us at  

sustainability@airnz.co.nz

1 Air New Zealand’s 2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report is available on the Sustainability reporting and communications page on Air New Zealand’s website. 2 Scope 3 assurance excludes employee commuting (category 7). Further work to quantify employee 
commute emissions will be undertaken in 2024. C O N T E N T S
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Q and A with 
the Chair of the 
Sustainability 
Advisory Panel 

This will be my last contribution to an Air New Zealand Sustainability 

Report. After a wonderfully rewarding decade, first as an advisor and 

then as Chair of Air New Zealand’s Sustainability Advisory Panel, I 

stepped down in August this year, handing over to my good colleague 

Sam Mostyn. 

And what a decade it’s been for Air New Zealand - and for aviation as 

a global industry! Up until the Covid pandemic hit in 2020, there were 

two contrasting data sets that dominated the industry: year-on-year 

growth in terms of passengers carried, and year-on-year growth in 

terms of the resulting carbon emissions. 

Most “leaders” in the industry were focused almost exclusively on 

the former, and were largely dismissive of the latter – as in: “aviation’s 

contribution is a mere 2% of total global emissions, there are no 

immediately available technological solutions to sort out those 

emissions, and people want to keep on flying, come what may”. 

I’ve always been keen to celebrate the fact that Air New Zealand took  

a very different stance throughout that time. Uncomfortable though  

it might have been to acknowledge its full carbon footprint, there was 

no denial, no sweeping things under the carpet for an easy time –  

with the result that Air New Zealand is now as well-placed as any 

airline in the world to push forward with a genuinely coherent 

decarbonisation strategy.

This is an easy one: read the Report!

It’s true that the decarbonisation challenge is by far the most 

important for all airlines, but they have a host of other responsibilities 

– to their own people, to the communities in which they operate, on 

waste issues, biodiversity, tourism, and so on. 

Right from the start, our Panel was keen to see all this reflected in an 

integrated Sustainability Framework (see page 11). It’s fair to say that 

performance against a number of the key targets in the Framework has 

clearly been affected by the Covid pandemic. Which means there’s still a 

lot to be done to achieve the kind of excellence which we know both the 

Executive Team and the Board aspire to. 

Above all, I want Air New Zealand to take its “special relationship” with 

New Zealanders much more seriously than it does today. 

As the nation’s much-loved carrier, 51% owned by the Government on 

behalf of all New Zealanders, with very high levels of trust, it would be 

all too easy to interpret that relationship as a “license” to go on giving 

New Zealanders what they want, to keep Ministers sweet by way of 

providing steady dividends, to stay just below the radar on the massive 

controversies in which the global aviation industry is already up to its 

neck – and to steer clear of the hard stuff in the way it engages with New 

Zealanders as its customers. And what a wasted opportunity that would be!

This airline has a uniquely privileged opportunity to help New Zealanders 

(both those who fly with it and those who don’t) understand just what’s 

coming down the track at them in terms of climate change and the wider 

sustainability story. That would mean using its “special relationship” to 

open up a different kind of discourse with its customers, to help strip 

away some of the entitled delusions that New Zealand is somehow better 

placed than most countries to “cope” with worsening climate chaos, and 

to co-create over the next decade a truly sustainable airline for the future 

– however different that might look from the kind of airline that does such 

a good job today. 

Sir Jonathon Porritt  

Chair of Air New Zealand’s 

Sustainability Advisory Panel

Sir Jonathon Porritt  

Chair of Air New Zealand’s Sustainability Advisory Panel 

August 2023

Q What are your key reflections on progress made with Air 
New Zealand’s sustainability agenda in your nearly decade-
long time as Chair? 

A

A

A

Q What are the greatest challenges and opportunities that lie 
ahead for Air New Zealand?

Q Looking ahead, what do you want to see next for  
Air New Zealand?

C O N T E N T S
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Air New Zealand plays a fundamental 

role in enabling the connections 

Aotearoa New Zealand needs to prosper. 
This was especially apparent in 2023, where the airline flew almost 16 

million customers, operated 169,251 flights, and carried 114,000 tonnes 

of cargo around the globe and close to 37,000 tonnes of Aotearoa New 

Zealand exports.

At the heart of achieving these outcomes are incredibly dedicated Air 

New Zealanders who deliver on our promise of Manaaki – taking care 

further than any other airline, every day. 

The past year has proven that an increasingly dynamic operating 

environment is here to stay. Airlines across the globe have dealt with the 

challenges of restarting in a post-Covid world and Air New Zealand has 

not been exempt from these challenges. Over the past 12 months, the 

airline has faced supply chain issues, staff shortages, the rising costs of 

inflation, and significant weather events, all of which have had an impact 

on our customers. We would like to thank customers for their patience 

while the airline gets back on track. 

With all borders being opened for the first time since the pandemic, the 

extensive ramp up of operations in 2023 has led to a substantial increase 

in carbon emissions compared to 2022.

Taking real action and demonstrable steps towards delivering the 

ambitions outlined in our Sustainability Framework, especially those 

around climate action, will be a key component of enhancing our 

operational resilience and maintaining our social licence to operate.

About  
Air New Zealand

C O N T E N T S
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About  
Air New Zealand

2 Scope 3 emissions excludes category 7 (employee commute emissions). 3 The FTSE4Good Index Series is designed to measure the performance of companies demonstrating strong Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) practices.

tonnes of cargo carried 

around the globe
Enrich Aotearoa New Zealand 

by connecting New Zealanders 

to each other and Aotearoa 

New Zealand to the world

Air New Zealand is a constituent of 

the FTSE4Good Index Series3

FTSE4Good

1.2m
litres of SAF imported to Aotearoa 

New Zealand, representing 0.11 

percent of total fuel use

15.8m
customers flown

30
international ports Air New Zealand flies to across Australia, 

the Pacific Islands, North America, and Asia 

3.8m
tonnes of scope 1, 2 and 3 CO2-e 

emissions2

20
domestic network regions serviced 

across Aotearoa New Zealand

4.2m
Airpoints™ members, up 9.7 

percent from the prior year

2023

2023

Airline of the Year awarded by AirlineRatings.com

Most Attractive Employer awarded by Ranstad

Mission Next 
Gen Aircraft
launched to make next generation 

aircraft a reality in Aotearoa New Zealand

#1
Corporate Reputation in New 

Zealand based on 2023 Kantar 

Corporate Reputation index

114,000

A I R  N E W  Z E A L A N D  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T  2 0 2 3
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Our  
sustainability 
framework

Air New Zealand’s Sustainability 

Framework details the four 

priorities of our sustainability 

agenda, which this Sustainability 

Report is framed around: 

• Caring for New Zealanders

• Climate action

• Driving towards a circular 

economy

• Sustainable tourism 

Key focus areas and targets  

are outlined under each of these 

priorities to drive the delivery  

of ambitious action and hold us  

to account.

The focus areas and targets that 

sit underneath the priorities of the 

airline’s Sustainability Framework 

are reported on annually. In 

addition, initiatives to progress our 

sustainability agenda are identified 

as part of the QBR process.

A number of targets detailed in the 

Sustainability Framework expired 

in 2023. As part of a refresh of our 

Sustainability Framework, new 

targets will be introduced in 2024. 

These new targets will also take 

into account the Māori Strategy 

which was presented to the Board 

in 2023. 

Framework development

To develop Air New Zealand’s 

Sustainability Framework, we 

considered feedback from Air 

New Zealand’s Board of Directors, 

Executive, Senior Leaders 

Forum, and our independent 

Sustainability Advisory Panel. We 

also considered feedback from our 

stakeholders, including customers, 

investors, communities, partners, 

key industry and sustainability 

organisations. 

This consultation provided the 

foundation for our materiality 

assessment and enabled us to 

consider the feedback alongside 

the airline’s strategic priorities, 

key risks and opportunities, and 

competitive environment.

We then interviewed key 

internal subject matter experts 

from across the business, and 

asked stakeholders to identify 

environmental, social and 

governance opportunities and 

risks related to Air New Zealand’s 

operations over the short, medium 

and long-term, as well as rate the 

extent to which these impacted the 

following factors:

• Significance of the issue to 

stakeholders

• Importance of the issue to  

Air New Zealand

• Air New Zealand’s ability  

to control and/or influence  

the issue

The material issues identified 

through this consultation process 

were then shared with our 

Sustainability Advisory Panel, 

the Executive and the Board of 

Directors for further consultation 

as part of the development of Kia 

Mau, our company-wide strategy.

The insights gained from this 

materiality assessment and 

continued engagement with our 

key stakeholders enabled us to 

identify the four priorities of our 

Sustainability Framework.

Empowering care of our people, communities, country and planet 

Te whakakaha i te manaakitanga o te tangata, o te hapori,  
o te motu whānui me te ao hoki 

C O N T E N T S
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Sustainable 
Development 
Goals

At the centre of the United Nations 2030 Agenda 

for Sustainable Development are the 17 Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs). 
The SDGs are an urgent call for action by all countries to end poverty, 

protect the planet, and ensure that all people enjoy peace and prosperity. 

Air New Zealand has the ability to positively impact ten of the SDGs 

through the four priorities of our Sustainability Framework. The applicable 

SDGs are referenced within the four priorities of our Framework. 

A I R  N E W  Z E A L A N D  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T  2 0 2 3
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Sustainability Framework
Empowering care of our people, communities, country and planet 

Te whakakaha i te manaakitanga o te tangata, o te hapori, o te motu whānui me te ao hoki

Our 
priorities

Caring for New Zealanders 

Te manaaki i ngā tāngata  
o Aotearoa

Climate action

He mahinga taiao tūturu

Driving towards a circular 
economy 

Te whai i te ōhanga whai hua

Sustainable tourism

He Tāpoi Mau Roa 

Our focus 
areas

• Care for Air New Zealanders 
and nurture a diverse, equitable 
and inclusive workplace

• Care for our customers 
and communities

• Support Aotearoa’s social 
and economic revival

• Decarbonisation target 
and roadmap

• Customer education and 
engagement on climate action

• Strong governance and 
climate-related disclosures

• Support biodiversity and native 
forestry offsetting

• Design and procure with 
a circular mindset

• Reduce single-use plastics

• Support new infrastructure 
and innovation

• Drive waste minimisation 
culture and awareness

• Diversion from landfill

• Sustainable tourism thought 
leadership for Aotearoa

• Endorse Qualmark

• Embrace Tiaki Promise 
and conservation in regions

• Support regional 
and Māori tourism

Our 
targets

Air New Zealand’s employee engagement 
score being in Glint’s Global Top 
Engagement Index1.

Grow access to and use of employee 
assistance support tools (including 
Employee Assistance Programme, 
Peer Support Network and Bullying and 
Harassment Contacts). 

Double our spend with Māori and Pasifika-
owned businesses and social enterprises to 
$24 million, and double our diverse sourcing 
relationships to at least 50 suppliers by the 
end of 2024.

Better connecting Aotearoa New Zealand 
exporters to the world by increasing cargo 
load factors on our widebody international 
network to 85%2 by 2025 (from 67% in 2019).

Set a science-based carbon 
reduction target.

Net zero emissions by 2050. 

10% of Air New Zealand’s total fuel uplift 
is SAF by 2030.  

Removal of 50% of single-use plastic 
items on our international flights  
by 2023 from a 2021 baseline.  
This amounts to the removal of over  
28 million forecasted single-use  
plastic items.

65% of total solid waste diverted from 
landfill by 20233.

Increase annual growth in bookings  
for Qualmark-awarded operators on  
Air New Zealand’s website by 100% by 
2023 from a 2021 baseline.

60% of New Zealanders aware of Tiaki 
Promise by calendar year 20234.

1. Glint’s Global Top Engagement Index is based on employee survey 
results across more than 750 companies surveyed around the globe 
and 175 million data points.

2. Based on the volumetric utilisation of available belly capacity 
(including passenger bags) unless a 100% gross weight load factor 
is achieved sooner.

3. This target covers Air New Zealand’s domestic ground sites and 
airports serviced by our main waste provider. It excludes hazardous 
waste.

4. As measured by Air New Zealand’s Market Monitor that surveys 
400-500 Aotearoa travellers each month.

United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals
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In January, our hub at Auckland 

International Airport experienced 

flooding in the terminal and 

Auckland city experienced 

widespread damage and 

destruction. Less than a month 

later Cyclone Gabrielle devastated 

the East Coast of Aotearoa 

New Zealand, causing loss of 

life, displacement, and severe 

infrastructure damage. Flooding 

wreaked havoc in Nelson in 

August 2022. The need to address 

activities that are continuing to 

worsen the climate emergency 

and simultaneously prepare for 

a warmer future becomes more 

urgent every day.  

As part of an industry reliant on 

fossil fuel, climate change and 

the transition to a low emissions 

economy presents a significant 

challenge for Air New Zealand and 

the aviation industry as a whole. 

The airline is committed to playing 

its part in addressing this challenge 

by taking steps to implement its 

decarbonisation strategy.

This Climate action section of the 

Sustainability Report details the 

airline’s progress and challenges 

it has faced in the year. It is 

structured with reference to the 

Aotearoa New Zealand Climate 

Standards (NZ CS) and the 

Taskforce for Climate-Related 

Financial Disclosures (TCFD). 

The disclosures do not fully 

comply with NZ CS. From 1 July 

2023, the airline will be required 

to disclose in accordance with 

NZ CS. Work is ongoing to enable 

the airline to comply with the new 

reporting regime. 

01

Climate action

12

Our climate is rapidly changing. This year, Aotearoa 

New Zealand experienced the impact of distressing and 

destructive weather events first hand. 

He mahinga 
taiao tūturu

Kiri Hannifin 
Chief Sustainability Officer at Air New Zealand

"It’s easy to fall in love with aviation, especially in a country like 

New Zealand where flying is often the only option we have to visit 

friends and whānau. And, as an island nation in the South Pacific, 

it is also how we see the world. Our purpose is to connect our 

people with each other and to bring the world closer – we get deep 

joy out of living this purpose every day. But we are very mindful 

that flying causes greenhouse gases that are contributing to the 

climate emergency. For a business driven by strong values, and a 

deep love, respect and connection to our land, this is immensely 

challenging. I am proud to work for a business that recognises 

becoming sustainable is its greatest challenge, and I am grateful 

to have a team of more than 11,000 Air New Zealanders committed 

to undertaking the mahi we need to overcome this. The task is 

immense – aviation is one of the most difficult sectors to abate – 

but Air New Zealand’s ambition to this transition is unwavering."

Source:  
Mark Coote
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In addition to their 

contributions at the Air 

New Zealand Board table, 

Dame Therese Walsh, 

Laurissa Cooney and 

Jonathan Mason have 

been recognised by their 

peers as advocates for 

boards addressing climate 

change and appointed to 

the Steering Committee of 

Chapter Zero New Zealand, 

with Dame Therese being 

named as Chair. 

Chapter Zero New Zealand 

is part of a global network of 

board directors committed 

to taking action on climate 

change. It is the local chapter  

of the Climate Governance 

Initiative, and hosted by the  

New Zealand Institute of 

Directors, with a mission to 

mobilise, connect, educate  

and equip directors and 

boards to make climate-

smart governance decisions,  

thereby creating long-term 

value for both shareholders 

and stakeholders. 

In December 2022, Air 

New Zealand Sustainability 

Advisory Panel Chair, 

Sir Jonathon Porritt and 

members Sam Mostyn AO 

and Professor Tim Jackson 

presented at a Chapter Zero 

New Zealand event sharing 

international governance 

insights, on behalf of Air 

New Zealand.

Governance  
body oversight

G O V E R N A N C E

The Board is ultimately responsible 

for the airline’s response to the 

risks and opportunities presented 

by issues related to climate change 

mitigation and adaptation. 

Board oversight is primarily 

through its Audit and Risk 

Committee (ARC), which oversees 

key strategic risks including 

climate change. 

The full Board has oversight 

responsibility and is closely 

engaged as the airline continues 

to develop its strategic 

position, monitor technological 

developments, and establish its 

reporting frameworks under NZ 

CS. The Board receives updates 

from the Chief Sustainability 

Officer on areas of responsibility 

and performance against targets 

on a quarterly basis. In addition, the 

Board engages with Management 

on sustainability matters, including 

the airline's roadmap to its 2030 

science-based target, and 

considered and approved the 

climate scenarios being employed 

by the airline to test the resilience 

of its strategy. 

Biannually, the Board receives 

an update on carbon compliance 

obligations, addressing the airline’s 

compliance with domestic and 

international obligations, including 

the New Zealand Emissions 

Trading Scheme (NZ ETS) and 

the International Civil Aviation 

Organization's Carbon Offsetting 

and Reduction Scheme for 

International Aviation (CORSIA). 

Additional sustainability-related 

matters that the ARC deals with in 

its quarterly schedule, including 

as part of the identification and 

management of strategic risks, 

are advised to the Board following 

each Committee meeting through 

the Committee’s verbal report to 

the Board or as standalone Board 

agenda items where appropriate.   

Strategic climate-related risks 

are also considered by the Board 

as part of the airline’s Group 

Risk Profile which is an output 

of the airline’s Enterprise Risk 

Management Framework (ERMF). 

Climate change risk, currently 

rated ‘Very High’ is the highest 

rated risk on Air New Zealand’s 

Group Risk Profile.

The Board is comprised of directors 

who bring diverse perspectives, 

and demonstrate a variety of skills, 

experience and competencies. On 

climate-related issues, the Board 

continue to actively increase their 

knowledge of climate change, its 

impacts and the mitigation and  

adaptation options available to the 

airline and the aviation industry.  

The Board is committed to 

developing its climate capability 

to continue to provide effective 

oversight of climate-related risks 

and opportunities.  

The airline’s external Sustainability 

Advisory Panel (refer to page 4) 

provides independent advice to 

the Board and Management on 

the climate-related aspects of the 

airline’s sustainability strategy. 

This assists the airline to improve 

and develop its strategic response 

to the impacts of climate change. 

The Sustainability Advisory Panel 

meets with the Board biannually.

The Board of Directors considers and provides direction on 

the airline’s consideration of the impacts of climate change.

C L I M A T E  A C T I O N

Sir Jonathon Porritt, Chair of Air New Zealand’s Sustainability Advisory Panel
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Governance  
body oversight

The airline’s Risk Appetite 

Statement guides the Board 

when developing and overseeing 

implementation of the airline’s 

strategy. In December 2022 the 

Board implemented a new Risk 

Appetite Statement, including 

a section dedicated to climate 

change, to provide clarity about 

the nature and degree of risks that 

can be taken and the rationale for 

those positions. 

There is a requirement for 

Board papers to include explicit 

discussion of the sustainability 

impacts of the topic or 

proposal being presented. This 

includes (but is not limited to) 

consideration of alternatives 

where possible, climate-related 

risks and opportunities and where 

applicable will quantify any change 

in greenhouse gas emissions. 

Board papers also consider 

relevant risk appetite factors, and 

provide visibility of compliance of 

material climate risk impacts with 

the Board’s risk appetite.

The metrics and targets for 

managing climate-related risks 

and opportunities are primarily 

guided by the airline’s roadmap 

to meet its 2030 science-based 

target. This roadmap defines the 

annual waypoints and milestones 

on the path to achieving the 

science-based carbon reduction 

target. Commencing in the 2024 

financial year, the Board will 

receive six-monthly updates on 

progress against the target. 

Additional metrics and targets 

may be identified by the Board, 

ARC or Management that are 

focused on specific climate-

related risks or opportunities  

and appropriate to the 

management of those risks  

within the broader framework. 

G O V E R N A N C E Progress against our 2030 science-based carbon 

reduction target has been incorporated into the 

airline’s Short-Term Incentive Scheme with effect 

from the 2024 financial year. The Scheme includes 

a broad range of business measures to promote 

collaboration through shared objectives1. 15 percent 

of the incentive will be based on meeting the annual 

carbon intensity target. 

1 Refer to the Corporate Governance Statement in the 2023 Annual Report for more detail on the full Short-Term Incentive Scheme.
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In November 2022, Kiri Hannifin joined the airline as the airline's first Chief 

Sustainability Officer. The Chief Sustainability Officer is a member of the 

Executive and reports to the Chief Executive Officer. 

Climate-related workstreams are the responsibility of the full Executive, 

the Chief Sustainability Officer, operational management, and the 

Sustainability team.

Management focus is given to risk identification and ensuring that 

climate-related activities are adequately resourced and implemented, 

for example, programmes of work relating to Sustainable Aviation Fuel 

(SAF), next generation aircraft, operational optimisation, and regulatory 

compliance. Key issues are reported up to the Board and the ARC  

as appropriate. 

Management prepare Quarterly Business Review memos outlining 

priorities for the next quarter. As a pillar of the company wide strategy, Kia 

Mau, climate matters are capable of being elevated to ensure sufficient 

resource is dedicated to climate-related projects. 

Given the airline’s 2030 science-based carbon reduction target, 

Management has agreed a quarterly governance cadence to monitor 

the airline’s performance against its target to ensure focus is maintained 

across all identified mitigation levers, throughout the organisation. 

Progress reports will be provided to the Board on a six-monthly basis. 

These meetings will commence in the 2024 financial year.

Embedding climate risk in business decisions remains a focus area for 

the airline and Management. In 2023, Air New Zealand piloted an internal 

carbon tax on its flagship ultra long-haul route, Auckland to New York 

return - NZ1 and NZ2. An internal carbon tax applies an internal carbon 

price to an activity, and creates a dedicated revenue or investment  

stream which Air New Zealand ringfenced for investment in  

sustainability initiatives.

The internal carbon tax pilot has been extended for the next financial 

year. It has been expanded to include operations to and from Chicago 

and Houston. The expanded pilot will provide learnings to inform 

consideration of a permanent internal carbon tax on select routes, as well 

as a broader shadow carbon price to help inform internal decision making.

The Corporate Governance Statement in the 2023 Annual Report includes 

details of Air New Zealand’s organisational structure, showing where 

Board and Management-level positions and committees lie.

Governance focus for next financial year:

• Commence 2030 science-based carbon reduction 

target governance forum to monitor and drive 

progress against target 

• Establish the system and process for better 

incorporating climate risk in investment decisions, 

capital deployment and financial planning

• Continue to build climate capability, awareness  

and competence

Management’s 
role in assessing 
and managing 
climate-related 
risks and 
opportunities

Management has day-to-day responsibility for identifying  

and managing climate-related risks and opportunities.

G O V E R N A N C E
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Current impacts

S T R A T E G Y

Scope of international aviation regulation

At the 41st ICAO Assembly in October 2022, ICAO Member States 

adopted a collective long-term global aspirational goal of net zero 

carbon emissions by 2050. Member States also agreed on a new 

lower CORSIA baseline from 2024, defined as 85 percent of CO2 

emissions in calendar year 2019. These changes did not result in 

any financial impact in the year.

Climate change is already directly and indirectly impacting the airline and its operations. In the reporting 

period, the following impacts have been realised.

Access to SAF

Premium paid on import of SAF 

In September 2022, the airline imported 1.2 million litres of SAF 

to Aotearoa New Zealand. The purpose of the import was to test 

the supply chain and understand the true cost of importing SAF to 

Aotearoa New Zealand. As Aotearoa New Zealand does not offer 

any subsidies or incentives for SAF, the airline faced the full cost of 

the product, paying a premium of around 4 times the price of jet fuel. 

The emissions reductions were not recognised under the NZ ETS.

Investment in Feasibility Study

In June 2023, following a detailed evaluation process, the airline 

in partnership with the New Zealand Government, announced 

it would proceed to the second phase of a detailed feasibility 

study considering the viability of domestically produced SAF. 

The second phase of the study will involve LanzaJet and Fulcrum 

BioEnergy considering the viability of SAF production in Aotearoa 

New Zealand using woody biomass and municipal solid waste as 

feedstocks respectively. Air New Zealand will commit research and 

development funding in excess of $1.5 million to the studies (with 

the funding being provided in the 2024 financial year).

Carbon pricing

In 2023, the airline faced compliance obligations relating to 

greenhouse gas emissions. 

New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme

Air New Zealand is a participant in the NZ ETS and has an 

obligation to report greenhouse gas emissions generated from 

fuel use on all domestic flights and then purchase and surrender to 

the Government an equal number of New Zealand Units to match 

those emissions. In the 2022 calendar year, the airline’s NZ ETS 

obligation was 557,841 tonnes CO2-e. The airline’s compliance cost 

for the same period under the ETS was $27.1 million, up from $14.4 

million in the 2021 calendar year, $14.5 million in the 2020 calendar 

year and $14.6 million in the 2019 calendar year. 

The airline continues to advocate for NZ ETS auction proceeds to be 

used to accelerate the development and deployment of technologies 

to enable aviation decarbonisation and to ensure voluntary purchases 

of SAF can be fully recognised by the party investing in the emissions 

reductions (as allowed in other emissions trading schemes 

internationally). As such, the airline’s import of SAF in September 

2022 was not recognised in the NZ ETS in the 2022 calendar year. 

International Civil Aviation Organization’s Carbon Offsetting and 

Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)

For emissions generated in international airspace, Aotearoa 

New Zealand participates in the International Civil Aviation 

Organization’s (ICAO) CORSIA scheme. This requires the airline to 

monitor, report and verify its annual international emissions and 

purchase and cancel eligible units for any sectoral growth over a 

2019 baseline. In the 2022 calendar year, the airline did not face an 

obligation under the CORSIA scheme.
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Current 
impacts

2 The National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research. 2023, Auckland suffers wettest month in history, accessed 2 August 2023, <https://niwa.co.nz/news/auckland-suffers-wettest-month-in-history> 3 Ibid. NIWA Climate Scientist Dr Sam Dean stated "The Earth has warmed by about 1.1 °C already because 
of human activity and this extra heat gives more power to extreme rainfall. All other things being equal, we would expect climate change to contribute between 10-20% more rain in the most intense part of this storm.” 4 The World Weather Attribution is an initiative led by climate scientists from Imperial College 
London that works to quantify the role of climate change in extreme weather events. 5 The National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research. 2023, In the wake of Gabrielle, accessed 2 August 2023, <https://niwa.co.nz/publications/water-and-atmosphere/water-atmosphere-29-june-2023/in-the-wake-of-
gabrielle#:~:text=The%20rapid%20nature%20of%20the,far%20the%20most%20likely%20explanation>

S T R A T E G Y

Auckland flooding event

In January 2023 a significant rainfall event occurred in the Auckland area, resulting in widespread surface 

flooding and damage across many suburbs and parts of Auckland. A State of Regional Emergency was 

declared in Auckland on the evening of 27 January. 

While consistent rainfall commenced on 26 January, the serious deluge commenced in the early evening 

of 27 January. Rainfall continued through to 3 February. The rainfall stressed the stormwater systems 

of the city and those of individual buildings and sites, to the point that widespread flooding and water 

ingress damage resulted.

The National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA) reported that the expected rain for 

the entire summer (258mm) fell within one day (27 January)2. NIWA noted that the event was made more 

intense due to the influence of climate change3.

Air New Zealand is headquartered in Auckland and its main hub is located in Auckland. The domestic 

and international terminal buildings are owned and operated by Auckland International Airport Limited. 

Certain areas of each terminal are leased to the airline. 

The entire ground floor of the international terminal was inundated with flood water to a depth of up to 

300mm. Parts of the domestic terminal also experienced water ingress. Automatic bag drop machines, 

baggage belts and fittings in the dedicated Air New Zealand check-in area of the international terminal 

experienced damage. 

Employees and customers were displaced until the working environment was temporarily restored. 

Both loss of equipment and facilities caused mass disruption to the airline’s operations. All domestic and 

international travel was suspended due to damage sustained by the airline and to airport facilities. 821 

flights were cancelled, impacting 49,000 customers, including 6,500 international customers. Domestic 

flights resumed on 28 January, and international flights resumed on 29 January. 

The event impacted the airline’s operations, employees and customers, and the Group Emergency 

Management Team was activated.

Refer to the Responding to crisis section on page 44 for more information.

Cyclone Gabrielle

Within a fortnight of the Auckland flooding event, from 11 to 14 February, 

Aotearoa New Zealand faced Cyclone Gabrielle. Northland, Auckland, 

Waikato, Tairāwhiti Gisborne and Hawke's Bay experienced heavy 

rain, strong winds, river flooding and landslides.

Analysis conducted by NIWA and World Weather Attribution4 found 

evidence in rainfall measurements that very heavy rainfall is now 

more common in the areas affected by the cyclone, with climate 

change by far the most likely explanation5. 

The Group Emergency Management Team was activated in 

advance of Cyclone Gabrielle reaching Aotearoa New Zealand. 

Preventative measures were taken prior to the arrival of the cyclone, 

including the relocation of aircraft to other parts of the country and 

pre-emptive cancellation of flights. 

The airline experienced no damage to assets caused by the 

cyclone. However the airline did experience significant business 

interruption due to flight cancellations.    

The airline, in coordination with Government agencies deployed 

a special assistance flight, carrying communication support, 

emergency supplies and airport operational staff into  

Tairāwhiti Gisborne. 

The cost of Cyclone Gabrielle on the business will not be 

recoverable under insurance policies held. 

Refer to the Responding to crisis section on page 44 for more 

information.

Air New Zealand acknowledges that climate change will increase the frequency and / or the severity of 

adverse weather events. Disclosures are provided on the basis that the following weather events were 

made more intense, more likely, or both due to climate change.
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• C02 emissions reach net  

zero by 2050 as green  

energy dominates

• Aotearoa New Zealand invests 

heavily in green energy and 

experiences sharply increasing 

carbon prices

• Aviation decarbonises rapidly, 

bolstered by rapid technology 

advancement, favourable 

policy settings, and customers 

prioritising climate-conscious 

businesses

• CO2 emissions remain at  

current levels until 2050 as 

green energy becomes the 

majority source

• Aotearoa New Zealand 

experiences a sharp rise in 

carbon prices and increased 

investments in green energy

• Aviation technology advances 

steadily, with policy settings 

supporting the industry's 

transition. Customers prioritise 

climate-focused businesses if 

price is comparable

• CO2 emissions double by 2100, 

with incremental gains in  

green energy

• Aotearoa New Zealand 

experiences a carbon price 

increase and moderate green 

energy investment

• Aviation technology advances 

slower than anticipated, 

with limited policy support 

and limited SAF incentives. 

Customers prioritise price over  

climate concerns

• CO2 emissions double by 2050, 

with no gains in green energy

• Aotearoa New Zealand's  

carbon price remains stable; 

there is minimal investment in 

green energy

• Aviation technology advances 

significantly slower than 

anticipated, with no policy 

support or SAF incentives. 

Customers prioritise price over 

climate concerns

1.5°C 

SSP1; RCP1.9

2.7°C 

SSP2; RCP4.5

3.6°C 

SSP3; RCP7.0

4.4°C 

SSP5; RCP8.5

Scenario  
analysis

Transition risks were analysed over three different time horizons: short-term (0 – 3 years), mid-term (3 – 10 

years) and long-term (10 – 30 years). Physical risks6 were analysed out to 2100. The airline’s four climate change 

scenarios each represent different climate warming and transition trajectories. 

These four trajectories were chosen to align with the NZ CS requirement to develop at least three scenarios, 

including at least one 1.5̊ C scenario and at least one 3˚C or greater scenario. 

The four scenarios use Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Shared Socioeconomic Pathways 

(SSP) and Representative Concentration Pathways (RCP) as a foundation to ensure plausibility and were 

developed with reference to the External Reporting Board (XRB) guidance to form internally consistent scenarios.

In 2023, the airline conducted scenario analysis to identify climate-related risks and opportunities,  

to test the resilience of the airline’s current decarbonisation strategy and to prepare the airline to meet  

its regulatory obligations under NZ CS. 

6 The physical analysis considered Aotearoa and the Pacific Islands. The rest of the Air New Zealand network will be considered in the 2024 financial year.  
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1. Global climate 

and socioeconomic 

pathway

• Temperature outcomes

• Socioeconomic outcomes

• Each scenario starts with a global climate and socioeconomic base

• Pathways were adopted from IPCC AR6 scenarios – they are derived 

from Shared Socioeconomic Pathways (SSP) and Representative 

Concentration Pathway (RCP) combinations

2. Global energy 

pathway

• Electricity (renewables)

• Hydrogen (green)

• Liquid fuel (SAF)

• Global energy pathways generally flow from IPCC scenarios

• Some assumptions made on basis of 'what needs to be true' for the 

global climate pathways to hold

3. Aotearoa New 

Zealand-specific 

impacts

• Aotearoa New Zealand physical and 

climate impacts

• Aotearoa New Zealand energy impacts

• Aotearoa New Zealand market and 

financial impacts (incl. cost of carbon)

• Aotearoa New Zealand-specific assumptions made on basis of  

'what needs to be true' for global climate and global energy 

pathways to hold

• Informed by best estimates from Aotearoa New Zealand research 

papers and expert and internal input, adjusted for scenarios

4. Aviation-specific 

developments

• Technology development

• Operations

• Policy environment

• Customer demand for aviation

• Aviation-specific assumptions made on basis of 'what needs to be true' 

for global climate, global energy pathways, Aotearoa-specific impacts 

to hold

• Informed by best estimates from aviation research papers and expert 

and internal input, adjusted for scenarios

Scenario  
analysis

The scenarios were developed by 

making selections across four sets 

of parameters:

Further physical risk analysis will continue in the 2024 financial year. The first phase of modelling considered activities and assets in Aotearoa New 

Zealand and the Pacific Islands. The next phase of physical climate risk analysis will extend to activities and assets in the rest of the global network, 

including Australia, Asia and North America. 

The transition risk modelling demonstrated the interconnected nature of the risks faced by the airline and revealed areas of the airline’s climate strategy 

requiring further analysis. The airline will continue to build on this scenario analysis to deepen its understanding of the impacts of climate change under 

different warming scenarios, the resilience of the airline's strategy in the face of these, and the potential resulting material financial implications.

Parameters Key parameter categories ApproachS T R A T E G Y
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Transition risks

The transition risks defined below have been informed by the climate-related scenario modelling outlined above.

Time frame: S  Short-term = 0-3 years M  Mid-term = 3-10 years L  Long-term = 10-30 years

TCFD risk 
category

Climate-related risk Potential financial impact Term Strategic response and mitigations

General

Policy and legal The risk of new or increased regulation to monitor and / or address 
activities, organisations or sectors that contribute to climate 
change. This could include:

• Expansion of the NZ ETS to include international aviation 
emissions

• Establishment of domestic aviation carbon reduction targets 
for Aotearoa New Zealand

• Inclusion of non-CO
2
 emissions in CORSIA7 and / or NZ ETS

• CORSIA fails to implement sufficient offsetting requirements 
resulting in unilateral regulation and as a consequence 
competitive distortions

Increasing the coverage of the NZ ETS to include international 
aviation emissions would increase the price of fossil jet fuel, 
increasing operating expenditure and contributing to higher 
airfares. However, increasing the price of fossil jet fuel would close 
the commercial gap between fossil jet fuel and SAF.

Domestic aviation carbon reduction targets could result in policies 
that limit domestic aviation growth. However, policies could also 
be established that support the use and affordability of SAF in 
Aotearoa New Zealand.

Including non-CO
2
 emissions in CORSIA and / or NZ ETS would 

increase the coverage of the schemes and would thereby increase 
the price of fossil jet fuel and contribute to higher airfares.

If CORSIA is perceived to be inadequate, unilateral country-
specific compliance obligations could arise, leading to competitive 
distortions and presenting a risk to revenue.

S

M

L

Implementation of the airline’s decarbonisation strategy to achieve reductions in gross 
carbon emissions, including improvements to operational efficiency, ongoing fleet 
renewal, investment in and advocacy for accelerating the availability and commercial 
viability of SAF, and advocacy and planning for next generation aircraft.

Future carbon pricing assumptions considered in operational and strategic planning.

Advocacy: 

• to ensure emissions reductions enabled by voluntary purchases of SAF are properly 
reflected and allocated in the NZ ETS (as they are in other emissions trading 
schemes internationally).

• for domestic policies that support and accelerate gross emissions reductions within 
the aviation sector.

• providing ongoing support for a robust CORSIA scheme to reduce the risk of 
unilateral regulation arising. 

Engagement with:

• the New Zealand Climate Change Commission regarding its consideration of 
international aviation emissions.

• Sustainable Aviation Aotearoa regarding domestic aviation targets, international 
aviation emissions, non-CO

2
 emissions and policy measures that will drive gross 

emissions reduction from the sector.

Monitoring international regulatory developments to understand risk and opportunities.

Market The risk associated with the way markets could be affected by 
climate change, including through shifts in supply and demand. 
This could include:

• Changing consumer behaviour

• Uncertainty in market signals

• Increased cost of raw materials

Increasingly climate conscious customers – leisure and business 
travellers seeking to reduce their own emissions footprint may 
reduce air travel consumption, resulting in reduced demand and 
reduced revenue. 

By the airline moving early to reduce its emissions, fares may need 
to increase before competitor fares do causing price sensitive 
customers to switch airlines, resulting in reduced demand and 
reduced revenue.

Access to capital and insurance could reduce and the cost of 
capital and insurance could increase if demonstrable progress  
is insufficient. 

S

M

L

Implementation of the airline’s decarbonisation strategy to achieve reductions in gross 
carbon emissions, including improvements to operational efficiency, ongoing fleet 
renewal, investment in and advocacy to accelerate the availability and commercial 
viability of SAF, and advocacy and planning for next generation aircraft.

Raise industry decarbonisation expectations and support mechanisms like 
international and domestic mandates that result in all airlines facing similar SAF costs.  

Building on current carbon reporting provided to corporate customers, providing Air 
New Zealand-specific carbon data to better inform customers as to their emissions 
footprint from travel. 

Developing a corporate and cargo SAF purchasing programme, to enable emissions 
reductions in-line with the Science Based Targets initiative guidelines.

Reputation The risk to reputation and brand associated with changing 
customer or community perceptions of the aviation sectors 
contribution to climate change. This could include:

• Shifts in consumer preferences

• Stigmatisation of the aviation sector

• Increased stakeholder concern

Increasingly climate conscious customers – leisure and business 
travellers seeking to reduce their own emissions footprint may 
reduce air travel consumption, resulting in reduced demand and 
reduced revenue. 

Stakeholders, including customers, employees, investors, lenders, 
suppliers and insurers may push for more ambitious action from 
the airline. 

S

M

L

Position the airline as progressive on climate matters, by implementing the airline’s 
decarbonisation strategy to achieve reductions in gross carbon emissions, including 
improvements to operational efficiency, ongoing fleet renewal, investment in and 
advocacy to accelerate the availability and commercial viability of SAF, and advocacy 
and planning for next generation aircraft.

Provide transparent public disclosures to inform and educate stakeholders. 

Tr
an

si
ti

on
 R

is
ks

S T R A T E G Y

7 The International Civil Aviation Organization’s Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation. 
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TCFD risk 
category

Climate-related risk Potential financial impact Term Strategic response and mitigations

SAF related transition risks

Policy and legal The risk of limited, delayed or non-existent government support 
for SAF adoption. This could include:

• Lack of government support for SAF adoption in North 
America and / or current policy support is removed

• Lack of government support for SAF adoption in Aotearoa 
New Zealand, Australia and Asia

• Globally approved Book and Claim mechanisms do not 
develop as expected resulting in Air New Zealand having to 
procure physical SAF in Aotearoa New Zealand

• The risk of exposure to litigation or greenwashing claims 
based on SAF related statements

Lack of government support and / or removal of existing  
subsidies could result in increased SAF costs, increasing  
operating expenditure.

Lack of government support for SAF in the Asia Pacific region 
could result in less SAF supply in the region and more expensive 
product, increasing operating expenditure and creating 
competitive distortions. Lack of policy support in Aotearoa 
New Zealand could result in limited access to physical SAF 
domestically. 

The introduction of SAF mandates in the Asia Pacific region 
without associated incentives to address the cost of the product 
could increase operating expenditure.

Access to a globally endorsed Book and Claim mechanism would 
enable access to SAF without having to physically procure SAF in 
Aotearoa New Zealand resulting in access to lower cost SAF. 

Greenwashing claims, litigation or fines could increase costs and / 
or reduce demand for services.

M

L

Advocacy in Aotearoa New Zealand

• Advocacy to support the supply and commercial viability of SAF in Aotearoa New 
Zealand. This includes advocating for a SAF specific mandate, access to feedstocks, 
SAF incentives, and SAF-specific policies to support the establishment of import 
supply chains and domestic production (including for Power-to-Liquid SAF).

• Engagement in Sustainable Aviation Aotearoa, the public private body designed to 
support aviation decarbonisation in Aotearoa New Zealand, including the working 
group dedicated to increasing access to and supply of SAF in Aotearoa New Zealand. 

• Partnership with the New Zealand government to explore domestic SAF production in 
Aotearoa New Zealand, to secure local supply and improve fuel security.

• Engagement with New Zealand government on the use of SAF in the NZ ETS.

• Engagement with New Zealand government, Trade and Tourism industries regarding 
the role of SAF.

Advocacy in Asia-Pacific region

• Advocacy and engagement with Australian government, policy makers and the 
Australian Jet Zero Council to support the supply and commercial viability of SAF  
in Australia.

• Advocacy for SAF via Bioenergy Australia and the Sustainable Aviation Fuel Alliance 
Australia and New Zealand (SAFAANZ).

• Advocacy and engagement with governments and policy makers to support the 
supply and commercial viability of SAF in Asia.

• Advocacy to prioritise feedstocks for hard to-abate sectors.

• Participation in World Economic Forum’s Clean Skies for Tomorrow Coalition.

• Advocate for robust sustainability criteria for SAF within regulatory frameworks 
(including mandates) and within the sector for voluntary SAF purchases. 

• Advocate for and support the development of Power-to-Liquid SAF to reduce reliance 
on biogenic SAF. 
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Time frame: S  Short-term = 0-3 years M  Mid-term = 3-10 years L  Long-term = 10-30 years
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TCFD risk 
category

Climate-related risk Potential financial impact Term Strategic response and mitigations

SAF related transition risks (continued)

Technology The risk associated with substitution of fossil jet fuel with SAF  
to support the transition to a low emissions economy. This  
could include: 

• SAF feedstock limitations

• Operating and capital costs for SAF pathways do not decline 
as expected

• Power-to-Liquid SAF and already approved SAF technology 
pathways do not deliver expected emissions reductions as 
they scale 

• Unsuccessful investment in new technologies

Cost of SAF is around 2 to 5 times the cost of fossil jet fuel. Uplift 
of SAF will increase operating expenditure.

SAF supply limitations could result in increased compliance costs 
and associated reputational damage. 

Research and development expenditure in feasibility studies 
considering domestic production of SAF.

S

M

L

Support for Book and Claim

• Advocacy and engagement in support of robust Book and Claim mechanisms  
with the Roundtable of Sustainable Biomass and the World Economic Forum (WEF) 
SAFc programme.

• Participation in the WEF SAFc trial in June 2023.

• Advocacy and engagement with New Zealand government and stakeholders 
regarding the role and recognition of Book-and-Claim in Aotearoa New Zealand.

• Education for customers regarding Book-and-Claim.

SAF Procurement and supply

• Geographically diversify SAF supply.

• Diversify across feedstocks with varying emissions reduction factors.

• Negotiate contractual mechanisms with potential SAF suppliers including 
provisions to exit or reduce volume if subsidies are not available or are rescinded.

• Collaboration with partner airlines on developing global SAF supply, including via 
Star Alliance membership.

• Adhere to strict sustainability criteria for SAF procurement.

Disclosures

• Provide transparent public disclosures regarding SAF, including the proportions of 
SAF and fossil jet fuel purchased.

Market The market risk associated with SAF. This could include:

• Inability to access sufficient SAF supply to meet public targets

• SAF prices fall but contractually locked into higher offtake 
prices, particularly in the Asia Pacific region

• SAF prices increase, but not fast enough to contract at lower 
prices, particularly in North America region

• Air New Zealand enters into contracts with unfavourable 
terms relative to competitors

Not accessing sufficient volumes of SAF to meet public targets 
could result in reputational damage.

Inability to secure competitive SAF prices could result in increased 
operating expenditure and competitive distortions. 

S

M

L

Reputation The risk to brand and reputation associated with the use of SAF. 
This could include: 

• Use of SAF feedstocks that offer limited environmental 
benefits or cause perverse environmental outcomes

• Customers may not accept SAF as an abatement lever

• The risk of exposure to litigation or greenwashing claims 
based on SAF related statements

Adhering to robust sustainability criteria in the procurement 
of SAF may result in lower SAF supply and / or higher prices, 
resulting in increased operating expenditure.  

Greenwashing claims, litigation or fines could increase costs and / 
or reduce demand for services. Greenwashing claims or litigation 
could erode trust in the brand.  

S

M

L
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TCFD risk 
category

Climate-related risk Potential financial impact Term Strategic response and mitigations

Next generation aircraft related transition risks

Policy and legal The risk of limited, delayed or non-existent government support for 
next generation aircraft development and use. This could include:

• Aviation regulator in Aotearoa New Zealand limiting or delaying 
the use of next generation aircraft in Aotearoa New Zealand

• Protracted development of regulatory, compliance and safety 
standards for next generation aircraft

• Lack of government support for green hydrogen development and 
adoption in Aotearoa New Zealand

• Lack of government support for scaling of renewable electricity 
generation in Aotearoa New Zealand

• The risk of exposure to litigation or greenwashing claims based on 
limited progress against stated next generation aircraft aspiration

Delayed regulations could slow or constrain the use of new 
technologies (and the pace of development of new technologies), 
limiting the ability to generate revenue from these new aircraft. Lack 
of government support could result in increased cost of renewable 
energy and green hydrogen, increasing operating expenditure.  

Greenwashing claims, litigation or fines could increase costs and / or 
reduce demand for services.

S

M

L

Advocacy In Aotearoa New Zealand 

• For new policy measures to support the development and deployment of next 
generation aircraft, including more government resourcing to expedite regulatory and 
standard setting processes.

• To inform future renewable electricity demand scenarios and infrastructure 
requirements. 

• For green hydrogen policy support, including de-risking first of a kind innovations and 
ongoing affordability interventions.

• Engagement in Sustainable Aviation Aotearoa, including the working group dedicated to 
deployment of next generation aircraft in Aotearoa New Zealand.

• Member of the Hydrogen Consortium, alongside Airbus, Christchurch Airport, Fortescue 
Future Industries, Hiringa Energy and Fabrum, launched to support next generation 
aviation in Aotearoa. The consortium is examining the regulations, policies and 
incentives required to support green hydrogen use in aviation. 

• Participation in the World Economic Forum’s Target True Zero coalition. 

Technology and infrastructure

• Ongoing engagement with commercial demonstrator partners and long-term next 
generation aircraft partners to support the development of these aircraft, including 
providing the airline’s own specifications and network requirements.

• Potential investment in commercial demonstrator project to understand true cost of 
aircraft, operating realities, and readiness of Aotearoa New Zealand for next  
generation aircraft.

• Engagement with airports in Aotearoa New Zealand regarding infrastructure and 
energy requirements for next generation aircraft.

• Partnership with Airbus to explore the deployment of hydrogen-powered aircraft in 
Aotearoa New Zealand.

• Hydrogen Consortium analysing green hydrogen supply chain in Aotearoa  
New Zealand. 

Early adoption

• Negotiate contractual mechanisms to exit contracts if prices fall significantly.

• Seek third-party support to de-risk first of a kind investment in next generation aircraft.

Technology The risk associated with adoption and deployment of novel propulsion 
next generation aircraft to support the transition to a low emissions 
economy. This could include:

• Late availability of next generation aircraft

• Higher than expected incremental capital expenditure and / or 
maintenance costs

• Production costs for green hydrogen do not decline as expected, 
increasing energy costs

• Network limitations due to lack of required airport infrastructure

• Limited talent availability for maintenance and operation of next 
generation aircraft

Late availability of next generation aircraft will increase volumes of SAF 
required, potentially increasing operating costs and compliance costs.

Capital investment(s) in new aircraft technologies could be higher than 
anticipated.

Procurement of green hydrogen could increase operating expenditure 
if production costs do not decline. 

Lack of airport infrastructure could limit the network flown by next 
generation aircraft, reducing revenue due to limits on aircraft use. 

Limited availability of qualified employees could increase workforce 
expenditure and lead to increased expenditure on employee attraction 
and retention.  

New practices and processes associated with next generation aircraft 
could increase the costs associated with deployment. 

M

L

Market The market risk associated with next generation aircraft. This could include:

• Inability to access enough energy due to limited green  
hydrogen availability

• Green hydrogen prices fall but contractually locked into higher 
offtake prices

• Curse of early adoption for next generation aircraft - costs could 
come down for later models

Inability to secure competitive energy prices could result in increased 
operating expenditure.

S

M

L

Reputation The risk to brand and reputation associated with the use of next 
generation aircraft. This could include:

• Limited social licence to consume renewable energy (renewable 
electricity, green hydrogen) if not demonstrably additional

• The risk of exposure to litigation or greenwashing claims based on 
limited progress against stated next generation aircraft aspirations

The renewable electricity consumed by a next generation aircraft fleet 
(directly or as an input to creating green hydrogen) could introduce 
reputational or brand damage if it diverts renewable resources from 
other parts of the economy.

Greenwashing claims, litigation or fines could increase costs and / or 
reduce demand for services. Greenwashing claims or litigation could 
erode trust in the brand.  

M

L
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Transition risks, continued

S T R A T E G Y

Time frame: S  Short-term = 0-3 years M  Mid-term = 3-10 years L  Long-term = 10-30 years
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TCFD risk 
category

Climate-related risk Potential financial impact Term Strategic response and mitigations

Acute Risk of increasing frequency and / or severity of extreme weather 
events resulting in disruption to flights and the wider network. 

Decreased or disrupted flying could reduce revenue and increase 
operational expenditure. 

Damage to infrastructure presents risk of increasing capital costs. 

Increased insurance premiums and potential for reduced 
availability of insurance on assets in “high risk” locations.

Increased operating expenditure caused by airports passing on 
adaptation costs.  

S

M

L

Implementation of flight planning software using advanced data analytics to optimise flight 
paths both in planning and dynamically once aircraft are airborne.

Thunderstorm detection technologies and reporting systems are established across the 
aircraft fleet. Pilot training and qualifications extensively cover meteorological phenomena 
including Aotearoa New Zealand specific conditions. Operating policies specifically 
provide additional holding fuel when thunderstorms are forecast to provide assurance of 
flexibility to avoid thunderstorms enroute and at airports. 

At Nelson Airport, a bunding system has been implemented to mitigate against future 
flooding events. This system was effective in mitigating flood damage during the Nelson 
flooding event in August 2022. 

Investment in contact centre resource and training to better serve customers in periods  
of disruption. 

Customers provided pre-emptive ability to manage flights where disruption predicted.

Chronic Risk of longer-term shifts in climate patterns (including sustained 
higher temperatures, sea level rise, changing precipitation  
patterns) that may cause network disruption and loss of access to 
airports, other aviation support facilities, critical infrastructure and 
supply chains. 

Decreased or disrupted flying could reduce revenue and increase 
operational expenditure.

Damage to infrastructure presents risk of increasing capital costs.

Increased insurance premiums and potential for reduced 
availability of insurance on assets in “high risk” locations.

Increased operating expenditure caused by airports passing on 
adaptation costs.  

S

M

L

Spatial master planning process identifies infrastructure risks and these are reflected in 
master planning.

Ensuring maintenance is fit for purpose and current to legislation and regulation for 
building resilience.

P
hy
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ca

l R
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ks

Physical risks are risks arising from changes in the regional and global climate and the consequential impacts and events. These may include acute physical damage from variations in weather patterns (for example severe 

storms, coastal/tidal flooding, drought) or chronic impacts (for example sea level rise and temperature increase). 

Physical risks

S T R A T E G Y

Time frame: S  Short-term = 0-3 years M  Mid-term = 3-10 years L  Long-term = 10-30 years
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Air New 
Zealand's 
transition plan

In 2020 Air New Zealand announced its ambition to reach net zero carbon 

emissions by 2050, ahead of the International Air Transport Association’s 

(IATA) industry commitment. In 2023, an ambitious science-based 

carbon reduction target was set to guide progress in the period to 2030. 

The 2030 target is both ambitious and aspirational and will be challenging 

to deliver. Notwithstanding the significant challenges, it is embedded in 

the company strategy, Kia Mau, to ensure the airline consistently aims 

high, regularly monitors and maintains the necessary momentum to drive 

the transition to a lower emissions operating model. 

Progressing these targets will require a range of levers – some of which 

Air New Zealand can control and others that will require collaboration 

across the aviation industry and with policy makers to progress.

Levers we control:

Operational 

efficiency

Continued  

fleet renewal

Optimising carbon efficiency from 

flight and ground operations

Rollover of current fleet to new aircraft 

that achieve greater fuel efficiency 

Air New Zealand’s transition plan is guided by its long-term 

and interim carbon reduction targets. 

S T R A T E G Y

2030
Reduce carbon intensity by 28.9 percent by 2030, 

compared to a 2019 baseline.

Developed with reference to the Science Based Target initiative’s 

aviation methodology. Validated by the Science Based Target initiative.

Levers that rely on collaboration with 
industry and policy makers: 

SAF

Non-fossil derived jet fuel, lifecycle 

carbon reduction savings,  

compatible with existing aircraft 

without modification

Next generation 

aircraft

Future green hydrogen, battery or 

hybrid aircraft technologies

Carbon removal 

solutions

Credible carbon removal solutions 

aligned to international best practice

Our success to deliver on 

the targets will require 

governments, customers, 

innovators and others to all 

play their part, alongside 

the airline. 

Air New Zealand is focused 

on using its platform to 

influence and drive positive 

change in areas beyond its 

control. Advocacy forms 

a key component of the 

airline’s decarbonisation 

strategy.

2050
Achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

Developed with reference to the IATA resolution to achieve net zero 

carbon emissions by 2050.
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Transition plan 
SAF

It was a year of firsts, with the airline receiving its first SAF import to 

Aotearoa New Zealand, trialling its first book and claim SAF transaction, 

closing the first stage of its SAF domestic production feasibility study and 

moving to the second stage of feasibility consideration. 

At the beginning of the year, the airline announced it would aim for 1 

percent of its jet fuel use in the year to be SAF. The airline encountered 

a number of challenges in pursuit of this target, falling short with only 

0.11 percent of all fuel being SAF in the year. The airline had two separate 

opportunities to import SAF to Aotearoa that would have enabled the 

target to have been met. However, due diligence revealed these SAF 

sources did not meet the airline’s sustainable procurement criteria so 

were not transacted. Supply limitations at overseas ports also impacted 

the airline’s ability to meet the target. The learnings gained from pursuing 

this target have been invaluable for the airline as it looks to build its SAF 

purchasing programme. In particular, the actions taken in attempting to 

meet this goal provided vital learnings on the complexity of SAF supply 

chain sustainability and the reality of global SAF supply limitations. It also 

confirmed the true cost of SAF in the Asia Pacific region (being four to five 

times the cost of fossil jet fuel), where there is an absence of supportive 

SAF policies. 

Air New Zealand received its first import of SAF into Aotearoa New Zealand 

in September 2022. The 1.2 million litre delivery, in its neat (unblended) 

form reduced lifecycle carbon emissions by at least 80 percent compared 

to fossil jet fuel. The SAF was produced from tallow by the world's 

largest SAF supplier, Neste, and imported in partnership with Z Energy. 

The shipment was critical to furthering the airline’s understanding of 

SAF import supply chain logistics, customs processes, SAF emissions 

accounting, SAF sustainability certification and documentation, and the 

true cost of importing SAF to Aotearoa New Zealand. 

In June 2023, Air New Zealand trialled its first book and claim SAF 

transaction as part of the World Economic Forum’s (WEF’s) SAF 

Certificate (SAFc) pilot. The airline participated in the pilot in partnership 

with SAF supplier SkyNRG, and its corporate customer PwC New Zealand.

Like a renewable electricity certificate, a SAFc represents the 

environmental attributes of a metric tonne of neat SAF and can be sold 

unbundled from the physical fuel. Each SAFc has at least two connected 

carbon reduction claims – one that can be made by the airline to reduce 

its scope 1 emissions, and another that can be claimed by a user of 

aviation services (in this case, PwC New Zealand) to reduce its scope  

3 emissions.

Via the pilot, Air New Zealand purchased SAF Claims related to a volume 

of 5,000 metric tonne (mt) of SAF. The SAF volume delivered had a carbon 

intensity of 14,883 g CO₂e/MJ or 0,655 mt CO₂e/mt SAF, and reduced 

emissions by 3,261 mt CO₂e/mt SAF compared to fossil jet fuel. The airline 

therefore reduced its scope 1 footprint by 16,306 mt CO₂e. The purchased 

SAF Claims related to the total volume of SAF and emissions reductions 

are verified and accredited by an independent third party: SCS Global 

Services. These emissions reductions were not included in the airline’s 

greenhouse gas inventory given the trial nature of the project. 

By enabling the investment in SAF regardless of geographic location, 

book and claim SAF transactions have the potential to play a vital 

role for airlines and their customers with decarbonisation targets in 

regions where there is no SAF produced and/or where the cost of SAF is 

high - such as in Aotearoa New Zealand. Air New Zealand will continue 

to support the development of SAF book and claim mechanisms 

internationally to advance aviation decarbonisation and enable more 

Aotearoa businesses to start decarbonising their supply chains in 

tangible ways. 

In 2023 Air New Zealand continued to build the foundations  

of its SAF programme. 

S T R A T E G Y

0.11%
of all fuel use in 2023 was SAF
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SAF is a drop-in fuel 

made from a variety of 

sustainable resources, 

such as used cooking 

oils, landfill waste, 

forestry waste, carbon 

captured from the air, 

and green hydrogen. 

SAF typically reduces 

lifecycle carbon emissions 

by 70 percent or more 

compared with traditional 

fossil jet fuel. At the current 

time, SAF is the most 

significant decarbonisation 

technology the airline can 

use to reduce its carbon 

emissions. Globally SAF 

supply remains limited, and 

the cost is very high. 

Find out more here.

The process invited leaders in 

innovation to demonstrate the 

feasibility of operating a SAF 

plant at a commercial scale in 

Aotearoa New Zealand. From this 

process, two SAF technology 

providers, LanzaJet and Fulcrum 

BioEnergy, and their respective 

project partners have been 

selected to progress to stage two 

of the study, which is designed to 

determine commercial viability 

and sustainability of domestic SAF 

production with greater accuracy. 

The respondents will be exploring 

the use of Aotearoa New Zealand 

waste products to produce SAF, 

including forestry waste and 

landfill waste. It is anticipated 

that stage two of the study will be 

completed during calendar year 

2024. Air New Zealand will commit 

research and development 

funding in excess of $1.5 million to 

the studies8.

Transition plan 
SAF

In 2023, Air New Zealand and the Ministry of Business, 

Innovation and Employment (MBIE) completed stage one of  

a joint study into the viability of domestic SAF production. 

Flyn van Ewijk 
Director - Project Development at Fulcrum BioEnergy

"Fulcrum BioEnergy applauds Air New Zealand and the New 

Zealand government for pursuing domestic SAF production 

in Aotearoa New Zealand. We look forward to investigating the 

commercial viability and sustainability of a Fulcrum plant that 

would convert domestic landfill waste into low-carbon SAF, and 

help address duel environmental challenges of landfills and 

greenhouse gas emissions from aviation."

Jimmy Samartzis 
Chief Executive Officer at LanzaJet, Inc.

"SAF is the single greatest opportunity the aviation industry has 

to decarbonize over the coming decades. LanzaJet is thrilled to be 

partnering with Air New Zealand to help the country lead the way 

towards a sustainable future. It’s going to take collaborative work 

between airlines, governments, producers and others across the 

world to build this industry and ensure air travel is able to grow 

sustainably and continue to connect the cultures, families, and 

economies across the world for generations to come – and SAF will 

be a critical component in getting us there."

S T R A T E G Y

8 The funding will be paid in the 2024 financial year.
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This has culminated in the launch of Mission Next Gen Aircraft created 

to accelerate the development of next generation aircraft technologies 

and the infrastructure and ecosystem required to make these a reality for 

commercial aviation in Aotearoa New Zealand. 

Mission Next Gen Aircraft has two ambitious goals:

1. Fly the first commercial demonstrator flight from 2026

2. Begin replacing the Q300 domestic fleet with a more sustainable 

aircraft – likely green hydrogen or battery hybrid systems from 2030

The next three years will be focused on working with partners to support 

the building, testing and certification of next generation aircraft and 

associated infrastructure. 

To enable the breakthrough goal of flying a commercial demonstrator 

flight from 2026, Air New Zealand has partnered with four leading aircraft 

developers and innovators: Beta Technologies, Cranfield Aerospace, 

Eviation, and VoltAero to build and potentially launch next generation 

aircraft in Aotearoa New Zealand. These companies represent a 

combination of electric, green hydrogen and hybrid aircraft technologies. 

Air New Zealand’s aspiration is to confirm its commitment with one 

or more of these partners in the next 12 months with the ambition of 

purchasing an aircraft for delivery from 2026.

The learnings taken from flying an aircraft with next generation 

propulsion technology from 2026 will establish a foundation for long-term 

green hydrogen and battery hybrid partners to deliver aircraft that could 

potentially replace the Q300 domestic fleet.

To progress towards the 2030 target to begin replacing the Q300 

fleet with more sustainable options, Air New Zealand announced three 

additional long-term partners: Universal Hydrogen, Embraer and 

Heart Aerospace who join Airbus and ATR. These long-term partners 

are developing green hydrogen and battery-hybrid aircraft with seat 

capacities of 30 seats and upwards.

Transition plan 
Next Generation 
Aircraft

Following the release of the Product Requirements Document 

(PRD) in December 2021 that shared Air New Zealand's vision 

and specifications for next generation aircraft technologies, 

the airline has refined its list of partners to work towards 

making next generation aircraft a reality. 

Mission Next 
Gen Aircraft

S T R A T E G Y

Next generation aircraft technology encompasses 

aircraft designs including battery electric, hydrogen 

fuel cell, hydrogen combustion and hybrid concepts. 

Hydrogen, battery and hybrid technologies are still under 

development by aircraft manufacturers and innovators. However, 

we expect to see this technology mature and be a possibility for Air 

New Zealand from 2030 on shorter domestic and regional flights. 

While we believe SAF is currently the best solution to decarbonise 

long-haul flights, Aotearoa New Zealand's domestic network is 

made up of mostly short range routes, that make the country well 

placed to deploy next generation aircraft technology. 

Find out more here.

Paul Eremenko 
Chief Executive Officer at Universal Hydrogen

"We're pleased with the progress made in our partnership with Air 

New Zealand over the past year. It's an honour to be part of their 

'Mission Next Gen Aircraft' program, alongside industry leaders 

such as Airbus, Embraer, and others. The debut flight of our 

hydrogen Dash 8-Q300 flying testbed this year, the world's largest 

hydrogen fuel cell aircraft, marked a defining moment in our 

partnership. Our joint focus remains unwavering—to have  

low-emissions hydrogen regional airplanes operating as part of  

Air New Zealand’s fleet by the end of the decade."
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The Hydrogen Consortium’s vision is to support Aotearoa New Zealand to 

pioneer the commercial deployment of green hydrogen-powered aircraft. 

The Hydrogen Consortium will work together to design a hydrogen 

ecosystem for aviation in Aotearoa New Zealand. The first phase will focus 

on research, which will be completed and publicly released by the end of 

calendar year 2023. The consortium will develop a vision for hydrogen 

aviation in Aotearoa New Zealand, examine the hydrogen supply chain 

and its challenges, assess the local aviation market’s projected hydrogen 

needs to 2050, and develop a pathway of policies, regulations and 

incentives to promote the development of hydrogen aviation.  

Air New Zealand continues to support the World Economic Forum’s 

Target True Zero Coalition, designed to accelerate the deployment and 

scaling of next generation aviation. Air New Zealand contributed to the 

Coalition’s White Paper: Target True Zero: Delivering the Infrastructure for 

Battery and Hydrogen-Powered Flight. The White Paper identified actions 

required to support the introduction and growth of alternative propulsion 

within the aviation system.

Transition plan 
Next Generation 
Aircraft

In February 2023, Air New Zealand alongside a group of 

businesses from across the aviation hydrogen value chain, 

including Christchurch International Airport, Airbus, Hiringa 

Energy, Fortescue Future Industries, and Fabrum launched 

the Hydrogen Consortium. 

S T R A T E G Y

Air New Zealand has also teamed up with Victoria University of 

Wellington's Robinson Research Institute to help the airline evaluate 

and validate aircraft propulsion technology as concepts develop 

and mature. In addition, Air New Zealand will work with Paihau – 

Robinson Research Institute to ensure new aircraft technology can 

be integrated into Aotearoa's future air transport system.
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Transition plan 
Continued  
fleet renewal 
& operational 
efficiency

Fleet modernisation continues with two Airbus A321neo aircraft being 

welcomed to the domestic fleet by 2024, two Airbus A321neo aircraft 

being welcomed to the international fleet by 2025, and a further two Airbus 

A321neo aircraft being delivered to the domestic fleet by 2027. More fuel-

efficient Boeing 787 Dreamliners powered by new GE GEnx engines are on 

order and will replace the Boeing 777-300ER fleet as they are phased out of 

operation towards the end of the decade.

Operational efficiency

In December 2022, a cross functional Turboprop Carbon Reduction 

Governance Group was established with senior leaders from across the 

business. The purpose of the group is to realise the carbon reduction 

opportunities in the turboprop fleet, provide the necessary support to address 

barriers and implement new practices and to empower pilots to safely engage 

in climate action. A Turboprop Carbon Reduction Delivery Group has also been 

formed to introduce carbon reduction policies, procedures, standards and 

training strategies to optimise turboprop flight operations.

To embed sustainability thinking in the Turboprop pilot cohort, education 

sessions have been included in the turboprop pilot technical refresher 

courses. These presentations introduce sustainability, specifically 

decarbonisation, to the turboprop pilot group. 

Air New Zealand has an average operating fleet age of 7.9 years9, making it a young 

and fuel-efficient fleet.

7.9
years average operating  

fleet age

S T R A T E G Y

9 Seat weighted average of the operating fleet as at 30 June 2023. 
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Transition plan 
Advocacy

Aviation decarbonisation will require  

coordinated decision-making 

across the transport, energy, 

trade and tourism sectors. It will 

be a journey that Air New Zealand 

shares with the New Zealand 

government, policy makers in 

its global network, and other 

stakeholders across the economy. 

In November 2022, Sustainable 

Aviation Aotearoa was launched. 

Sustainable Aviation Aotearoa is 

a public-private body led by the 

Ministry of Transport focused 

on aviation decarbonisation. 

The body is sponsored by the 

Associate Minister of Transport, 

the Minister of Energy and 

Resources and the Minister for 

Research, Science and Innovation. 

The body will have three working 

groups with different focuses. 

One will focus on SAF, one will 

focus on next generation aircraft, 

and one will focus on strategic 

aviation policy.  Air New Zealand 

is represented on the leadership 

group and in all of the working 

groups. The launch of Sustainable 

Aviation Aotearoa marked a 

positive step towards greater 

cohesion, coordination and focus 

on the policy support required to 

accelerate the decarbonisation of 

aviation in Aotearoa New Zealand. 

Air New Zealand has supported 

the establishment of the 

Australian Jet Zero Council and 

will encourage engagement, and 

ideally harmonisation, between 

the Australian Jet Zero Council and 

Sustainable Aviation Aotearoa. 

Air New Zealand supports 

domestic and international efforts 

to mitigate climate change. Air 

New Zealand continues to actively 

engage with policy makers 

and participate in government 

consultations on climate change 

policy, advocating for research, 

policies, and investment to 

support the airline’s SAF strategy, 

the timely deployment of next 

generation aircraft technologies, 

and a renewable energy system 

in Aotearoa New Zealand that 

properly plans for additional 

electricity demand from aviation 

and supports the scaling of green 

hydrogen. Submissions prepared 

by the airline in the year are 

available here. 

Air New Zealand is a member of a 

number of organisations dedicated 

specifically to climate issues. 

These include the New Zealand 

Climate Leaders Coalition, the 

Sustainable Business Council, the 

Aotearoa Circle, the Sustainable 

Aviation Fuel Alliance of Australia 

and New Zealand and the New 

Zealand Hydrogen Council.

Air New Zealand is committed to doing what it can to 

decarbonise its operation. However, the airline cannot solve 

the decarbonisation challenge or reach its targets alone. 

S T R A T E G Y

Scaling and accessing 

SAF requires an enabling 

policy environment. This 

can include measures such 

as SAF specific mandates, 

access to feedstocks, 

SAF incentives (like 

those available in North 

America) and research and 

development support. Air 

New Zealand also supports 

robust sustainability criteria 

being attached to SAF-

related policy interventions. 
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Transition plan 
Supporting  
our customers

For corporate and cargo 

customers, the airline has been 

developing an Air New Zealand 

specific tool to more accurately 

measure emissions generated 

on Air New Zealand services. 

This tool is expected to launch in 

September 2024. 

In July 2023, enhancements were 

made to the Voluntary Emissions 

Contribution Programme available 

to retail customers through the 

Air New Zealand website. The 

calculation of emissions from 

travel on Air New Zealand services 

was updated in accordance with 

the International Air Transport 

Association Recommended 

Practice RP 1726 methodology. 

This includes a bespoke Air New 

Zealand specific emissions factor 

and a factor for radiative forcing. 

The bespoke emissions factors 

take into account the particular 

aircraft type, the route being flown 

and historical fuel data collected 

from the route over time.

The airline continues to support its 

customers to better measure and 

understand the emissions generated 

from air travel. 

S T R A T E G Y Customer contributions
Air New Zealand operates a Voluntary Emissions 

Contribution Programme that calculates a 

passenger’s share of their flight's carbon emissions 

and matches those emissions with carbon credits 

purchased from certified international projects. 

The programme also provides funding to projects 

that support biodiversity outcomes in Aotearoa 

New Zealand.

In the year, retail customers booking through the 

Air New Zealand website contributed $1.2 million 

to Trees That Count and purchased 70,810  

carbon credits10. 

Number of native trees/projects 

supported by region

 6,890 

 2

Gisborne

 10,000 

 1

Canterbury

 7,690 

 1

Nelson

 10,000 

 2

Manawatu-Whanganui

 35,775

 2

Southland

 16,920 

 3

Otago

 15,000

 2

Tasman

 10,000

 1

Taranaki

 10,000 

 1

Northland

 5,940 

 2

Bay of Plenty

 17,082

 2

Auckland

 6,002 

 2

Hawke's Bay

 19,000 

 4

Waikato

25
Total number of projects, detailed 

by region with 

170,299
Total number of trees planted, 

detailed by region with 

10 70,810 carbon credits have been pre-purchased by Air New Zealand on behalf of its customers. 29,574 of these credits have been 
retired by Climate Impact Partners on behalf of Air New Zealand. 41,236 of these credits need to be retired by Climate Impact Partners 
on behalf of Air New Zealand.
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Risk 
Management

Climate change risks (both physical and transition) are considered as  

part of this review process and the risk dimensions are defined to 

describe the sources of the risk, the specific nature of the risks and the 

potential consequences. 

Air New Zealand’s Risk Universe is used as a reference tool to aid the 

risk identification process. The risk management process is designed to 

be applied dynamically across business areas, with risks identified and 

assessed via continuous monitoring. 

Controls in place to manage the identified risks are captured and 

assessed for effectiveness to derive a residual risk rating using Air New 

Zealand’s Group Risk Matrix. This matrix applies a traditional 5x5 risk 

model (i.e., likelihood x consequence = level of risk) using qualitative 

assessments to identify its significant risks, determine risk level 

and prioritise risk management. Risk ratings are used as a proxy for 

prioritising of identified risks. 

Climate change risk (being a consolidated view of physical and transition 

risk), is currently rated ‘Very High’ - the highest rated risk on Air New 

Zealand’s Group Risk Profile.

Key controls and mitigations for both physical and transition risks are 

identified and assessed for effectiveness. Risks are monitored against 

the Air New Zealand Board’s Risk Appetite Statement which expresses 

the organisational risk appetite for key strategic risks including climate 

change risk and also sets target residual risk levels. This drives risk 

prioritisation, mitigation actions and business decision making to ensure 

that Air New Zealand operates within risk appetite.

More generally, significant risks identified through business unit risk 

reviews are captured in a Divisional Risk Profile for regular review by the 

Executive member responsible for the portfolio. The Executive and the 

Board of Directors also periodically review and assess Air New Zealand’s 

top strategic risks summarised into a Group Risk Profile which includes 

how those are tracking against the Board’s Risk Appetite Statement.  

Periodic workshops are also held with the Board to gain insights and 

input, including into risk identification, assessment, and management. 

These areas are also discussed with the Sustainability Advisory Panel.

The Sustainability team supplements the above identification and 

assessment processes with specialist input for climate change-

related risks, in relation to factors in the internal and external operating 

environment that inform the qualitative assessments of the likelihood and 

impact of climate related risks, emerging developments, and the outlook.

All material parts of the value chain, and all functions/organisational 

units across the organisation, are included within the scope of the 

Enterprise Risk Management framework. Leaders consider in detail 

their internal and external operating context when considering their key 

risks. They consider their key activities/processes, systems, people, 

and relationships with all stakeholders including business partners and 

suppliers. At a minimum, formal updates are required every six months.

Climate-related risks are identified and assessed at various levels of  

the organisation, including at business unit, divisional and Group level.  

On a six-monthly basis, leaders across the organisation collectively review  

the top strategic risks to achieving business objectives. 

R I S K  M A N A G E M E N T
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Metrics  
and targets 
Gross emissions

This includes metrics related to assessing the impact of gross carbon 

emissions and emissions intensity values. Key metrics are reported below.

The impact of Covid-19 has had a significant impact on the airline’s 

operations and network as well as the key metrics that the airline reports 

on. As a consequence, it is difficult to meaningfully compare the key 

metrics with prior years. 

The airline uses a range of climate 

related metrics in its internal reporting, 

strategy formation and decision making.

Greenhouse gas emissions inventory11,12

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Scope 1 emissions (tonnes CO2-e)

Jet fuel emissions – domestic network 629,876 518,607 508,737 465,303 621,444

Jet fuel emissions – international network 3,286,502 2,649,922 817,078 1,040,786 2,210,836

Jet fuel emissions – ground sources 941 1,180 1,616 1,048 953

SAF emissions (CH4 and N2O)13 - - - - 108

Liquid propane gas emissions 1,579 1,437 1,227 1,413 1,295

Natural gas emissions 2,732 2,725 2,249 2,141 2,092

Diesel emissions 3,935 3,129 2,218 2,129 2,554

Petrol emissions 73 67 52 52 61

Wood pellet emissions (CH4 and N20) 13 18 14 14 15

Total scope 1 emissions 3,925,650 3,176,634 1,333,192 1,512,886 2,839,358

Biogenic and biomass emissions (tonnes CO2)

SAF emissions (CO2) - - - - 3,082

Wood pellet emissions (CO2) 725 1,050 828 818 845

Total biogenic emissions 725 1,050 828 818 3,927

Scope 2 emissions

Electricity – location based 3,098 2,832 2,720 2,736 3,357

Total scope 2 emissions 3,098 2,832 2,720 2,736 3,357

Total scope 1 and 2 emissions 3,928,748 3,179,466 1,335,912 1,515,622   2,842,715

Scope 3 emissions

Category 1 – purchased goods and services - - - - 242,215

Category 2 – capital goods - - - - 104,303

Category 3 – fuel and energy-related activities - - - 307,33514 570,462

Category 5 – waste generated in operations - - - - 1,729

Category 6 – business travel - - - - 11,916

Total measured scope 3 emissions - - - 307,335 930,625

Total measured emissions15 3,928,748 3,179,466 1,335,912 1,822,957 3,773,340

Total well-to-wake emissions from jet fuel16 - - - - 3,402,307

11 Refer to the Sustainability reporting and communications page on Air New Zealand’s website for the full Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report (Report) including Deloitte’s Assurance Report. Full definitions of emission scopes can be found within that Report; extracts from that Report are duplicated 
here within. Gases included in the carbon dioxide equivalent (CO

2
-e) factor are carbon dioxide (CO

2
), methane (CH

4
) and nitrous oxide (N

2
O). 12 Deloitte Limited was engaged to provide reasonable assurance over the scope 1 and scope 2 components of the Report, and limited assurance over scope 3, 

categories 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 components of the Report. 13 As SAF gets blended with other fuel in shared fuel infrastructure, it is not possible to trace the physical SAF molecules. As such, there is no assurance that the airline that contractually purchased the SAF used the physical product. Air New Zealand 
has used a mass balance approach to calculate emissions related to SAF. This relies on purchase records to demonstrate contractual ownership of the SAF. 14 In 2022, Deloitte Limited was only engaged to provide limited assurance over scope 3, category 3 emissions. No other scope 3 categories were 
considered. 15 Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions. 16 Well-to-Wake (WTW) emissions cover the activities and accompanying emissions across the value chain of jet fuel in the aviation sector. WTW emissions can be split into two components: Well-to-Tank (WTT) which encompasses emissions from feedstock 
sourcing, processing and transportation to fuel production and distribution (measured as scope 3, category 3 emissions); and Tank-to-Wake (TTW) encompassing emissions from the combustion of fuel (measured as scope 1 emissions).
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Metric  
and targets

Our 2023 emissions snapshot

75%
Scope 1

0.1%
Scope 2

99% is from jet fuel

25%
Scope 3

61% is from jet fuel
26% is from purchased  
goods and services
11% is from capital assets
2% is from remaining categories19

90%
of our total carbon footprint  

relates to jet fuel use

17 Well-to-Wake (WTW) emissions cover the activities and accompanying emissions across the value chain of jet fuel in the aviation sector. WTW emissions can be split into two components: Well-to-
Tank (WTT) which encompasses emissions from feedstock sourcing, processing and transportation to fuel production and distribution (measured as scope 3, category 3 emissions); and Tank-to-Wake 
(TTW) encompassing emissions from the combustion of fuel (measured as scope 1 emissions). 18 Scope 3 categories 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 were subject to limited assurance. 19 Remaining categories are 
categories 5 and 6. Category 7 was excluded in 2023.

International Domestic

Carbon emissions from flying activity

In 2023 the airline produced 3.8 

million tonnes of CO2-e (scopes 

1, 2 and 3). Total scope 1 and 

2 emissions increased by 88 

percent in 2023. Total well-to-

wake emissions17 from jet fuel 

also increased by 88 percent 

in 2023. These increases were 

due to the increased use of fossil 

jet fuel resulting from greater 

network capacity as the airline 

operated a network unconstrained 

by Covid-19 restrictions. These 

emissions levels remain lower than 

pre-Covid levels. 

In 2022 the airline disclosed its 

scope 3, category 3 emissions for 

the first time. This year, relevant 

categories of scope 3 emissions, 

excluding employee commuting 

(category 7), have been disclosed 

for the first time and subject to a 

limited assurance engagement18.

Further work to quantify employee 

commute emissions will be 

undertaken in 2024. Scope 3 

emissions represent 25 percent 

of the airline’s emissions and 

the largest source of scope 

3 emissions are well-to-tank 

emissions associated with jet fuel. 

In 2023, 22 percent of flight related 

emissions were generated on the 

domestic network.
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Payload carriage is expressed as Revenue Tonne Kilometre (RTK)20  

and seat availability is measured in Available Seat Kilometre (ASK)21. 

These are both prominent metrics for benchmarking airline carbon 

intensity. The airline aims to improve carbon intensity by reducing 

emissions from flight operations and maximising total payload carriage.

The airline’s carbon intensity (measured in gCO2–e/RTK) decreased 21 

percent compared to 2022. This improvement was largely due to the 

absence of border restrictions in Aotearoa New Zealand compared to  

the prior period leading to higher load factors on the network. However, 

this metric still remains slightly elevated when compared to 2019 levels  

by 0.3 percent.

Carbon intensity (measured in gCO2–e/ASK) increased 5 percent 

compared to 2022. This increase is a result of the reintroduction of the 

less efficient Boeing 777-300ER fleet in the period. However, in the period 

since 2019, gCO2–e/ASK has decreased by 7 percent largely driven by the 

retirement of the Boeing 777-200ER fleet.

Carbon intensity data provides a 

measure of emissions generated for 

each kilogram of payload flown and 

each available seat. 

20 Revenue Tonne Kilometre (RTK) is a measure of the weight that has been paid for on the aircraft (freight and passengers) multiplied by the number of kilometres transported. Freight values are from the 
airline’s records, and passenger weights are estimated at 100kg per passenger (including checked and carry-on baggage) as recommended by IATA for generating a fuel-efficiency target. CO2-e emissions are 
from the airline’s use of aviation fuel over the same time period. 21 Available Seat Kilometre (ASK) is measured by the available seats for sale multiplied by the number of kilometres transported. The airline has 
participated in the Maintaining International Air Connectivity scheme using passenger aircraft to fly cargo-only flights. The equivalent ASK’s from these flights has been included in the total ASK number. 

22 Well-to-Wake (WTW) emissions cover the activities and accompanying emissions 
across the value chain of jet fuel in the aviation sector. WTW emissions can be split into 
two components: Well-to-Tank (WTT) which encompasses emissions from feedstock 
sourcing, processing and transportation to fuel production and distribution (measured 
as scope 3, category 3 emissions); and Tank-to-Wake (TTW) encompassing emissions 
from the combustion of fuel (measured as scope 1 emissions).

Carbon intensity metrics 2020 2021 2022 2023

Grams of CO
2
-e per Available 

Seat Kilometre (ASK)
82 76 75 79

Grams of CO
2
-e per Revenue 

Tonne Kilometre (RTK)
789 1,039 971 765

Grams of well-to-wake22 CO
2
-e 

per Revenue Tonne Kilometre
- - 1,165 918

M E T R I C S  A N D  T A R G E T S

Metrics  
and targets 
Carbon intensity
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Metrics  
and targets 
Targets

In 2023, an ambitious 

science-based carbon 

reduction target was 

set to guide progress 

in the period to 2030.

Air New Zealand has analysed the levers available to achieve its 

aspirational 2030 target. This analysis suggests the target is 

possible to achieve based on forecast projections of technology 

development in the period. However, progressing these 

technologies, particularly SAF, will require collaboration across 

the aviation industry and from policy makers to progress. Air 

New Zealand is focused on playing its part in progressing the 

development, scaling and accelerating of these technologies.

The airline has agreed the annual way points it will aspire to 

achieve annually in its journey towards its 2030 target. 

In 2020 Air New Zealand announced its ambition to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2050,  

ahead of the International Air Transport Association’s (IATA) industry commitment. 

2030 2050

Target Reduce carbon intensity by 28.9 percent by 2030, compared to a  
2019 baseline.

Achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

External 
endorsement

Developed with reference to the Science Based Target initiative’s aviation 
methodology. Validated by the Science Based Target initiative.

Developed with reference to the IATA resolution to achieve 
net zero carbon emissions by 2050.

Warming 
pathway

The target is aligned to a ‘well below 2°C’ pathway and requires an absolute 
reduction in carbon emissions, with no provision for carbon credits.

IATA states the net zero pledge is in line with the objectives 
of the Paris agreement to limit global warming to scenarios 
below 2.0°C23.

Target 
boundary

Reduce well-to-wake emissions related to jet fuel by 28.9 percent per RTK 
from 916gCO₂-e/RTK in 2019 to 651gCO₂-e/RTK in 2030. 

The target covers well-to-wake emissions associated with jet fuel. This covers 
the entire life cycle of the jet fuel. 

RTK is a measure of passenger and cargo payload carried by Air New Zealand. 

Non-CO
2
-e effects which may also contribute to aviation induced warming 

are not included in this target. The airline commits to report publicly on its 
collaboration with stakeholders to improve understanding of opportunities to 
mitigate the non-CO

2
-e impacts of aviation over its target timeframe. 

The target boundary includes biogenic emissions and removals from 
bioenergy feedstocks.

The net zero commitment covers international and 
domestic flights, passenger and cargo flights, and revenue 
and non-revenue flights. 

The emissions and reductions in scope are24:

• CO
2
 emissions only (not CO

2
-e)

• Tank-to-wake emissions for conventional jet fuel

• Well-to-wake emissions for SAF

• Well-to-wake for hydrogen and electric propulsion

Non-CO
2
 impacts are excluded from the target.

23 International Air Transport Association. Net zero carbon 2050 resolution. Accessed 2 August 2023 <https://www.iata.org/en/iata-repository/pressroom/fact-sheets/fact-sheet----iata-net zero-resolution/> 24 International Air Transport Association. TrackZero 2050, Net zero 2050, Progress 
Tracking Methodology. Accessed 2 August 2023 <Net Zero 2050 (iata.org)> 25 For Air New Zealand, this commitment means 10 percent of Air New Zealand's total fuel uplift in 2030 is neat SAF, using a mass balance approach. Book and Claim could be used to meet this target if approved by the 
appropriate bodies.

M E T R I C S  A N D  T A R G E T S

Actual Aspirational trajectory

Agreed aspirational annual waypoints to 2030 target
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2023 performance 
918 gCO2-e / RTK 2019 Baseline 

916gCO2-e/RTK

28.9% 
reduction

2030 Target 
651gCO2-e/RTK

2023 performance
2024 
waypoint

2025 
waypoint

2026 
waypoint

2027 
waypoint

2028 
waypoint

2029 
waypoint

2030 
waypoint

Agreed aspirational annual waypoints to 2030 target (grams WTW CO2-e/RTK) 918 817 817 824 823 800 740 651

Air New Zealand has 

signed the World 

Economic Forum's 

Clean Skies for 

Tomorrow 2030 

Ambition Statement, 

pledging our 

commitment to help 

accelerate the supply 

and use of SAF to 

reach 10 percent of 

global jet aviation fuel 

supply by 203025.
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02

Caring for  
New Zealanders

Showing manaaki1 and care for  

New Zealanders is more than just 

providing safe transit from one location 

to another.  It is the essence of who we 

are as an organisation. It is about how  

we support, nurture and protect our 

people, customers and communities.
As we have continued to rebuild the airline and connect New Zealanders 

to each other and the world, we have strived even more to bring manaaki 

to life every day and to provide the right support where and when it is 

needed most. From how we welcome people to our whānau and create 

a truly inclusive workplace, to how we build a culture of sustainability 

from the inside out. From our efforts to support local communities by 

supporting Kiwi businesses and grow our supplier diversity. It is all about 

living our promise of manaaki.

Air New Zealand’s employee 
engagement score being 
in Glint’s Global Top 
Engagement Index.

Grow access to and use 
of employee assistance 
support tools (including 
Employee Assistance 
Programme, Peer Support 
Network and Bullying and 
Harassment contacts).

Double our spend with 
Māori and Pasifika-owned 
businesses and social 
enterprises to $24 million, 
and double our diverse 
sourcing relationships to at 
least 50 suppliers by the end 
of 2024.

Better connecting Aotearoa 
New Zealand exporters 
to the world by increasing 
cargo load factors on our 
widebody international 
network to 85% by 2025 
(from 67% in 2019).

2023 PROGRESS:

Air New Zealand’s Engagement 

Index score as at June 2023 was 712 

(compared with the Global Top 25%3 

benchmark of 79), up from 68 in  

May 2022.

2023 PROGRESS:

The utilisation rate of support tools 

was 14.7% in 20234, down from 21.3% 

in 2022.

2023 PROGRESS:

Baseline established  of Air New Zealand 

spend with Māori and Pasifika-owned 

businesses and social enterprises.

2023 PROGRESS:

67% load factor for 2023 on our 

widebody international network. 

1 Derived from the word mana meaning authority or prestige, and aki meaning to encourage or uplift. To support, give hospitality to, protect, look out for, show respect and generosity. Includes an implied reciprocity.  2 This score is out of 100 and based on the responses to two questions in our 
Employee Survey which is run quarterly on the Glint platform – ‘How happy are you working at Air New Zealand’ and ‘I would recommend Air New Zealand as a great place to work’. Responses are measured on a 5-point scale. 3 As at 30 June 2023, the Glint Global Top 25 percent engagement 
threshold was an Engagement Index score of 79. 4 The EAP Association guidelines suggest that a utilisation rate over 6 percent is an indication of EAP being used as a proactive wellbeing service, whereas less than 6 percent indicates it is more reactive. Air New Zealand aims to maintain a utilisation 
rate of support services above 10 percent. 

Te manaaki  
i ngā tāngata  
o Aotearoa
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Bev Afoa 
On Job Trainer

"After the pandemic I was given the opportunity to return to Air New Zealand as a Customer Services 

Agent in April 2022. I was privileged to be a part of an amazing team who paved the way for customers 

to begin to travel the world again. What a refreshing experience it was to witness customers learning to 

travel again and greeting customers from other parts of the world. During the process of Air New Zealand 

rebuilding our workforce with all the new staff coming through this reignited my passion to share my 

knowledge with others which led me to roles of a Service Delivery Leader and On Job Trainer. To be able to 

serve others around me has been a humbling experience and I’m grateful Air New Zealand has given me 

the opportunity to develop in these roles."

Our people are what makes Air New Zealand one of the most 

attractive places to work in Aotearoa New Zealand. 

Our values

Manaaki starts  
at home

Making sure our culture is strong 

and our team embodies our values 

every day underpins our ability 

to offer an outstanding customer 

experience. Our culture of  

manaaki and care have also been 

critical elements as we’ve regrown 

the business.

A key component of embedding 

this culture has been the airline’s 

move to a new agile way of working 

in 2023 to help us reach our Full 

Potential. Aligned to our values, 

this move has empowered our 

people, increased collaboration, 

broken down silos, and driven 

curiosity and innovation as the 

airline has built back.

I am you, you are me 

Ko au ko koe, ko koe ko au

Strive for what matters most 
and don’t let obstacles get in 
your way 

Whāia te iti kahurangi

Aotearoa is a vibrant land 

Ko Aotearoa e  
ngunguru nei 

Be proud of who you are and 
where you have come from 

He toa takitini 
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We were thrilled to be able to offer roles to many of those who 

unfortunately had to leave the airline during Covid-19. Welcoming their 

extensive expertise and passion back has supported the airline during 

some operationally challenging times. 

To support the speed of growth required we launched a ‘Join our whānau’ 

campaign to highlight some of the roles across the business and give  

a flavour of who we are and what it is like to be an Air New Zealander.  

A number of areas of the business also participated in the Auckland 

Airport Job Fair as a way to engage with eager jobseekers and attract  

new people to our business. We also increased our start rate at Airports 

to $30 per hour as part of our focus on creating good, sustainable jobs at 

Air New Zealand.

With this level of recruitment comes a renewed focus on culture and 

engagement, ensuring we maintain the core of what makes working at Air 

New Zealand so special. At its heart, our people.

Our engagement scores have been tracking upwards throughout the 

year, with a score of 71 for our June 2023 Employee Survey. Over the past 

two years a key focus has been on improving our employees' experience 

based on their feedback. This includes significant improvements to our 

induction and onboarding experience, enhancements to our Staff Travel 

and Parental Leave benefits, more focus on continuous learning and 

development, and providing support to our most vulnerable employees 

through one-off grants and access to literacy programmes. Continuing 

to invest in our people supports our culture, having a positive knock-on 

effect on engagement.

With the high levels of people joining the airline, a key aim has been on 

improving the way we welcome people into our whānau. Our Kia ora you 

induction days are highly rated by employees as one of the best ways to 

learn more about Air New Zealand and connect with other new people 

from across the business. We brought these back in 2023, giving new 

Air New Zealanders the chance to hear from our Leadership Team, 

learn more about our Sustainability and Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 

commitments and about other areas of the airline. The Kia ora you days 

also provide an opportunity to raise awareness about employee benefits 

and the support tools our people have access to. 

The start of the year saw Air New Zealand begin our  

post-Covid rebuild – a mammoth task which involved the 

biggest recruitment drive in Air New Zealand’s history.

Building back

What is the most important thing in the world?  

He aha te mea nui o te ao?

It is the people, it is the people, it is the people.  

He tāngata, he tāngata, he tāngata.

Julia Brown 
Cabin Crew

"It has been a privilege to reconnect with so many familiar faces 

in the Air New Zealand whānau since returning post-pandemic 

redundancy both in the sky and at the training centre. It has also 

been an exciting time of growth with many new faces joining our 

crew community as well. Cabin crew share a passion for people 

and love of our role which allows us to deliver world-class care and 

manaaki, to our customers and to each other, fostering excellent 

community. Our one-of-a-kind crew culture is both what drew 

many of us back to flying post-redundancy and also part of what 

makes us exceptional at caring for our customers."
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We have long been committed 

to having a diverse leadership 

group and we are proud to keep 

ensuring our organisation is truly 

representative of Aotearoa New 

Zealand. Going forward, we will 

continue to focus our efforts 

to grow our women, Māori and 

Pasifika leadership pipelines as 

well as identifying opportunities to 

grow representation in other areas 

to ensure we are representing the 

diversity of Aotearoa New Zealand. 

We want to be more mindful of 

intersectionality in this space, 

acknowledging each person can 

identify in more than one way. We 

currently have 40.7 percent of 

women in senior leadership roles, a 

drop of 4.8 percent from last year 

as we’ve seen some of our talented 

women move into executive roles 

at other Aotearoa New Zealand 

organisations, and 16 percent 

Māori and Pasifika leadership 

representation5, 1.2 percent up 

from last year. 

As always, our Employee Networks 

have continued to provide 

incredible support and advocacy 

for our people. Some highlights 

include our popular social 

enterprises Christmas Market 

that showcased businesses 

run by or supporting those with 

disabilities, our all female crews 

for our first regional flights out on 

International Women’s Day, the 

launch of the New Zealand Sign 

Language pin in conjunction with 

Deaf Aotearoa, and the imminent 

introduction of the Project Employ 

coffee cart about to launch in our 

central Auckland office aimed at 

supporting those with disabilities 

into employment. With the support 

of our Employee Networks we have 

also renewed our Accessibility, 

Rainbow and Gender Ticks, this 

year achieving the Advanced 

Gender Tick.

This year we spent time reviewing and refreshing our Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 

strategy. We have strengthened our commitment in this space and set new 

ambitions to help us achieve our vision of creating an open, inclusive environment 

for our people, customers and communities to thrive. 

Diversity, Equity & Inclusion 

ambitions:

An environment free from 

discrimination.

Leaders who are reflective  

of Aotearoa.

Fair and equitable  

experiences for everyone.

New Zealand Sign 

Language Pin

Enhancing our 
commitment to 
Diversity, Equity 
& Inclusion Enable Network Christmas Market 

Will & Able — Our Harvest — The Cookie Project

16.0%

40.7%

Māori and Pasifika  

leadership representation

women in senior leadership

C A R I N G  F O R  N E W  Z E A L A N D E R S0 2
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Over the past 12 months we have 

been raising the pay levels for entry-

level roles and offered considerable 

pay increases, acknowledging the 

tough inflationary environment. As 

an example, we have lifted wages 

for Air New Zealanders at our main 

airports, increasing the entry wage 

to $30 per hour which has helped 

attract outstanding people to join 

our Auckland, Wellington and 

Christchurch Airport teams. 

Supporting our people when they 

need us the most, particularly 

during times of hardship, illness or 

misfortune has been a continuing 

focus for the airline in 2023. This 

includes providing hardship grants 

to support our employees who 

faced hardship as a result of the 

cyclone and flood events this year, 

similar to what we did through 

Covid-19 with our Āwhina Trust. 

We are establishing an ongoing 

Hardship Trust for our employees 

and expect to be able to allocate 

grants from the Fund in 2024. 

A key focus throughout 2023 

was the continuing growth and 

broadening of our key employee 

wellbeing tools, resources and 

support networks that employees 

can reach out to, including Bullying 

and Harassment contacts, Peer 

Support Network volunteers, and 

Health & Safety Representatives 

(HSRs). In addition, the Employee 

Assistance Programme and 

Wellbeing Check-Ins have 

continued to operate, including 

for our offshore employees. This 

has been particularly important 

as we have reopened overseas 

ports and routes over 2023. 

We now have 116 Bullying and 

Harassment contacts, 109 Peer 

Support volunteers, and 255 HSRs 

across the organisation, covering 

a diverse range of work groups, 

locations and demographics. The 

growth of these networks has been 

important to support our significant 

increase in employees over 2023. 

Overall utilisation of the support 

services dropped to 14.7 percent 

in 2023 compared to 21.3 percent 

in 2022. This was largely expected 

due to this increase in employee 

population and a steady  

de-escalation of our acute 

response to Covid-19.

We are also consolidating all the 

support we offer our people – 

including access to wellbeing, 

mental health and financial support 

along with our Employee Networks, 

Peer Support Networks and 

Employee Assistance Programme 

– into a central Manaaki Hub to 

make it easier for people to access 

what they need, when they need 

it. In the next year we will continue 

to build these support systems 

to address any gaps we have and 

continue highlighting the support 

services we have available.

A lot of work has also been done 

to rebuild and upskill our network 

of Special Assistance Team (SAT) 

volunteers in 2023, with training 

held across the organisation for this 

important group of volunteers who 

are prepared and ready to deploy 

as required to provide humanitarian 

assistance to those groups affected 

by a significant incident.

We remain dedicated to creating sustainable jobs and growth 

opportunities for all our whānau. 

Lifting up  
and supporting 
our people

116

109

255

Bullying and Harassment 

contacts

Peer Support volunteers

Health & Safety Representatives
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Driving  
learning and 
development 
opportunities

We have continued to roll out our Frontline Leadership programmes in 

Cargo, Airports and Engineering & Maintenance, as well as launching an 

Emerging Leaders programme to build our talent pipeline in Cabin Crew. 

We piloted a successful programme this year which will be rolled out to 

all senior leaders, focused on developing personal capacity to lead in an 

increasingly complex and diverse world. A Senior Women’s Network has 

been established to provide a forum for our women to support each other 

and learn together, and collectively raise and solve common challenges. 

Our Mangōpare Programme for aspiring Māori and Pasifika leaders has 

evolved over 2023 with the focus moving to completing the programme 

projects. Two wānanga6 were held bringing graduates of the 4 cohorts 

together to whakawhanaungatanga (reconnect), plan the completion of 

their projects, and wānanga7 how the airline can grow Māori and Pacific 

Islands talent for leadership roles.

We have also reinstated our Project Mana programme, which we run 

in partnership with Aspire2. The programme focuses on helping our 

employees to build stronger language, financial and digital literacy

Supporting Te Matatini

Air New Zealand and Te Matatini Society Inc. have been working together 

since 2018 to develop and showcase the Te Matatini festival as Aotearoa 

New Zealand's premium cultural event and promote Aotearoa New 

Zealand to the world. To celebrate Te Matatini 2023 and the revitalisation 

of te reo Māori, Air New Zealand in partnership with Te Matatini Society 

Inc., operated a charter flight to bring passengers from Te Whanganui-

a-Tara (Wellington) to Tāmaki Makaurau (Auckland). Except for Civil 

Aviation Authority prescribed announcements, the only language spoken 

by the pilots and cabin crew was te reo Māori.

We are committed to supporting and 

continually developing our current and 

future leaders. 

C A R I N G  F O R  N E W  Z E A L A N D E R S0 2
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The Special Assistance Team was deployed to Napier following Cyclone 

Gabrielle, providing humanitarian support and basic needs essentials 

such as food, baby products, hygiene and sanitary items, torches and 

lamps, and generators. To assist in their recovery, Financial Hardship 

payments totaling more than $450,000 were also made available to our 

employees who experienced hardship due to being directly impacted by 

these events. Along with support for our own people, Air New Zealand 

was proud to provide assistance to the wider community, including:

• The introduction of a temporary air service between Hawke’s Bay 

and Gisborne, intended to connect the regions while the road was 

inaccessible, operated since 26 February and was further extended in 

March. By the time that it concluded on 10 June, we had carried more 

than 5,700 passengers including a significant number of emergency 

workers and then contractors

• The transportation of several tonnes of food and care parcels into the 

Hawke’s Bay and Tairāwhiti Gisborne region for use and distribution 

by charity organisations, along with transport allocation to essential 

workers and emergency personnel such as Urban Search and Rescue 

and New Zealand Police

• Personal protective equipment (goggles, gloves and masks) was 

donated to local police, the Napier foodbank and Civil Defence  

staging posts

• Special capped fares and flexibility were introduced from 18 February 

to ensure travel to and from cyclone-impacted areas was made easier 

as local communities began their recovery

To support those affected by the Auckland floods, Air New Zealand 

donated $100,000 for flood relief support in the most impacted areas in 

the region. This went to a range of community organisations including 

the Mangere Evacuation Centre, the Sunday Blessings and Community 

Group, Auckland Council Emergency Relief, and Auckland City Mission.

Responding  
to crisis

Many Air New Zealanders and their whānau and communities were significantly 

impacted by Cyclone Gabrielle and the Auckland flooding events. 

Donna Gerbes — Brittny O'Hanlon 
Senior People Safety Specialist — People Safety Specialist

"It’s a privilege to be part of the Air New Zealand Special 

Assistance team and support our colleagues in their time of 

need. Being deployed to Napier following Cyclone Gabrielle 

was an incredible opportunity to provide care, basic needs and 

support to our Air New Zealand whānau who were affected, and 

the wider community."
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Air New Zealand is continuing to build a supplier diversity programme that fosters 

the development of a supply chain that is representative of both the communities  

we operate in and our diverse customer base. 
To enhance our supplier diversity, the airline aims to double its spend 

with Māori and Pasifika-owned businesses and social enterprises to 

$24 million, and double our diverse sourcing relationships to at least 50 

suppliers by the end of 2024.

The efforts of the airline in 2023 to continue to strengthen and build 

partnerships that will increase our supplier diversity, include:

• Strengthening our partnership with Whāriki as an Air New Zealand 

collaboration partner

• Working with Māori & Pasifika supplier intermediary, Amotai as an 

Aumatua member

• Partnering with Aotea to provide skincare products inspired by 

mātauranga Māori (Māori knowledge) in our onboard amenity kits

• Partnering with Māori and Pasifika creative agency, The Hood & Co,  

to capture and tell the story of Te Matatini

• Continuing to use Will & Able’s eco-friendly cleaning products, 

created by New Zealanders with disabilities, throughout  

our offices

Despite these steps, we acknowledge that there is still much to achieve 

with our supplier diversity programme. With a greater awareness of our 

diverse supplier base through our intermediary partnerships as well 

as identification through our Ivalua supplier portal, a robust network of 

partners, and a specific 2024 target now set, Air New Zealand is well 

placed to make real inroads in this area. 

Developing a 
supply chain 
reflective  
of Aotearoa

Tama Toki 
Aotea Founder

"Our company, Aotea, is 

the supplier of a Harakeke 

Seed Oil Hand + Body 

Cream and Kawakawa 

Balm for the Premium 

amenity kits. Our range 

is inspired by our native 

flora and underscored by 

traditional use. At our farm 

on Aotea we extract and 

formulate our products. 

We are proud to power our 

facility with solar and to 

continue to design waste 

out of our operations. This 

opportunity to supply  

Air New Zealand has been 

significant for a variety of 

reasons; chiefly, sharing 

our products and story  

with the world, and 

partnering with such an 

esteemed business and 

respected brand that is  

Air New Zealand."

Over 2023, the airline established a 

baseline of Air New Zealand spend 

with Māori and Pasifika-owned8 and 

social enterprise9 businesses:

$2m
was spent with Māori suppliers

$12m
was spent with diverse suppliers

$6.7m
was spent with dual Māori and 

Pasifika-owned businesses

$0.2m
was spent with Pasifika-owned 

businesses

$3.1m
was spent with social enterprises

26
diverse suppliers in 2023

8 Māori-owned business are defined as enterprises that are at least 50% owned by Māori persons. Māori and Pasifika-owned business are defined as 
enterprises that are at least 50% owned by Māori and Pasifika persons. Pasifika-owned business are defined as enterprises that are at least 50% owned 
by Pasifika persons. 9 Social enterprises are defined as purpose-driven organisations that trade to deliver positive social, cultural and environmental 
impact. They are often profit-making businesses, but they reinvest profit in their purpose. 
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Delivering  
Aotearoa to  
the world and  
the world to us

Our Cargo operations also have an important role to play in our 

decarbonisation journey. By filling underutilised belly capacity on our 

aircraft, we can reduce the carbon intensity of our Cargo operations. 

To this end, we have a target in place to increase cargo load factors 

to 85 percent by 2025. In 2023, Cargo load factors were 67 percent, 

down from 82 percent in 2022. As we relaunched the passenger 

international network we flew circa 50 percent more international 

widebody flights in 2023 compared to 2022. Many of these were to 

high passenger demand/low cargo demand destinations that we did 

not operate during the pandemic.

The connections that Air New Zealand enable are not just 

limited to our passengers. Air New Zealand's extensive 

international and domestic Cargo network has continued to 

support the country’s export and import industries in 2023.

9,000
tonnes flown on the  

domestic network

and a further

37,000
tonnes of Aotearoa New 

Zealand exports

including close to

114,000
tonnes of cargo carried around 

the globe
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Driving towards  
a circular 
economy

Removal of 50% of single-use plastic items on our 
international flights by 2023 from a 2021 baseline.  
This amounts to the removal of over 28 million forecasted 
single-use plastic items.

65% of total solid waste diverted from landfill by 20231.

2023 PROGRESS:

A 52.6 percent reduction in single-use fossil-fuel-derived plastic items across all 

cabins (56.4 percent reduction across Economy cabin), with over 38 million single-

use plastic items removed in 2023.

2023 PROGRESS:

40.4% of total solid waste diverted from landfill in 2023.

47

Air New Zealand’s drive towards a 

circular economy has been a challenge 

in 2023, with both internal and external 

issues impacting our ability to increase 

diversion of waste from landfill. 
Despite these challenges, in 

2023 we did gain greater insights 

into our waste profile at Air New 

Zealand and made substantial 

in-roads into reducing single-use 

plastics on international flights.  

We have a number of initiatives 

we’re working on to further our 

circular ambitions in 2024.

In 2023, 40.4 percent of the 

airline's waste from domestic 

ground sites and airports serviced 

by our main waste provider was 

diverted from landfill – meaning 

our waste diversion target of 65 

percent by 2023 has not been met.   

As the airline geared back up, 

opportunities to drive substantial 

change in waste diversion have 

been restricted due to operational 

challenges Air New Zealand has 

faced. For example, with the 

necessary focus on essential 

training for new starters, there 

has been limited opportunities 

to further embed a waste 

minimisation culture at the 

airline. In addition, limited access 

to recycling and composting 

infrastructure in Aotearoa New 

Zealand and the commercial 

viability of circular innovations  

still being tested have continued  

to hamper our objectives under 

this priority.  

Acknowledging greater work 

needs to be undertaken to deliver 

on our ambitions under this 

priority, we are committed to 

re-evaluating our strategy and 

relaunching a new plan in 2024. 

1 This target covers Air New Zealand’s domestic ground sites and airports serviced by our main waste provider. It excludes hazardous waste.

Te whai  
i te ōhanga 
whai hua
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A clearer  
picture of our 
waste profile

Waste audits were conducted at 

key Auckland and Christchurch 

sites by our main waste provider 

in October and November 2022 

to gain a clearer picture of the 

airline's waste profile across our 

Engineering & Maintenance, 

Cargo, Domestic Inflight, and 

support office waste streams. 

The audits indicated that 50.6 

percent of the general waste to 

landfill audited could potentially 

be recovered by source separating 

and utilising currently available 

recovery services correctly.  

This reinforced the necessity  

of developing a circular culture  

within the airline to accelerate 

efforts for waste diversion.  

The audit results also identified 

opportunities to further expand 

access to recycling infrastructure 

and innovations on the horizon  

that could further assist with 

delivering on this key priority of  

our Sustainability Framework. 

The findings of the waste audits 

will be a key component of our 

work to scope new waste targets 

and develop our new waste 

strategy in 2024. Our ambition is to 

deliver these new targets in 2024. 

In addition, the waste audits 

played a key role in the scoping 

phase of a targeted project 

focused on further embedding 

a waste minimisation culture in 

our Engineering & Maintenance 

and Cargo operations. With these 

insights and allocated resource, 

the project can proceed to the 

implementation phase in 2024 

to drive waste diversion at these 

high-waste output sites. The 

project will act as a valuable 

test case to identify successful 

behaviour change initiatives that 

can then be rolled out more widely 

across the airline. 

In 2023, Air New Zealand recycled 603.4 tonnes of waste  

and sent 889 tonnes of waste to landfill from the airline’s 

domestic ground sites and airports serviced by our main 

waste provider.2

50.6%
of the general waste to  

landfill audited could 

potentially be recovered

2 These totals exclude hazardous waste.
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56% 20%

The airline will continue to scope opportunities to transition single-use 

plastic components of our serviceware to more sustainable materials as 

these alternatives are proven commercially viable and able to meet our 

challenging operational requirements.

What has the new 

serviceware achieved?

Economy cabin

A 52.6 percent reduction in single-

use fossil-fuel-derived plastic 

items across all cabins (56.4 

percent reduction across Economy 

cabin), with over 38 million single-

use plastic items removed in 2023 

(equating to 379 tonnes of fossil-

fuel-derived plastic).

Premium cabins

Lighter weight ceramics that 

are approximately 20 percent 

lighter than our previous offering 

and reduce fuel use and the 

corresponding carbon emissions 

on our international flights. 

More sustainable 
serviceware 
flying high

In October 2022, Air New Zealand launched a more 

sustainable serviceware offering on its international 

flights. New features include a range of bagasse3 items 

in our Economy cabin and lightweight ceramics in our 

Premium cabins.

3 A renewable plant-based agriculture by-product. C O N T E N T S
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Much like the approach taken when developing our new inflight 

serviceware, a circular mindset has been embedded right from the outset 

of the uniform project. Not only does the project provide an opportunity 

to divert waste from landfill, but it’s also a chance to consider more 

sustainable options across the next uniform’s entire life cycle, from the 

resources that go into the fabrics, to the manufacture of the uniforms, 

through to their use and end-of-life. Ensuring the new uniform is durable 

and functional are also key objectives of the project. A uniform that is well-

loved and cared for by our uniformed Air New Zealanders reduces the 

number of new uniforms needing to be manufactured. 

While there are a growing number of sustainability innovations in the 

textile space, many innovations are still in the development phase, with 

their commercial viability still to be tested. With this in mind, we recognise 

the uniform project will be a continuing journey that seeks to iterate 

and enhance the sustainability outcomes of the uniform over time as 

new innovations are proven viable. We are committed to finding more 

sustainable future fabric options for our uniform. 

As we look towards our new uniform, we’re also scoping opportunities to 

ensure as much of our current uniform can be donated or recycled when it 

comes to transitioning to the new uniform in 2025. Despite opportunities 

being trialled in the past to recycle our retired uniforms, these proved 

commercially unviable. This has resulted in our uniforms that are unable 

to be donated due to quality and security restrictions, having to be 

disposed of in landfill. This unfortunately is symptomatic of the limited 

access we have to commercially viable textile recycling infrastructure 

globally, and recycling infrastructure more generally. However, in the last 

year, textile recycling opportunities in Australasia have shown promising 

innovations. Scoping these innovations to test their commercial viability 

will be a key component of the uniform project and enable us to find the 

best solution before the transition in 2025. This work will also place our 

new uniforms in a better position to be donated and recycled in the future. 

Sewing a more 
sustainable 
future 

In May 2023,  

Air New Zealand 

announced it 

was updating its 

iconic uniform. 

Jared McGregor 
Divisional Manager – Major Accounts at Deane Apparel New Zealand

"As the supplier and manufacturer of Air New Zealand’s uniform, 

Deane Apparel is excited and proud to be involved in the new uniform 

project. During this project, Air New Zealand have continually 

challenged the status quo and have always looked for ways to 

improve, which is invigorating and has driven us to be innovative 

and think outside the box. One of the biggest challenges, due to 

the limited access to facilities in New Zealand and our country’s 

geographic location, has been scoping a viable end-of-life solution. 

We are making good progress in this space and look forward to 

working with Air New Zealand to find a great outcome."
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Tried and true

One such initiative is Project Green 

– a programme that reinjects 

sealed and untouched inflight 

items deemed a “non-biosecurity 

risk” back onto our flights and 

enables glass to be recycled, 

rather than end up in landfill.

This year, Project Green diverted 

approximately 70 tonnes from 

landfill, made up of 3.4 million units 

of products like cutlery packs and 

sugar sachets, and recycled 215 

tonnes of glass. More than 1,500 

tonnes of reinjected product and 

recycled glass have now been 

diverted from landfill since the 

Project’s inception.

Using our internal engagement 

platform, Workplace, to run 

campaigns, like Plastic Free July 

and Recycling Week, has also 

continued to raise awareness 

about ways Air New Zealanders 

can embed effective circular 

practices both in their work at the 

airline and in their personal lives.

These initiatives and stakeholder 

relationships will lay a solid 

foundation for us to develop our 

new waste strategy in the coming 

months and develop an integrated 

system to deliver on our ambitions 

in 2024 and beyond. 

While planning towards the future of our circular agenda, we’re 

also firm in our commitment to continue with initiatives that 

have delivered ongoing circular outcomes for the airline. 

70 tonnes
diverted from landfill by Project Green in 2023

approximately

1,500 tonnes
of reinjected product and recycled glass diverted since  

the Project's inception

more than

3.4 million
made up of

units of products like cutlery packs and sugar sachets
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04

Sustainable 
tourism

Increase annual growth in bookings for Qualmark-
awarded operators on Air New Zealand’s website by 100% 
by 2023 from a 2021 baseline.

60% of New Zealanders aware of Tiaki Promise by 
calendar year 20231.

2023 PROGRESS:

In 2023, there was an 85% annual increase in bookings for Qualmark awarded 

operators on Air New Zealand’s website from a 2021 baseline. While falling slightly 

short of our ambitious target, this demonstrates very strong performance given the 

ongoing challenges faced by tourism businesses.

2023 PROGRESS:

23% of New Zealanders aware of the Tiaki Promise as at June 2023.

1 As measured by Air New Zealand’s Market Monitor that surveys 400-500 Aotearoa New Zealand travellers each month.

Alongside the restarting of a 

number of international routes 

over the last year, a key focus has 

been supporting Aotearoa New 

Zealand tourism’s recovery.

Restarting tourism is important 

for the economic viability of our 

country’s tourism industry and the 

many communities throughout 

Aotearoa New Zealand that rely 

on it.

The tourism industry and visitors 

who underpin it are becoming 

increasingly aware of the 

contribution the industry plays 

to the accelerating climate and 

biodiversity crises. The aviation 

sector that Aotearoa New Zealand 

tourism heavily relies upon, is a 

substantial component of this 

contribution. 

Air New Zealand, alongside many 

tourism operators, is working 

towards a more sustainable future 

for Aotearoa New Zealand tourism.

For the airline, the single biggest 

contribution we can make to 

this future, is to decarbonise our 

operations. Air New Zealand’s 

ambition and work towards 

achieving its 2030 science-based 

target and 2050 net zero carbon 

emissions goals are key to this. 

The airline can also contribute to 

this mahi (work) by doing more to 

support Aotearoa New Zealand’s 

precious biodiversity and the 

communities in need.

Air New Zealand was delighted to 

welcome more international visitors  

back to Aotearoa New Zealand in 2023. 

Our customers were incredibly keen to 

connect with friends and whānau again, 

and we were very proud to play our part. 

He Tāpoi 
Mau Roa
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The Tiaki 
Promise

Air New Zealand remains committed to the Tiaki Promise, 

sharing New Zealander’s connection to the land with our 

visitors and helping them travel safely and conscientiously.  

Care for our environment, care for our 

people, care for our home.

Tiaki inspires respectful, responsible, and sustainable travel 

behaviour in international and domestic manuhiri (visitors), 

ensuring Aotearoa New Zealand is experienced in a way that 

protects it for future generations. 

Rebecca Ingram 
Chief Executive at Tourism Industry Aotearoa

"Tiaki Care for New Zealand is a kaupapa of 

significance. It is an excellent example of the 

tourism industry working in partnership to 

protect what we care about, and enable visitors 

to make safe, responsible choices. Created so all 

industry can use it, we see potential for Tiaki to 

have even greater impact."

S U S TA I N A B L E  TO U R I S M0 4

Toitu te taiao, toitu te tangata,  
toitu Aotearoa.

The ‘Tiaki and the Guardians’ safety video, inspired by the Tiaki Promise, 

has screened continuously since May 2022, providing an influential 

platform to spread the message of caring for our people, our place, and 

our culture now and for future generations. Since its release, the video has 

received more than 43 million impressions globally on digital platforms. 

In addition, Air New Zealand has supported the increased impact of the 

Tiaki Promise through regular information in Kia Ora magazine and in 

communications to our Airpoints™ members. 

To further embed the messaging of the Tiaki Promise and help ensure 

visitors stay safe while travelling Aotearoa New Zealand, the airline also 

screens the New Zealand Search and Rescue Council’s video that details 

top tips on how to keep safe when in the outdoors.

C O N T E N T S
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Supporting 
sustainable 
tourism

The move in 2022 to only feature tourism activities and attractions 

that have achieved a Gold, Silver or Bronze Qualmark award for their 

commitment to quality, safety, and sustainability on Air New Zealand’s 

dedicated site for selling Aotearoa New Zealand activities (airnz.co.nz/

activities), is a key component of this support. For Air New Zealand 

customers, choosing activities and attractions endorsed by Qualmark 

provides reassurance they will have a high-quality experience, delivered 

by a business that has been independently assessed for health and 

safety and is committed to sustainable business practices. In addition to 

the above, the Tiaki inflight video on Air New Zealand services and two 

digital campaigns by Air New Zealand promoting Qualmark endorsed 

activities contributed to an 85 percent annual increase in bookings for 

Qualmark operators listed on Air New Zealand’s website in 2023, from a 

2021 baseline.

Supporting sustainable tourism 

businesses that are equally committed to 

making Aotearoa New Zealand a world-

class sustainable visitor destination is a 

key focus for Air New Zealand.

85%
increase in bookings for 

Qualmark operators listed  

on Air New Zealand’s website 

in 2023, from a 2021 baseline.

Kaitiaki Adventures

(Qualmark Gold accredited)
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Welcoming 
tourists again

Air New Zealand encouraged Kiwis 

to get out and explore Aotearoa 

New Zealand through domestic 

marketing activity in 2023. This 

included promoting domestic 

destinations to Kiwis to support 

communities across the country 

with the recovery of tourism to 

their region. Domestic destinations 

featured widely in Air New Zealand 

marketing activity. Partnership 

campaigns with Regional Tourism 

Organisations showcased the 

diverse range of landscapes and 

experiences and encouraged 

visitation to regions. This included 

partnership activity promoting 

Wellington, Nelson, Marlborough, 

Southland, Christchurch and 

Dunedin.

In the year ended June 2023, 

1.1 million international visitors 

arrived in Aotearoa New Zealand 

for a holiday, 53% percent of the 

holiday visitor volumes in the year 

ended June 20192. This is a result 

of a huge collaborative effort and 

partnerships across government 

and industry to attract high-quality 

visitors to Aotearoa New Zealand. 

One such partnership is the 

co-operation between Air 

New Zealand and Tourism 

New Zealand. Air New Zealand 

entered into a new three-year 

memorandum of understanding 

with Tourism New Zealand in July 

2022. Cooperative marketing 

activity over the last year included 

joint marketing campaigns in key 

markets to highlight that Aotearoa 

New Zealand is open and to 

promote Aotearoa New Zealand 

as a beautiful place to visit, at any 

time of year.

To further raise awareness of  

Aotearoa New Zealand as a visitor 

destination and educate the travel 

trade on Aotearoa New Zealand, 

Air New Zealand was the Premier 

Sponsor of TRENZ (Aotearoa New 

Zealand’s largest international 

tourism business event) and 

hosted a number of media and 

trade familiarisation visits to 

Aotearoa New Zealand.

Domestic tourism has been critical to Aotearoa New Zealand throughout the 

pandemic and plays an important role in supporting local tourism operators and 

the communities they operate in. 

1.1m

53%

international visitors arrived 

in Aotearoa New Zealand for a 

holiday in year ended June 2023

of the holiday visitor volumes in the 

year ended June 2019.

This is

2 Source: Statistics NZ. C O N T E N T S
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Industry 
collaboration

Such change, however, will only come with a shared vision and strong 

collaboration. To this end, Air New Zealand has worked on a number 

of collaborations in 2023 in order to set up structures for change that 

will reshape Aotearoa New Zealand as a more sustainable and resilient 

tourism offering. This has included: 

• Air New Zealand was a member of the Leadership Group for the 

Tourism Industry Transformation Plan (ITP). The purpose of ITPs is 

to set transformative visions and action plans for key sectors in the 

Aotearoa New Zealand economy. Tourism was selected as an ITP 

because of its significance to the Aotearoa New Zealand economy. 

There have been two phases of the tourism ITP, one focusing on 

enabling better work, the other on environment. Air New Zealand 

have participated in both streams. The Better Work Action Plan was 

published in March 2023. The draft Environment Action Plan was 

released for consultation in June 2023 and will be finalised by the end 

of the calendar year.

• The release of Aotearoa Circle’s Tourism Sector Climate Change 

Scenarios and Adaptation Roadmap that considers the climate related 

physical and transition risks the tourism industry faces in the coming 

decades. The Roadmap outlines a number of objectives to deliver on 

Aotearoa Circle’s mission to ensure the tourism sector is resilient in 

light of the impacts of climate change. Laurissa Cooney was one of 

the co-chairs for the project and Air New Zealand contributed to the 

Roadmap development.

• The Tourism Industry Aotearoa is leading an initiative to design a new 

tourism industry strategy, that benefits Aotearoa New Zealand, our 

people, our businesses, our visitors and our environment. Air New 

Zealand is a member of the leadership group.

The significant size and impact of the 

tourism industry in Aotearoa New 

Zealand means it can be a major force for 

positive environmental and social change. 

Michael Lakeman, Principal, Rock Stack Innovation; Trent Yeo, Executive Director of Ziptrek Ecotours; Laurissa Cooney, Air New Zealand Independent Non-Executive Director; 
Kiri Hannifin, Air New Zealand Chief Sustainability Officer.
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In 2023, the airline continued to support the partnership through our annual 

travel fund. Activity enabled by the partnership has been high, as the impact 

and disruption of Covid-19 in the travel industry continues to ease. The travel 

fund is a significant enabler that has contributed to the rebound of student 

interest in the sector, driving recruitment by allowing Careers Advisors from 

around Aotearoa New Zealand to travel to QRC’s campuses, and increasing 

QRC’s ability to visit schools and career expos to lift its profile. Subsidised 

travel has also been available for prospective students to Tai Tokerau, 

in turn increasing student interest and enrolments as a direct result of 

removing the cost of travel as a barrier to access a tertiary education.

In 2024, Air New Zealand’s partnership with QRC will continue, with an aim 

to not only grow tourism as an exciting and prosperous career, but also 

ensure sustainable tourism growth in regions of strategic importance.

Air New Zealand partnered with the National Geographic Society to hold a 

series of five Photo Camps throughout Aotearoa New Zealand. The Photo 

Camps were held in Murupara in 2019 and Russell, Auckland, Wellington, 

and Christchurch in 2023. The Photo Camps connected youth, aged 15 to 

21, with National Geographic Explorers who provided the students with 

a detailed introduction to storytelling through photography. The theme 

of the Photo Camp series was "Tōku Mauri," which means "through the 

eyes." To showcase the photographs captured by rangatahi who took part 

in the Photo Camps, the country’s largest Metaverse photo gallery was 

developed in 2023. Supporting the Photo Camps is a further step  

in our commitment to youth, their future and the protection of our land 

and culture.

Our ongoing partnership with 

Queenstown Resort College (QRC) has 

continued to grow the youth of today into 

strong future tourism leaders that will be 

at the forefront of creating a sustainable 

domestic tourism industry. 

Jasiah Jennings

Auckland Camp

Teresa Toa

Auckland Camp

Tirzah Thuraisingham

Wellington Camp

Latamai Katoa

Russell Camp

Nurturing  
the future of 
Māori and 
regional tourism
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Supporting 
biodiversity 

As part of Air New Zealand’s longstanding partnership with the 

Department of Conservation, in 2023 the airline flew 198 threatened 

species and Conservation Dogs, with more than 4,300 flown since the 

Partnership’s inception in 2012. In addition, Air New Zealand enables 

biodiversity projects on Aotearoa New Zealand’s Great Walks that  

includes over 43,000 hectares of predator control and critical threatened 

species monitoring. 

Air New Zealand’s extensive domestic 

network not only ensures our people 

stay connected, but also enables the 

airline to provide a helping hand to our 

precious taonga species. 

198
threatened species 

and Conservation Dogs 

translocated in 2023

43,000
hectares of predator control 

and critical threatened species 

monitoring enabled

More than
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Supporting 
biodiversity 

Internal carbon tax on  

New York flights

In 2023, Air New Zealand piloted 

an internal carbon tax on its 

flagship ultra long-haul route, 

Auckland to New York return – NZ1 

and NZ2.

An internal carbon tax applies an 

internal carbon price to an activity, 

and creates a dedicated revenue or 

investment stream which Air New 

Zealand ringfenced for investment 

in sustainability initiatives. The $1.1 

million collected from the pilot in 

2023 has been allocated to our 

partner Trees That Count, to invest 

in supporting the restoration and 

regeneration of Aotearoa New 

Zealand's native biodiversity. 

Specifically, funds are going to a 

reforestation project which will 

generate significant biodiversity, 

tourism, and community benefits. 

In partnership with Trees That 

Count, the project will be managed 

by a number of key stakeholders.

This is a significant opportunity 

for Air New Zealand to help 

this community-based project 

to become well established, 

supporting biodiversity 

improvements and tourism 

opportunities. $1.1m
allocated to partner  

Trees That Count in 2023

Robyn Haugh 
Chief Executive at Trees That Count

"With an urgent need to scale and connect investment to nature 

for Aotearoa, this support from Air New Zealand will enable us to 

catalyse a highly ambitious programme of work from early concept 

into operational delivery. As well as supporting direct native tree 

planting we’re also excited to get to work on testing methods 

and innovations to scale biodiversity outcomes in challenging 

locations. The hope is that this project will also create a framework 

for other regions and countries to aspire to, to mitigate the impacts 

of climate change with the help of the local community, businesses 

and the tourism sector."
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Fundamental 
Metrics Table

1 A people leadership position includes any position in the airline which has employees reporting into it. Data is based on ethnicity data collected via our people management system Workday. This is an optional data field 
and coverage is currently 66.0%. We continue to encourage employees to complete this data to inform our strategies and programmes. 2 A new quarterly Employee Survey was introduced in 2021. As at 1 September 2021, 
the Glint Global Top 20% engagement threshold was an Engagement Index score of 79. 3 In 2022, Glint amended its top engagement threshold from 20% to 25%. As at 30 June 2022, the Glint Global Top 25% engagement 
threshold was an Engagement Index score of 79. 4 As at 30 June 2023, the Glint Global Top 25% engagement threshold was an Engagement Index score of 79. 5 Across all employees, 60.5% identify as a man, 39.2% 
identify as a woman, and 0.1% identify as gender diverse, with 0.2% unspecified. 6 Across all employees, 58.6% identify as a man, 40.3% identify as a woman, and 0.1% identify as gender diverse, with 1.0% prefer not to say/
unspecified. 7 Across all employees, 54.1% identify as a man, 44.9% identify as a woman, and 0.1% identify as gender diverse, with 0.9% prefer not to say/unspecified. 8 Risk Control Effectiveness (RCE) review and verification 
is part of the company risk management process and is a framework implemented to give depth to the risk declarations. The RCE scale ratings are totally ineffective, largely ineffective, partially effective, substantially effective, 
and fully effective. 9 The remaining 16.0% of People Safety Risks are rated partially effective (the minimum for compliance). 10 The remaining 16.0% of People Safety Risks are rated partially effective (the minimum for 
compliance). 11 The remaining 18.0% of People Safety Risks are rated partially effective (the minimum for compliance). It is expected that Risk Control Effectiveness at the risk level will continue to fluctuate as ongoing risk 
reviews continue to improve underlying understanding and assurance of risk controls in terms of hierarchy, impact on likelihood and/or consequences, and individual and collective effectiveness. 12 We have employees who 
are not a member of a union but their work is covered by a collective bargaining agreement. These employees are employed on individual employment agreements that are based on the terms and conditions of a collective 
bargaining agreement that covers their work. We also have employees whose work is not covered by a collective bargaining agreement. These employees are employed on individual employment agreements that are not 
influenced or determined by collective bargaining agreements. 13 Defined according to the International Civil Aviation Organization (Annex 13). 14 Defined as the number of enforcement actions from the Civil Aviation 
Authority New Zealand (CAANZ), the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), or the equivalent national authorities that are related to aviation safety regulations. 15 Total recordable rate of injuries is the total sum of lost 
time injury and medical treatment injury with the rate calculated as the average over the past 12 months. This calculation is based on the formula: (Sum of total recordable rate of injury reportable event for the past 12 months) x 
1,000,000) / (Sum of Total Work Hours for the past 12 months). 16 This calculation is based on the formula: (Sum of lost time injury reportable events for the past 12 months) x 1,000,000 / (Sum of Total Work Hours for the past 
12 months). 

Pillar Metric 2021 2022 2023

Caring for 
New Zealanders 

Te manaaki i ngā 
tāngata o Aotearoa

Representation of Māori and Pasifika in 
people leadership positions1 throughout 
the organisation

16.0% 14.8% (our Mangōpare leadership development 
programme is creating a talent pipeline to support our 
target of 20.0% Māori and Pasifika representation in 
leadership roles by 2025)

16.0% (refer to page 41)

Employee engagement Engagement index score of 71 (September 2021)2 Engagement index score of 68 (May 2022)3 Engagement index score of 71 (June 2023)4  (refer to 
page 40)

Women in Airline Leadership Team (ALT) 51.0%5 45.5%6 40.7%7 (the 50.0% target will be maintained and there 
will be a continued focus on building a pipeline of 
women leaders at all levels of lead of leadership and 
supporting them to grow)

People Safety Risk Control Effectiveness 
(RCE) rating of substantially or fully 
effective8

84.0%9 84.0%10 82.0%11

Percentage of active workforce covered 
under collective bargaining agreements12

75.0% 74.0% 77.0%

Number of work stoppages 0 0 0

Total days idle 0 0 0

Description of implementation and 
outcomes of a Safety Management 
System

Air New Zealand’s Safety Management System (SMS) 
is fully implemented and accepted by the Civil Aviation 
Authority New Zealand (CAANZ). There are continuous 
SMS improvement activities, including SMS annual 
review and associated actions, designed to progress 
all SMS elements from operating to fully effective/best 
practice. Regular Management Review meetings and 
Board Safety meetings to provide assurance of SMS/
safety capability and performance

As per 2021. In addition, several CAAANZ audits 
of SMS conducted during the year, all with positive 
results

As per 2021. In addition, several CAA audits of SMS 
conducted during the year, all with positive results. 
IATA Operational Safety Audit (IOSA) identified some 
minor changes required for SMS to fully meet IOSA 
Standards.  These findings were addressed and IOSA 
accreditation was renewed in early 2023 ahead of 
certificate expiry.  Enhancements made to Integrated 
Safety Management System manual to incorporate 
best practice and align processes across organisation

Number of aviation accidents13 0 0 0

Number of governmental enforcement 
actions of aviation safety regulations14

0 0 0

Total recordable rate of injuries15 4.7 3.6 3.8

Lost Work Case Frequency Rate16 4.7 3.6 4.1
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Fundamental 
Metrics Table

17 The Environmental Protection Authority requested information from Air New Zealand and their subsidiary companies to assess compliance with the Ozone Layer Protection Act. 18 An inadvertent environmental breach 
has occurred in connection to soil disposal. Soil containing low levels of contaminants above background levels, but below the industry recognised health and environmental guidelines has been disposed of offsite from 
the Air New Zealand Auckland Airport site without the correct Council consent. Air New Zealand is working with relevant Councils on this. 19 The Environmental Protection Authority requested further information from Air 
New Zealand and their subsidiary companies to assess compliance with the Ozone Layer Protection Act. 20 Based on percentage of spend. This excludes the hedged portion of fuel, airport fees, aircraft, taxes, and labour. 
Where supply agreements are not in place, Air New Zealand’s purchase order terms and conditions are used to apply the Supplier Code of Conduct where the supplier spend is below $150,000. 21 A decrease of 1.5% from 
2020 result, mainly due to Covid-19’s impact on Air New Zealand’s spend profile with its strategic suppliers. 22 The Ivalua supplier portal streamlined the way we collect and monitor positive assurance from suppliers. This 
systemised an existing policy condition mandating that any new suppliers must provide positive assurance that they comply with Air New Zealand’s Supplier Code of Conduct prior to engagement. 23 Māori-owned business 
are defined as enterprises that are at least 50% owned by Māori persons. Māori and Pasifika-owned business are defined as enterprises that are at least 50% owned by Māori and Pasifika persons. Pasifika-owned business 
are defined as enterprises that are at least 50% owned by Pasifika persons. 24 Social enterprises are defined as purpose-driven organisations that trade to deliver positive social, cultural and environmental impact.  They are 
often profit-making businesses, but they reinvest profit in their purpose. 25 Local businesses are defined as those who have a registered New Zealand Head Office address.

Pillar Metric 2021 2022 2023

Caring for 
New Zealanders 

Te manaaki i ngā 
tāngata o Aotearoa

Fatalities 0 0 0

Environmental non-compliances Zero environmental non compliances as at end 2021 Zero environmental non-compliances as at end 202217 One18 environmental non-compliance as at end 202319

IEnvA stage 2 certification via IATA IEnvA stage 2 certification achieved. In 2021, the scope 
of the certification was extended to include all Aotearoa  
New Zealand airports along with Flight Operations and 
national Corporate, Maintenance Repair Organisations 
and Cargo operations

IEnvA stage 2 certification achieved IEnvA stage 2 certification achieved

Suppliers providing positive assurance of 
our Supplier Code of Conduct20

Suppliers representing 92.7%21 of our contestable 
spend provided positive assurance

Suppliers representing 92.4% of our contestable spend 
provided positive assurance (a minor decrease from 
2021, mainly due to Covid-19’s continuing impact on Air 
New Zealand’s spend profile with its strategic suppliers)22

Suppliers representing 74.3% of our contestable spend 
provided positive assurance (in 2023, Air New Zealand 
increased Supplier Code of Conduct coverage across 
a broader percentage of its supplier base including the 
into-wing logistics service provided by fuel companies. 
Total contestable spend has increased from $0.6b 
in 2022 to $2.47b in 2023. Whilst coverage on a 
percentage basis has declined, spend coverage has 
markedly increased)

Total spend with diverse suppliers N/A N/A $12.0m

Spend with Māori-owned businesses23 N/A N/A $2.0m was spent with Māori-owned businesses

Spend with dual Māori and Pasifika-
owned businesses23

N/A N/A $6.7m was spent with Māori and Pasifika-owned 
businesses

Spend with Pasifika-owned businesses23 N/A N/A $0.2m was spent with Pasifika-owned businesses

Spend with Social Enterprises24 N/A N/A $3.1m was spent with social enterprises (including $0.9m 
spent with Māori-owned social enterprises)

Proportion of spend with local 
businesses25

N/A N/A $3.1b (53.8% of total third party spend) was spent with 
local businesses

Annual volume of Aotearoa New Zealand 
exports on Air New Zealand

37,600 tonnes 43,720 tonnes 36,910 tonnes (refer to page 46)

Full compliance with ICAO noise standards 
for aircraft fleet

No notified noise breaches in 2021 
Achieved full compliance with ICAO noise standards

No notified noise breaches in 2022 
Achieved full compliance with ICAO noise standards

No notified noise breaches in 2023 
Achieved full compliance with ICAO noise standards

On-time performance (percentage 
measure arrivals within 15 minutes of 
scheduled arrival time)

N/A N/A 77.0%

Total amount of monetary losses as a result 
of legal proceedings associated with anti-
competitive behaviour regulations

0 0 0
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Fundamental 
Metrics Table

26 Air New Zealand began reporting its scope 3 emissions in 2022. Only category 3 emissions were subject to a limited assurance engagement in 2022. In 2023, relevant categories of scope 3 emissions were subject to 
limited assurance, with the exception of category 7 (business commuting). 27 Only category 3 emissions were subject to a limited assurance engagement in 2022. Other categories were not subject to review. 28 Relevant 
categories of scope 3 emissions (categories 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6) were subject to limited assurance by Deloitte Limited, with the exception of category 7 (business commuting). Air New Zealand will do further work in 2024 to 
understand employee commute emissions.  29 Air New Zealand began reporting well-to-wake emissions from jet fuel in its operations in 2022. 30 Increase in carbon intensity largely due to Aotearoa border restrictions 
leading to lower than usual load factors on the international network and multiple national lockdowns impacting load factors on the domestic network. 31 Decrease in carbon intensity largely due to easing Aotearoa border 
restrictions leading to higher load factors on the network. However, this metric still remains elevated when compared to pre-Covid-19 levels due to the national lockdowns and border restrictions in place at various times 
throughout the 2022 financial year. 32 This improvement was largely due to the absence of border restrictions in Aotearoa compared to the prior period leading to higher load factors on the network. 33 70,810 carbon 
credits have been pre-purchased by Air New Zealand on behalf of its customers. 29,574 of these credits have been retired by Climate Impact Partners on behalf of Air New Zealand. 41,236 of these credits need to be retired 
by Climate Impact Partners on behalf of Air New Zealand. 34 Number of bookings where a customer elects to contribute to the Voluntary Emissions Contribution Programme (Contribution Programme) as a percentage of 
all bookings through online storefronts where the Contribution Programme is available. 36 This represents funds collected from 1 July 2021 to 19 January 2022 under the Contribution Programme. 37 This represents funds 
collected from 20 January 2022 to 30 June 2022 under the Contribution Programme. 38 Much of Aotearoa New Zealand's electricity is generated from renewable energy sources (80-85%) (Te Tari Tiaki Pūngao Energy 
Efficiency & Conservation Authority, 2023) 39 Where feasible refers to availability of electric models for operational requirements.

Pillar Metric 2021 2022 2023

Climate action 

He mahinga  
taiao tūturu

Tonnes of CO
2
-e Emissions (Scope 1 and 2) 1,335,911 1,515,621 2,842,715

Tonnes of CO
2
-e Emissions26 (Scope 3) N/A 623,41127 930,62528

Well-to-wake grams of GHG emissions 
related to jet fuel per revenue tonne 
kilometre (RTK)29

N/A 1,165 918

Average annual reduction in carbon 
intensity (grams CO

2
-e per RTK)

31.6% increase compared to 202030 6.6% decrease compared to 202131 21% decrease compared to 202232

Carbon Reduction Programme 
implemented in-line with IATA audit 
recommendations

While carbon reduction initiatives implemented in 
prior periods remain ongoing, the impact of Covid-19 
restrictions and operational constraints limited our 
ability to implement new initiatives in 2021 and our 
ability to accurately report savings by initiative. This 
remains a focus going forward

While carbon reduction initiatives implemented in 
prior periods remain ongoing, the impact of Covid-19 
restrictions and operational constraints limited our 
ability to implement new initiatives in 2022 and our 
ability to accurately report savings by initiative. This 
remains a focus going forward

The Carbon Reduction Programme saved 4,200t of fuel 
or 13,200 tCO₂-e. This is comprised from operational 
reduction initiatives 1,900t fuel (6,000 tCO₂-e) and 
weight reduction initiatives 2,300t fuel (7,200 tCO₂-e)

Tonnes of carbon credits purchased 
on behalf of customers through the 
Voluntary Emissions Contribution 
Programme

40,749 59,257 70,810 (refer to page 32)33

Voluntary Emissions Contribution 
Programme uptake rate34

7.0% 6.9% 6.0%

Customer funds donated to activities 
that accelerate the restoration, 
regeneration, and production of 
permanent native forests

Over $350,00035 $415,500 provided to the Native Forest Restoration 
Trust36 and $633,000 provided to Trees That Count37 to 
support biodiversity outcomes in Aotearoa

$1,200,420 has been provided to Trees That Count 
enabling the planting of over 170,299 native trees to 
support biodiversity outcomes in Aotearoa New Zealand

Reduction in electricity use38 7.4% reduction compared to 2020 0.5% increase compared to 2021 (due to an easing of 
Covid-19 restrictions)

3.6% increase compared to 2022 (due to there being no 
substantial Covid-19 restrictions in 2023)

Electric vehicles in light ground fleet 
(where feasible)39

86.0% electric vehicles where feasible 
55.0% of full fleet are electric vehicles

86.0% electric vehicles where feasible 
55.0% of full fleet are electric vehicles (while new 
electric vehicles have been ordered, due to extended 
lead times, they did not enter our fleet until 2023)

87.0% electric vehicles where feasible 
56.0% of full fleet are electric vehicles 
(new vehicle deliveries in 2023 have generally been 
replacing existing EV with new EV or existing ICE with new 
ICE (generally unfeasible diesel vans). Remaining feasible 
candidate EVs will be converted to EV in 2024)

Electric ground service equipment (GSE) 
fleet (where feasible)39

73.0% 73.0% (no increase in 2022 due to lack of charging 
infrastructure)

72.0% (motorised/electric GSE fleet changes have 
consisted primarily of replacements of existing electric 
golf carts and additional electric baggage tugs and 
electric passenger stairs. Equipment which is considered 
as feasible for E-GSE has increased due to the availability 
on the market of electric mobile ground power units and 
hybrid-electric aircraft pallet loaders. Orders have been 
placed for both of these equipment categories in 2023 
for delivery in 2024. Total investment in Hybrid GSE is 
$10.4m. 10.0% of this investment occurred in 2023 (deposit 
payments for these orders) with the remaining 90.0% to be 
provided in 2024 once equipment is at Ex Works status)
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Fundamental 
Metrics Table 40 This covers Air New Zealand’s domestic ground sites and airports serviced by our main waste provider. It excludes hazardous waste.

Pillar Metric 2021 2022 2023

Driving towards a 
circular economy 

Te whai i te  
ōhanga whai hua

Domestic waste to landfill40 N/A N/A 889 tonnes

Diversion of waste from landfill at 
domestic ground sites and airports 
serviced by our main waste provider40

41.3% 34.2% 40.4% (refer to pages 47, 48)

Sustainable 
tourism 

He Tāpoi Mau Roa

Sustained pest control enabled on the 
Great Walks through partnership with 
the Department of Conservation

45,294 hectares 43,587 hectares (a decrease from 2021 as funding was 
redistributed on the Great Walks biodiversity projects 
to protect previous critical biodiversity gains as a result 
of Covid-19’s financial impact on the business)

43,587 hectares

Enabling regional connectivity 
through flight departures that connect 
Auckland/Wellington/Christchurch to 
regional centres

96,247 91,417 (flight departures impacted in 2022 due to 
lockdowns and border restrictions)

114,776
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Supplementary  
workforce profile data

Gender Group Employee Contingent Worker Total

# % # % # %

Male 6,430 54.1% 97 68.3% 6,527 54.3% 

Female 5,416 45.6% 30 21.1% 5,446 45.3% 

Gender diverse 12 0.1% 0 0.0% 12 0.1% 

Prefer not to say 10 0.1% 0 0.0% 10 0.1% 

Unknown 14 0.1% 15 10.6% 29 0.2%

Total 11,882 100.0% 142 100.0% 12,024 100.0%

The below data is represented as headcount and provides further detail about our workforce profile as at 30 June 2023. Note, headcount numbers exclude employees on Parental Leave / Extended Leave without Pay, 

Persons of Interest (POIs), and Airport Contractors. Percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding. FTE numbers in 2023 were 11,474 and 10,340 in 2022. 

Gender data not available for all employees 

Table 1. Employee / worker headcount by gender Table 3. Employee / worker headcount by country

Table 2. Employee / worker headcount by age group

Age Group Employee Contingent Worker Total

# % # % # %

20 and under 406 3.4% 1 0.7% 407 3.4%

21 – 30 2,463 20.7% 6 4.2% 2,469 20.5%

31 – 40 2,808 23.6% 43 30.3% 2,851 23.7%

41 – 50 2,602 21.9% 33 23.2% 2,635 21.9%

51 – 60 2,520 21.2% 19 13.4% 2,539 21.2%

61 – 64 684 5.8% 4 2.8% 688 5.7%

65 and over 386 3.2% 4 2.8% 390 3.2%

Unknown 13 0.1% 32 22.5% 45 0.4%

Total 11,882  100.0% 142 100.0% 12,024 100.0%

Age data not available for all employees 

Country Employee Contingent Worker Total

# % # % # %

Argentina 0 0.0% 1 0.7% 1 0.0%

Australia 94 0.8% 1 0.7% 95 0.8%

Canada 5 0.0% 0 0.0% 5 0.0%

China 93 0.8% 0 0.0% 93 0.8%

Cook Islands 70 0.6% 0 0.0% 70 0.6%

Fiji 19 0.2% 0 0.0% 19 0.2%

French Polynesia 9 0.1% 0 0.0% 9 0.1%

Hong Kong 17 0.1% 0 0.0% 17 0.1%

Japan 26 0.2% 0 0.0% 26 0.2%

Korea, Republic of 4 0.0% 0 0.0% 4 0.0%

New Zealand 11,436 96.3% 140 98.6% 11,576 96.3%

Samoa 7 0.1% 0 0.0% 7 0.1%

Singapore 13 0.1% 0 0.0% 13 0.1%

Taiwan 5 0.0% 0 0.0% 5 0.0%

Tonga 2 0.0% 0 0.0% 2 0.0%

United Kingdom 1 0.0% 0 0.0% 1 0.0%

United States of America 81 0.7% 0 0.0% 81 0.7%

Total 11,882 100.0% 142 100.0% 12,024 100.0%

A P P E N D I C E S

C O N T E N T S

A I R  N E W  Z E A L A N D  S U S T A I N A B I L I T Y  R E P O R T  2 0 2 3

64



Supplementary  
workforce profile data

Table 4. Employee / worker headcount by New Zealand location (city)

The above data is extracted from our HR reporting system, Workday, as at 30 June 2023. 

City Employee Contingent Worker Total

# % # % # %

Auckland 7,935 69.4% 137 97.9% 8,072 69.6%

Blenheim 15 0.1% 0 0.0% 15 0.1%

Christchurch 1,707 14.9% 1 0.7% 1,708 14.8%

Dunedin 35 0.3% 2 1.4% 37 0.3%

Gisborne 17 0.1% 0 0.0% 17 0.1%

Hamilton 23 0.2% 0 0.0% 23 0.2%

Invercargill 44 0.4% 0 0.0% 44 0.4%

Napier 123 1.1% 0 0.0% 123 1.1%

Nelson 314 2.7% 0 0.0% 314 2.7%

New Plymouth 66 0.6% 0 0.0% 66 0.6%

Palmerston North 44 0.4% 0 0.0% 44 0.4%

Queenstown 145 1.3% 0 0.0% 145 1.3%

Rotorua 11 0.1% 0 0.0% 11 0.1%

Tauranga 149 1.3% 0 0.0% 149 1.3%

Wellington 801 7.0% 0 0.0% 801 6.9%

Whangarei 7 0.1% 0 0.0% 7 0.1%

Total 11,436 100.0% 140 100.0% 11,576 100.0%

77%

88%

2.09%

Percentage of employees / workers whose work is covered by 

collective agreements 

Percentage of employees in the group above who are union members

Gender Pay Gap

A P P E N D I C E S
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Gender Pay 
Report

Please note: Gender equity pay differences are calculated on averaged, annualised, full-time equivalent salaries. This means that all employees – part-time and full-time are included in the calculation and the salaries of those 
who are not full-time employees are converted to a full-time equivalent. 
The analysis is broken down by Air New Zealand’s career levels, enabling us to compare roles of similar complexity and provide insight into our population, highlighting opportunities for improvement. 
The gender equity pay differential is expressed as a percentage of men’s earnings. A negative value means that women’s earnings are higher than men’s. 
Collective Covered Employees - Pay rates within Air New Zealand’s collective agreements are skills, competency or service based, ensuring all employees with the same levels of service or skill in the same role, will be paid the 
same. These employees are not included in the scope of the Gender Pay Report. 

Air New Zealand operates in a diverse environment, both in Aotearoa 

New Zealand and internationally, and is committed to a culture that values 

diversity and inclusion throughout the Group. It recognises the importance 

of fostering a diverse workforce which leads to better innovation, stronger 

customer connections and better business outcomes. 

As an Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) employer, the Air New 

Zealand Group is committed to promoting equal opportunities for 

its employees. This commitment is upheld through our performance 

management, recruitment, talent management and remuneration policies 

and practices. 

The following table shows the gender composition and the associated 

gender equity pay differentials for all Aotearoa New Zealand and 

International employees covered by Individual Employment Agreements. 

Overall, our males are paid 2.09% more than females. Air New Zealand is 

committed to continually reviewing and addressing this gap through its 

recruitment, talent management and remuneration practices. 

As well as monitoring pay outcomes, Air New Zealand is also focused 

on ensuring equitable representation in work levels and performance 

outcomes, as well as critically examining policies and programmes to 

ensure they promote equitable outcomes. 

Air New Zealand Career Level
Number of 

Females
Number of 

Males
Average Pay 
Differential

Executives and General Managers 

Designs and drives business strategy for a major business division 
or Group-wide function 

28 42 1.18%

Senior Managers

Develops and implements the strategy and business plan for a 
division 

120 168 0.08%

Operational Managers 

Inputs into the functional strategic plan, but focus is on operational 
management 

306 343 4.19%

Specialists and Team Leaders 

Formally leads a team or an established specialist in a technical or 
professional discipline 

638 499 2.90%

Support/Administration 

Work is routine, in nature, with set patterns 

156 52 -1.37%

Total 1,248 1,104 2.09%
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Indicator Description Location of Disclosure

GRI 2 General Disclosures 2021

GRI 2-1 Organisational details 2023 Annual Report

GRI 2-2 Entities included in sustainability reporting 2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report

GRI 2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point 2023 Sustainability Report, p 5

GRI 2-4 Restatements of information 2023 Sustainability Report, identified throughout 

GRI 2-5 External assurance 2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory (partial disclosure)

GRI 2-6 Activities, value chain and other business 
relationships

2023 Sustainability Report, p 7, 8, 45, 46

GRI 2-7 Employees 2023 Sustainability Report - Workforce Profile

GRI 2-8 Workers who are not employees 2023 Sustainability Report - Workforce Profile

GRI 2-9 Governance structure and composition 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement  
2023 Sustainability Report, p 13, 14

GRI 2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance 
body

2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

GRI 2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

GRI 2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing 
the management of impacts 

2023 Sustainability Report, p 4, 13, 14, 15

GRI 2-13 Delegation of responsibility for impacts 2023 Sustainability Report, p 4, 13, 14, 15

GRI 2-14 Role of highest governance body in sustainability 
reporting

2023 Sustainability Report, p 4

GRI 2-15 Conflicts of interest 2023 Annual Report - Interests Register

GRI 2-16 Communication of critical concerns 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement 
2023 Sustainability Report, p 3, 9, 11

GRI 2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body 2023 Sustainability Report, p 13

GRI 2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest 
governance body 

2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

GRI 2-19 Remuneration policies 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

Indicator Description Location of Disclosure

GRI 2 General Disclosures 2021

GRI 2-20 Process to determine remuneration 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

GRI 2-21 Annual total compensation ratio 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement

GRI 2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 2023 Sustainability Report, p 3

GRI 2-23 Policy commitments Corporate and social policies

GRI 2-24 Embedding policy commitments Code of Conduct

GRI 2-25 Processes to remediate negative impacts Code of Conduct

GRI 2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns Code of Conduct

GRI 2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 2023 Sustainability Report, p 61

GRI 2-28 Membership associations Sustainability Stakeholders

GRI 2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement Sustainability Stakeholders

GRI 2-30 Collective bargaining agreements 2023 Sustainability Report - Workforce Profile, p 65

GRI Material Topics 2021

GRI 3-1 Process to determine material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 15

GRI 3-2 List of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9

GRI 201 Economic Performance 2016

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 8, 9, 11, 45, 46, 52-55, 59

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed 2023 Annual Report

GRI 201-2 Financial implications and other risks and 
opportunities due to climate change

2023 Sustainability Report, Climate action section

GRI 204 Procurement Practices 2016

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 11, 45

GRI 204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers 2023 Sustainability Report, p 61

GRI 302 Energy 2016

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 11, 13, 14, 15

GRI 302-1 Energy consumption within the organisation 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34 (partial disclosure)  
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report (partial disclosure)

GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34, 62

Indices of ESG 
Disclosures

A P P E N D I C E S

GRI Content Index

In developing the 2023 Sustainability Report, we have considered the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) 

Standards 2021. The table below provides an overview of the relevant GRI Standards for our material topics 

and where to find relevant information.
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Indicator Description Location of Disclosure

GRI 305 Emissions 2016 

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 11, 13, 14, 15

GRI 305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34 
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report

GRI 305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34 
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report

GRI 305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34 
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity 2023 Sustainability Report, p 36

GRI 403 Occupational Health and Safety 2018 

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 11, 38, 42, 60

GRI 403-1 Occupational health and safety management system 2023 Sustainability Report, p 60

GRI 403-9 Work-related injuries 2023 Sustainability Report, p 60, 61

GRI 405 Diversity and Equal Opportunity 2016  

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 38, 39, 41

GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 2023 Annual Report - Corporate Governance Statement 
2023 Sustainability Report - Workforce Profile

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women 
to men

2023 Sustainability Report - Gender Pay Report

GRI 306 Waste 2020  

GRI 3-3 Management of material topics 2023 Sustainability Report, p 9, 11, and Driving towards a circular 
economy section

GRI 306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts 2023 Sustainability Report - Driving towards a circular economy 
section

GRI 306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts 2023 Sustainability Report - Driving towards a circular economy 
section

GRI 306-3 Waste generated 2023 Sustainability Report, p 47, 48, 63

GRI 306-4 Waste diverted from disposal 2023 Sustainability Report, p 47, 48, 63 (partial disclosure)

GRI 306-5 Waste directed to disposal 2023 Sustainability Report, p 47, 48, 63 (partial disclosure)

SASB Code SASB Metric Location of Disclosure

Activity Metrics

TR-AL-000.A Available seat kilometers (ASK) 2023 Annual Report - Key operating statistics

TR-AL-000.B Passenger load factor 2023 Annual Report - Key operating statistics

TR-AL-000.C Revenue Passenger Kilometres (RPK) 2023 Annual Report - Key operating statistics

TR-AL-000.D Revenue Tonne Kilometres (RTK) 2023 Sustainability Report, p 36 (disclosure of Grams of CO
2
-e 

per Revenue Tonne Kilometre)

TR-AL-000.E Number of departures 2023 Sustainability Report, p 7

TR-AL-000.F Average age of fleet 2023 Sustainability Report, p 30

Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

TR-AL-110a.1 Gross global Scope 1 emissions 2023 Sustainability Report, p 34 
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report

TR-AL-110a.2 Discussion of long-term and short-term strategy 
or plan to manage Scope 1 emissions, emissions 
reduction targets, and an analysis of performance 
against those targets

2023 Sustainability Report, p 25, 34, 35, 36

TR-AL-110a.3 (1) Total fuel consumed, (2) percentage alternative, (3) 
percentage sustainable

2023 Sustainability Report, p 26, 34 
2023 Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report (partial disclosure)

Labour Practices

TR-AL-310a.1 Percentage of active workforce covered under 
collective bargaining agreements

2023 Sustainability Report - Workforce Profile, p 65

TR-AL-310a.2 (1) Number of work stoppages and (2) total days idle 2023 Sustainability Report, p 60

Competitive Behaviour

TR-AL-520a.1 Total amount of monetary losses as a result 
of legal proceedings associated with anti-
competitive behaviour regulations

2023 Sustainability Report, p 61

Accident and Safety Management   

TR-AL-540a.1 Description of implementation and outcomes 
of a Safety Management System

2023 Sustainability Report, p 60

TR-AL-540a.2 Number of aviation accidents 2023 Sustainability Report, p 60

TR-AL-540a.3 Number of governmental enforcement actions of 
aviation safety regulations

2023 Sustainability Report, p 60

Indices of ESG 
Disclosures

A P P E N D I C E S

SASB Content Index

In developing the 2023 Sustainability Report, we have considered the SASB (Sustainability Accounting 

Standards Board) Industry Standards. The table below provides an overview of the relevant SASB Standards 

for our material topics and where to find relevant information. 

GRI Content Index (continued)
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Amount (000s)

6,449,000

6,449,000

412,000

412,000

0.0600

0.0233

08-Sep-23

21-Sep-23

NZ$ Amount Current Period

$0.55

Contact person for this announcement

Audited financial statements accompany this announcement.

New Zealand Dollars

Leila Peters, General Manager Corporate Finance

Prior Comparative Period

$0.39

Contact phone number +64 9 336 2607

Contact email address investor@airnz.co.nz

Date of release through MAP 24 August 2023

Net tangible assets per Quoted Equity 
Security

A brief explanation of any of the figures 
above necessary to enable the figures to be 
understood

Refer to media release.

The special dividend was declared on 24 August 2023

Authority for this announcement

Name of person authorised to make this 
announcement

Jennifer Page, General Counsel and Company 
Secretary

Imputed amount per Quoted Equity Security

Record Date

Dividend Payment Date

Total net profit 169.7%

Final Dividend (NZ$)

Amount per Quoted Equity Security

Net profit from continuing operations 169.7%

Results announcement
(for Equity Security issuer/Equity and Debt Security issuer)

Results for announcement to the market

Name of issuer Air New Zealand

Reporting Period 12 months to 30 June 2023

Previous Reporting Period 12 months to 30 June 2022

Percentage change

Revenue from continuing operations 134.7%

Total Revenue 134.7%

Currency



FULL YEAR RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
AIR NEW ZEALAND LIMITED
Full Year Ended 30 June 2023 (referred to in this report as the "current full year")

1 Information prescribed by NZX

(a) A Statement of Financial Performance
Refer to the Financial Statements.

(b) A Statement of Financial Position
Refer to the Financial Statements.

(c) A Statement of Cash Flows
Refer to the Financial Statements.

(e) A Statement of Movements in Equity
Refer to the Financial Statements.

Ordinary Shares 55 39

(g)  Commentary on the results

Measurement Current Year Previous Year

(i) Basic earnings per share NZ cents per share 12.2                     (40.8)
Diluted earnings per share NZ cents per share 12.2                     (40.8)

(ii) Returns to shareholders (see also section (d) above)
Dividend on Redeemable Shares $NZ'm 6                          4                          

(iii) Significant features of operating performance:

(iv) Segmental results:

Industry segment

(d) Details of individual and total dividends or distributions and dividend or distribution payments, which:
(i) have been declared, and
(ii) relate to the period (in the case of ordinary dividends or ordinary dividends and special dividends declared at the same time) or 
were declared within the period (in the case of special dividends).

Refer to the media release.

Air New Zealand operates predominantly in one segment, its primary business being the transportation of passengers and cargo on an 
integrated network of scheduled airline services to, from and within New Zealand. Resource allocation decisions across the network are 
made to optimise the consolidated Group's financial result. 

Refer to Results for announcement to the market.

(f) Net tangible assets per Quoted Equity Security with the comparative figure for the previous corresponding period

(NZ Cents Per Share) Previous YearCurrent Year

2 The following information, which may be presented in whatever way the Issuer considers is the most clear and helpful to users, e.g., 
combined with the body of the announcement, combined with notes to the financial statements, or set out separately.

On 24 August 2023, the Board of Directors declared a special dividend for the 2023 financial year of 6.0 cents per Ordinary Share, payable on 
21 September 2023 to registered shareholders at 8 September 2023. The total dividend payable will be $202 million. Imputation credits will be 
attached and supplementary dividends paid to non-resident shareholders. The dividend has not been recognised in the June 2023 financial 
statements. 

Redeemable share dividends of $6 million were declared during the year (30 June 2022: $4 million).
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FULL YEAR RESULTS ANNOUNCEMENT
AIR NEW ZEALAND LIMITED
Full Year Ended 30 June 2023 (referred to in this report as the "current full year")

(iv) Segmental results (continued)

Geographical segment

Current Year Previous Year
$NZ'm $NZ'm

New Zealand 3,873                                  2,031                       
Australia and Pacific Islands 838                                     221                          
Asia, United Kingdom and Europe 710                                     247                          
America 909                                     235                          
Total operating revenue 6,330                                  2,734                       

(v) Discussion of trends in performance:

(vi) The Issuer's dividend policy

(vii)

(h) Audit of financial statements

Basis of preparation

Accounting policies
Refer to the Statement of Accounting Policies and Notes in the financial statements.

Changes in accounting policies

Audit Report
A copy of the audit report is attached at the back of the financial statements.

Additional information
Not applicable.

This full year report was approved by the Board of Directors on 24 August 2023.

Dame Therese Walsh
Chair

An analysis of revenue by geographic region of original sale is provided below.  

This report is compiled in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (“NZ GAAP”). NZ GAAP consists of New 
Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”) and other applicable financial reporting standards as 
appropriate to profit-oriented entities.  

This report is based on accounts which have been audited. The audit opinion has been attached to the back of the financial statements and 
contains no qualifications.

Refer to note 1 of the financial statements.

Refer to the media release.

Analysis of revenue by geographical region 
of original sale

The principal non-current assets of the Group are the aircraft fleet which is registered in New Zealand and employed across the 
worldwide network. Accordingly, there is no reasonable basis for allocating the assets to geographical segments.

Refer to the media release.

Any other factors which have or are likely to affect the results, including those where the effect could not be 
quantified:

Refer to Air New Zealand website - https://www.airnewzealand.co.nz/dividend-history
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Distribution Notice

Section 1: Issuer information 

Name of issuer Air New Zealand Limited 

Financial product name/description Ordinary Shares 

NZX ticker code AIR.NZ 

ISIN (If unknown, check on NZX 
website) 

NZAIRE0001S2 

Type of distribution 
(Please mark with an X in the 
relevant box/es) 

Full Year Quarterly 

Half Year Special X 

DRP applies 

Record date  08/09/2023 

Ex-Date (one business day before the 
Record Date) 

07/09/2023 

Payment date (and allotment date for 
DRP) 

21/09/2023 

Total monies associated with the 
distribution 

$202,105,808   

Source of distribution (for example, 
retained earnings) 

Operating Free Cash Flow 

Currency  New Zealand 

Section 2: Distribution amounts per financial product 
Gross distribution $0.08333333 

Gross taxable amount  $0.08333333 

Total cash distribution $0.06000000 

Excluded amount (applicable to listed 
PIEs) 

N/A 

Supplementary distribution amount $0.01058824 

Section 3: Imputation credits and Resident Withholding Tax 
Is the distribution imputed Fully imputed  

Partial imputation 

No imputation  

If fully or partially imputed, please 
state imputation rate as % applied 

28% 

Imputation tax credits per financial 
product  

$0.02333333 

Resident Withholding Tax per 
financial product 

$0.00416667 



Section 4: Distribution re-investment plan (if applicable) 

DRP % discount (if any) N/A 

Start date and end date for 
determining market price for DRP 

N/A N/A 

Date strike price to be announced (if 
not available at this time) 

N/A 

Specify source of financial products to 
be issued under DRP programme 
(new issue or to be bought on market) 

N/A 

DRP strike price per financial product N/A 

Last date to submit a participation 
notice for this distribution in 
accordance with DRP participation 
terms 

N/A 

Section 5: Authority for this announcement 
Name of person authorised to make 
this announcement 

Jennifer Page, General Counsel and Company 
Secretary 

Contact person for this 
announcement Jennifer Page 

Contact phone number +64 279090691 

Contact email address Jennifer.Page@airnz.co.nz 

Date of release through MAP 24/08/2023 
 
 
 
 
 


	Air NZ 2023 Annual Results.pdf
	Air NZ 2023 Annual Results Media release
	Air NZ 2023 Annual Results presentation
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36
	Slide Number 37
	Slide Number 38

	Air NZ 2023 Sustainability Report

	Air NZ 2023 Annual Results NZX Appendix



